

# STUDY OF IN-PLANE SILICON NANOWIRES OBTAINED VIA A SOLID-LIQUID-SOLID GROWTH PROCESS AND THEIR SELF- ORGANIZATION FOR ELECTRONIC APPLICATIONS

Zheng Fan

### ► To cite this version:

Zheng Fan. STUDY OF IN-PLANE SILICON NANOWIRES OBTAINED VIA A SOLID-LIQUID-SOLID GROWTH PROCESS AND THEIR SELF- ORGANIZATION FOR ELECTRONIC APPLI-CATIONS. Materials Science [cond-mat.mtrl-sci]. Ecole Polytechnique, 2015. English. NNT: . tel-01310585

## HAL Id: tel-01310585 https://pastel.hal.science/tel-01310585

Submitted on 2 May 2016  $\,$ 

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



## DOCTORAL THESIS IN PHYSCIS (MATERIAL SCIENCE)

# STUDY OF IN-PLANE SILICON NANOWIRES OBTAINED VIA A SOLID-LIQUID-SOLID GROWTH PROCESS AND THEIR SELF-ORGANIZATION FOR ELECTRONIC APPLICATIONS



FAN ZHENG



Thèse présentée en vue d'obtenir le grade de Docteur de l'École Polytechnique Spécialité Physique / Science des Matériaux

par

FAN ZHENG

# STUDY OF IN-PLANE SILICON NANOWIRES OBTAINED VIA A SOLID-LIQUID-SOLID GROWTH PROCESS AND THEIR SELF-ORGANIZATION FOR ELECTRONIC APPLICATIONS

Soutenue le 21 décembre 2015 à l'Amphi Becquerel devant le jury composé de :

PROF. PERE ROURA GRABULOSA	UDG	Rapporteur
Dr. Frank GLAS	LPN	Rapporteur
Dr. Franck FORTUNA	CSNSM	Examinateur
Dr. Sophie BOUCHOULE	LPN	Examinateur
PROF. PERE ROCA i CABARROCAS	LPICM	Directeur

補天裂 看試手 如鐵

à mes chers parents et Nan

献给我的父亲母亲与楠

#### Acknowledgements

This Ph.D. work is in collaboration with Laboratoire de Photonique et de Nanostructures (LPN), and is partially supported by the scholarship from Chinese Scholarship Council (CSC), FX-conseil and the facilities from Réseau National des Grandes Centrales de Technologies (RENATECH). I appreciate the fruitful discussion and comments from my jury members: Dr. Pere Roura Grabulosa, Dr. Frank Glas, Dr. Franck Fortuna and Dr. Sophie Bouchoule.

All started from the summer 2012, when my Ph.D. subject of CSC-Groupe d'Ecole Centrale was administratively cancelled and I was busy looking for an alternative one in a French lab. It seemed to be quite late and most of the posted theses were not available anymore at that time. After throwing a large amount of application e-mails into the internet, I received a less negative response from Prof. Pere Roca i Cabarrocas in Laboratoire de Physique des Interfaces et des Couches Minces (LPICM, Ecole Polytechnique). No surprising on the regretting phrases, however, in the attachment there was another Ph.D. proposal on in-plane solid-liquid-solid silicon nanowire<sup>TM</sup>, and one *Phys. Rev. Lett.* I had never heard of nanowires, neither the *Phys. Rev. Lett.* However, a huge amount of technologies were listed in the proposal: PECVD, sputtering, evaporation, lithography, plasma etching, SEM, as well as transistor fabrication and electrical characterization, etc. So, I decided to come. Thank you Prof. Yu for the phone interview and for introducing such a amazing and chanllenging Ph.D. subject.

It is my honor to have a three-year Ph.D. study in LPICM, where I meet so many talented researchers, engineers and Ph.D. students. I would like to say Merci Jacqueline for the training on SEM, Raman AFM, and Ellipsometer Spectroscopy. Merci Nada and Jean-Christophe for the Raman training on Total side. Merci Cyril, Pavel, Dmitri and Garry for the PLASFIL maintainence, without your support I can not finish my Ph.D. in time. Merci Jérôme, Frédéric from l'équipe du BEER for the facility maintainence and other various tiny things like cutting corning glass, providing screws and printing posters. Merci Fouad and Isabelle from PMC for the SEM maintainence. Merci Erik, Jean-Eric, Ileana, Antonin, Wanghua for attending my oral presentation rehearsal and providing valuable advices. Merci all the silicon nanowire group members: Aliénor, Zuzana, Soumyadeep, Jian, Ben, especially to Martin for organising our group. Merci Denis, I owe you an expensive shadow mask! Merci beaucoup to Jean-Luc for the TEM studies on indium nanoparticles, ITO thin films and *in-situ* TEM observation of in-plane silicon nanowire growth, also merci beaucoup for your patience during the last two years, and merci beaucoup for the seminar organisation with your elegant French in e-mails. Merci Romain for the discussions on epitaxy and the kind help on ellipsometry characterization. Merci Junkang for the discussions on  $\mu c$ -Si deposition and ellipsometry modelling as well as Raman characterization. Futhermore, merci Laurence, Carine et toutes les secrétaires for all the paperworks like la demande de badge, les contrats, le titre de séjour, les ordres de la mission, etc. Merci Eric and Frédéric pour la service informatique. Merci beaucoup Dezeng and

Yachun for helping me prepare the pot after my Ph.D. defense. Gràcies Alba for your delicious cookies, beautiful Charistmas card and your encouragement since I started the thesis writing, really hard at that time. Merci beaucoup Sang-Hyuk and Enric for taking me a ride when the transport circulation in campus was inconvenient. In the end, merci and bon courage to all the people in LPICM.

Nothing was easy. Finally, I got the badge to the Salle Blanche (SB) in LPN in July 2013. This was an entirely novel experience in my life. People were wearing blouse and gloves. People were moving fast (but not running) among the sections in SB. People were waiting in line for the equipments. Firstly, I would like to say Merci Luc for the general training before getting access to SB. Merci Christophe Roblin, Christophe Dupuis and Jean-Claude for the optical lithography training, maintenance and technical support. Merci Laurent for metallization support, nice titanium/gold film and stable indium evaporation during the last two years. Merci Xavier for the dielectric sputtering coater training, maintenance and the personalized program for ITO. Merci Stéphane (Senior Guilet) for RIE and RIBE training, maintenance and the numerous discussions during the last two years, plasma etching is really a magic tool. Merci Edmond for the electron beam lithography and the discussions on our project, indium small pads did help us a lot for understanding the nanowire growth, also for the metal contact patterning for electrical characterization, quite a huge work and I really had the sensation that research should be straightforward, however, sorry for the ITO small pads that for the moment I cannot give a clear conclusion about that. Merci Kamel for the training of rapid thermal annealing (RTA), thermal oxidation and electrical characterization, really sorry that I used the RTA in a dangerous way, I will shift to a reliable way to anneal ITO, this is a very crucial process. Merci Xuan and Li for your talent ideas on nano-fabrication technologies. Merci Quan and Yong for all your educations on transistor fundamentals and technologies. Merci Guillaume, Anne-Claire, Christian, Fabrice, Lina, Andrea and all the people who helped me during the last two years in LPN. In the end, I would like to deliver my Grand Remercie to Sophie, to be short and straightforward: you are the example, I am trying to approach.

Then, I would like to talk about my thesis director. Moltes Gràcies to Pere, for your patience and encourage when I was in difficult situations, for the freedom you offered to me for the research, for all the discussions early in the morning, late in the evening and especially during the weekends and les fêtes, for the extension funding when my negotiations with CSC failed (TOOOO PITY), for the barbecues in your garden, etc. It is really luck and honorable to work with you for the last three years. Moltes Gràcies!!!

Also, I would like to thank my friends Bingrui, Hui, Ming, and ma belle Nan, with whom I enjoyed happy hours during the weekends and vacations. Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their permenant support.

FAN Zheng

à Palaiseau

2016/04/20

### Contents

Ac	knowledgements	i
Int	roduction	1
	<ul> <li>Nano-scale semiconductors</li> <li>More Moore and More-than-Moore</li></ul>	1 3 3 4 5 7
	• Fabrication and integration of one-dimensional semiconductors	8
	Thesis structure References	8 9
1	Fundamentals and Experimental Techniques	13
1.1	In-plane silicon nanowires via a solid-liquid-solid growth mode	15
1.2	Thin film deposition and characterization         1.2.1       Plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition (PECVD)         1.2.2       Sputtering         1.2.3       Thermal evaporation	19 19 21 23
	1.2.4     Raman spectroscopy       1.2.5     Spectroscopic Ellipsometry	23 26
1.3	<ul> <li>Lithography</li> <li>1.3.1 Optical lithography</li> <li>1.3.2 Electron-beam lithography</li> </ul>	33 33 35
1.4	Dry etching 1.4.1 Reactive ion etching 1.4.2 Reactive ion beam etching 1.4.3 Endpoint detection techniques 1.4.3.1 Laser interferometry 1.4.3.2 Mass spectrometry	37 38 39 40 40 42
1.5	Electron microscopy	43
1.6	Summary	43
1./	References	45
2 2.1	Indium Catalyst: from Thin Film to Nanoparticles Metal catalysts for growing semiconductor nanowires	47 49
2.2	Thin film growth modes	51
2.3	Evaporated indium thin films	53

	2.3.1	Microstructure of evaporated indium thin films	53
	2.3.2	H <sub>2</sub> plasma reduction for the a-Si:H/indium contact	55
	2.3.3	Effect of substrate temperature on the reduction of indium oxide	60
	2.3.4	Effects of the substrate properties on indium NPs redistribution	64
	2.3.4	1.1 Indium NPs coalescing on microcrystalline Si substrates	64
	2.3.4	1.2 Indium NPs coalescing on polycrystalline Al-doped ZnO substrates	66
	2.3.4	4.3 Grain-boundary wetting induced coalescing mechanism	67
	2.3.5	Conclusion	68
2.4	Indi	um nanoparticles formation on sputtered ITO thin films	70
	2.4.1	Mechanism of indium NPs formation on ITO	71
	2.4.1	1.1 Substrate temperature dependence of indium NPs formation	71
	2.4.1	1.2 Investigation of ITO surface evolution	73
	2.4.1	A Growth-and-Coalescence mechanism	76
	2.4.2	Redistribution of Indium NPs on indium/ITO bilayers	79
	2.4.3	Phase transition of ITO thin films upon heating	79
	2.4.4	ITO reduction under various H2 plasma conditions	82
	2.4.5	Conclusion	87
2.5	Sum	mary and perspectives	87
2.6	Refe	erences	89
2	C		05
3	Grow	th mechanism of In-plane Silicon Nanowires	.95
3.1	The	oretical background	97
	3.1.1	Metal-induced crystallization of semiconductors	97
	3.1.2	Spontaneous motion of liquid droplets on solid surfaces	100
	3.1.3	Heterogeneous nucleation from solution	103
	3.1.4	Background on the In-plane SiNWs growth	105
3.2	Spor	ntaneous motion of liquid Indium on <i>a</i> -Si:H	107
	3.2.1	Evolution of In nanoparticles at the initial stage of SiNWs growth	107
	3.2.1	1.1 Redistribution of In NPs upon their interaction with a-Si:H	107
	3.2.1	1.2 Effect of <i>a</i> -Si:H shell on the coalescence of indium nanoparticles	111
	3.2.1	1.3 Investigation of με-Si:H/In interaction	113
	3.2.2	Large indium droplets moving on a-Si:H	114
	3.2.3	Conclusion	116
3.3	Deta	ailed analysis of the growth of Solid-Liquid-Solid SiNWs	118
	3.3.1	Setting up the IPSLS system	118
	3.3.2	Investigation of In-plane Solid-Liquid-Solid system	120
	3.3.3	Conclusion	128
3.4	Subs	strate temperature dependence of <i>a</i> -Si:H properties	129
	3.4.1	Activation temperature of a-Si:H/In reaction	129
	3.4.2	Effect of <i>a</i> -Si:H structure on SiNW growth	131
	3.4.3	Conclusion	134
3.5	Met	al catalyst candidates for In-plane SiNWs Growth	136
	3.5.1	Sn/a-Si:H interaction	136
	3.5.2	Au/a-Si:H interaction	138

	3.5.3 3.5.4	In/ <i>a</i> -Ge:H interaction	139 141
3.6	IPSI	LS vs. VLS growth modes	
3.7	Sum	mary and perspectives	145
3.8	Refe	erences	147
4	Self-o	rganisation of In-plane Silicon Nanowires	159
4.1	Larg	e-scale ordered one-dimensional semiconductors	161
	4.1.1	Growth-and-place method	161
	4.1.2	Growth-in-place method	162
	4.1.3	Summary	165
4.2	Self	organization of In-plane SiNWs	167
	4.2.1	Step-guided growth of in-plane SiNWs	167
	4.2.2	Positioning Indium nanoparticles on sidewalls of buried ITO matrix	176
	4.2.3	Conclusion	184
4.3	Fab	rication of guiding-step/buried ITO layer structure	
	4.3.1	Fabrication process	
	4.3.2	Key points in the fabrication process	
	4.3.3	Conclusion	197
4.4	Sum	mary and perspectives	197
4.5	Refe	erences	200
Su	mmary	and perspectives	205
Ар	pendix	A: PECVD Substrate Temperature Calibration	209

#### INTRODUCTION

#### □ NANO-SCALE SEMICONDUCTORS

#### ✤ MORE MOORE AND MORE-THAN-MOORE

The method of controlling the electric currents by a three-terminal device proposed by J. E. Lilienfeld in 1930 opened the era of solid state semiconductor electronics [1], and J. S. Kilby published the miniaturized electric circuits for the first time in 1964 [2], which is nowadays known as integrated circuits (ICs) for logic devices like central computing units (CPUs) and memories, whose building blocks are based on complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) technology. Since then, great efforts have been made on integrating more CMOS of decreasing dimensions on a single chip, in order to keep low manufacturing cost and meanwhile maintain low power consumption with an increasing device performance, called CMOS scaling or miniaturization. During the past several decades this technology evolution was directed by the Moore's law (the number of transistors on a chip doubles every 18 to 24 months, as shown in Figure 1) and now currently almost approaches its limit. Novel channel materials and gate, dielectrics, supported by substrate engineering, novel device architectures with multi-gate engineering, advanced doping, as well as etching and lithography technologies are being developed for boosting the Moore's law, which is called "More Moore". The evolution of corresponding technologies is summarized in Figure 2.





Figure 2 Advanced CMOS technology in the transistor scaling roadmap, source from Robert Chau, Intel Corporation [4].

Moreover, semiconductor industry encounters new challenges, with the requirements of integrating non-digital (e.g. analogue) functions in a multi-functional system based on CMOS technology, including radio frequency (RF) components, power management subsystems, passive components, biochips, sensors, actuators, microelectromechanical systems (MEMS), etc. This developing direction of functional diversification is known as "More-than-Moore". Figure 3 shows the diagram of this dual trend of More Moore (miniaturization of the digital functions) and More-than-Moore (functional diversification) from the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS) [5].



Figure 3 Diagram of a dual trend of More Moore (miniaturization of the digital functions) and Morethan-Moore (functional diversification) from International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS), from [5].

#### STRAIN ENGINEERING

Figure 4 shows the strain engineering technologoies that scale transistors down to the 90 nm node. Instead of introducing new materials like III-V compounds, strain engineering realizes the enhancement of device performance (electron and hole mobility) by mechanically stressing the channels (Si, Ge or SiGe alloy) of MOSFETs, including substrate-induced (or global) and process-induced (or local) technologies.

Substrate-induced strain engineering describes a process of introducing a  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  layer between the channel layer and the substrate (normally Si), so that the top channel layer can be stretched due to its lattice mismatch with the  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  layer. Figure 4.a shows the schematic representation of strained Si thin layer on SiGe alloy.

Another strain engineering technology is derived from the silicidation at the source and drain regions, where the channel region is stressed by the nitrides at the two sides. So it is called local or process-induced strain engineering. Later on, selective epitaxial growth of SiGe alloys embedded in the source and drain region was developed as the main technology in semiconductor industry. The advantage of local strain engineering is that the strains in Pand N- channels can be manipulated independently. Figure 4.b shows the schematic representation of process-induced strain engineering by selective epitaxial growth of SiGe alloy embedded in the source and drain regions, which forms compressive and tensile strains in p- and n- channels, respectively.



(a) Substrate-induced strain engineering

(b) Process-induced strain engineering

Figure 4 Schematic representation of substrate-induced strain engineering (a) [6] and process-induced strain engineering (b) [7].

#### ✤ HIGH-K DIELECTRICS AND METAL GATES

For conventional CMOS technology,  $SiO_2$  and heavily doped polycrystalline silicon gate are the standard materials for gate stack engineering. In the transistor scaling roadmap, the standard configuration shifts to metal gate/high-k dielectric, as shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5 Schematic representation of gate stack configurations of poly-Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> (left) and metal gate/high-k dielectric [8].

Continuous thickness reduction of SiO<sub>2</sub> dielectrics will cause detrimental gate leakage current. In order to obtain high device performance while maintaining low power consumption, high-k dielectrics/metal gates are introduced. High-k dielectrics are a group of metal oxides with dielectric constant k larger than 7 (the value of  $Si_3N_4$ ). Other requirements of high-k dielectrics are: (i) large bandgap (>5 eV) in order to establish large band offset with Si to avoid Si-dielectrics conduction due to Schottky emission of electrons and holes into the oxide bands; (ii) thermodynamic stability at the Si/dielectrics interface to avoid interfacial reaction and SiO<sub>2</sub> formation; (iii) high thermal stability with high crystallization temperature; (iv) high quality thin film with respect to uniformity, conformal profile and density. Commonly considered high-k dielectrics include Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, HfO<sub>2</sub>, Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, etc. The replacement of heavily doped poly-Si is due to the limitations in doping density, which result in the depletion of poly-Si gate when the gate stack is biased in inversion and lowering of the drive currents. Besides, poly-Si is not thermodynamically stable when put in contact with high-k dielectrics. Hence, metal or metal compound gates are proposed as new materials in gate stack engineering. As pure metals can react with dielectrics (e.g. Ta, Ti, Hf, etc.), while other inert ones (e.g. Ni, Pd, Pt, etc.) have difficulty in chemical bonding at metal/dielectrics interface, metallic alloys, and metal nitrides turn to be alternative materials. Metallic alloys (e.g. Ta-Pt) provide good thermal stability and adjustable work function by modulating the atomic composition fraction of two metals with different work functions. Metal nitrides, like TiN, WN, HfN, etc., are also considered as gate materials, and their work function can be tuned by the nitrogen composition. However, the range of achievable work function is not broad enough to be adaptable to both p- and n- type channels. Metal silicides are considered as the most suitable gate material as their adjustable work functions can suit both p- and n- type channels and the silicidation process (i.e. metal-Si reaction) is compatible with the CMOS technology, for example Ti silicide, Pt silicide, Ni silicide, etc.

#### PLANAR VS. NON-PLANAR ARCHITECTURES

In the continuous scaling in CMOS technology, a non-planar architecture is considered as the most possible route in the More Moore roadmap. However, the competition with advanced SOI planar technology is challenging.

Planar transistor technologies can be classified as: (i) conventional bulk technology, where Si channels are formed in bulk Si; (ii) Silicon-On-Insulator (SOI) technology, where Si channels are located in the thin layer of Si (called Body) over a buried oxide insulator (called BOX) on Si substrates. If the Si Body is thicker than its depletion depth, a neutral region will exist between source and drain, called Partially-Depleted SOI (PD-SOI), the normal thickness of Si is around 50~90 nm; if the Si Body is ultra-thin, the entire layer can be depleted, called Fully-Depleted SOI (FD-SOI), the normal thickness is around 10~20 nm. In comparison with bulk Si technology, SOI has advantages like low junction capacitance and leakage, low operating power, better electrostatic control to reduce short channel effects, etc. [9]

Another competing technology, FinFET, relies on non-planar technologies for enabling the multi-gate engineering. A 3-D channel, shaped as a fin, is fabricated on bulk Si substrate, so that the gate stack layers can be coating the top and both sides of the fin channel. This dual gate architecture provides optimized electrostatic control and thus improves the current control of transistor. Besides, variant multi-gate architectures are proposed as gate engineering progresses, such as  $\Pi$  gate,  $\Omega$  gate and even gate-all-around (GAA) [10]. However, FinFET technology encounters challenges like process complexity (e.g. uniform doping technology) and subsequent performance variation. Figure 6 shows the schematic representation of FinFET transistor (left) and FD-SOI transistor (right).



Figure 6 Schematic representation of FinFET transistor (left) and FD-SOI transistor (right) [11].

### ✤ CONTRIBUTION OF ONE-DIMENSIONAL SEMICONDUCTORS TO MORE MOORE

One solution for future transistors based on CMOS technology is FinFET on SOI, by combining the SOI and FinFET technologies. Silicon nanowires (SiNWs), as a type of one-dimensional (1-D) semiconductor nanostructure, are expected as an available channel candidate in this novel architecture, which can be lying on the substrate, or vertically standing on it. Figure 7 represents selected examples of SiNWFETs: (a, b) show the architecture and SEM image of a SiNW lying on SiO<sub>2</sub> insulator, with highly doped Si substrate as bottom gate [12]; (c, d) show the architecture and cross-sectional TEM image of junctionless SiNWFETs, where lateral flat SiNWs (or nanoribbons) are fabricated by lithography patterning and plasma etching (top-down method) on SOI substrate and highly doped by ion implantation, with a poly-Si  $\Pi$  gate on top [13]; (e, f) show the architecture and SEM image of a lateral SiNW suspended on a SOI substrate fabricated by a top-down method, with poly-Si gate-all-around structure [14]; (g, h) show the architecture and crosssectional TEM image of a vertically (vapour-solid-liquid-grown) SiNW, with bottom source, top drain and gate-all-around structure [15]. Moreover, NW heterostructures broaden the range of electronic applications, core-shell heterostructures (e.g. SiGe, GaN/AlN, etc.) have been demonstrated for the high performance quantum well (QW) FET [16][17] or optoeletronics [18]. Besides SiNWs, other one-dimensional semiconductors like Ge [19], group III-V [20]-[25], III-nitride (e.g. GaN [26]), oxide (e.g. ZnO [27], SnO<sub>2</sub> [28]) and carbon nanotubes (CNTs) [29][30] are also explored as the channel candidates for future electronics.



Figure 7 Examples of SiNWFETs: (a) architecture of bottom gate lateral SiNWFET and the topview SEM image (b); (c) architecture of  $\Pi$  gate lateral SiNWFET and the cross-sectional TEM image (d); (e) architecture of gate-all-around lateral SiNWFET and the top-view SEM image (f); (g) architecture of gate-all-around SiNWFET and the cross-sectional TEM image (h).

#### ✤ CONTRIBUTION OF ONE-DIMENSIONAL SEMICONDUCTORS TO MORE-THAN-MOORE

Besides their applications in logic electronics, 1-D semiconductors have optical, thermal, mechanical and magnetic properties, which allow their applications in photonics, biosensors, piezotronics, energy conversion and storage, etc.

Biosensors based on SiNWFETs have been reported, where the surface of a SiNW is functionalized by modifying the receptors, so that it can be recognized by the target molecules (e.g. gas, ions, proteins, DNA, etc.) through strong binding affinity. As a consequence an electrical signal arises when a biological/chemical event takes place on the surface of the channel [31]. Moreover, SiNWs can also be used in energy conversion and storage applications, like photovoltaics based on radial junction solar cells, SiNW anodes as an electrochemical energy storage material, or in thermoelectric conversion applications [32]-[34]. III-V NWs and their heterostructures have been demonstrated as novel

semiconductor materials for nano-scale photodetectors, waveguides, microcavity lasers and light emitting diodes (LEDs), etc. [35][36] Moreover ZnO NWs are applied in nanogenerators, piezotronics and piezo-photonics due to their strain-induced piezopotential property [37].

# ✤ FABRICATION AND INTEGRATION OF ONE-DIMENSIONAL SEMICONDUCTORS

In general, the methods for producing 1-D semiconductor nanostructures can be classified into two families: i) Top-down methods, based on a physical and/or chemical etching process of tailoring the bulk substrates into NWs laterally lying or vertically standing on the substrates; (ii) Bottom-up methods, which rely on growing processes catalysed or self-catalysed by collecting and organizing atomic sources (precursors) from a vapour, liquid or even solid phase, assisted by thin film deposition techniques such as chemical vapour deposition (CVD), plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition (PECVD), metalorganic chemical vapour deposition (MOCVD), molecular beam epitaxy (MBE), or via solution-based synthesis methods. The most popular bottom-up method is vapour-solid-liquid (VLS) growth process, based on the interaction of liquid metal droplets and atomic precursors from vapour phase and transforming them to solid crystalline phase. A variant of the VLS method is vapour-solid-solid (VSS) mode, where the metal catalysts are in solid phase. In this thesis, we will introduce another variant growth mode, called inplane solid-liquid-solid mode [38], where liquid metal droplets (indium) move on substrates with a pre-coated layer of a-Si:H on top, absorb Si atoms from the a-Si:H layer at their advancing edge, and precipitate c-SiNW at their receding edge [39]. Numerous review articles on the growth methods and properties of semiconductor nanostructures have been published before [40]-[46], and a brief review of bottom-up growth techniques related with our growth method is presented in Chapter 2.

In order to integrate 1-D semiconductors into nano-scale systems, it is of prime importance to organise or assemble them in an efficient way. Advanced lithography techniques (e.g. e-beam lithography and nanoimprint lithography) allow the fabrication of ordered lateral and vertical 1-D semiconductor arrays via top-down method, assisted by anisotropic dry etching techniques (e.g. inductively coupled plasma reactive ion etching, reactive ion beam etching, etc.). For vertically grown 1-D semiconductor arrays, selective area epitaxial growth [47] is the most favourable way, in which the catalysts are pre-defined by the same high resolution lithography techniques. On the other hand, challenges still remain on ordering lateral arrays of 1-D semiconductors. As most 1-D semiconductors are vertically standing on the substrates, lying them down on the pre-designed positions was a most common approach in the early days, called "growth-and-place" method. Later on, the alternative "growth-in-place" method started to be considered, where the growth of semiconductor NWs or CNTs can be guided on a structured substrate with features such as nano-facets (atomic steps) or nano-channels. More information can be found in [48]. Also a brief review relating to this thesis is introduced in Chapter 4.

□ THESIS STRUCTURE

This is the first Ph.D. thesis on systematic study of in-plane silicon nanowires produced via a solid-liquid-solid (SLS) growth mode and of their self-organisation for FET application.

In Chapter 1, we first present the synthesis process of in-plane SiNWs via a solidliquid-solid mode. Principles of thin film deposition, characterization and micro/nano fabrication technologies are also introduced.

In Chapter 2, we systematically study the formation process of indium catalyst nanoparticles: H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment of indium catalyst thin films on heated substrates. Two types of catalyst source thin films are studied: (i) evaporated discontinuous In thin films, and (ii) sputtered ITO thin films. A series of experiments are designed, which reveal the different physical and chemical processes taking place on the two types of films under *exsitu* SEM observation and analysis. The deep understanding of In NPs formation is fundamental for our stratetgy of localizing in-plane SiNWs for self-organisation.

In Chapter 3, we consider the solid-liquid-solid growth mode of in-plane SiNWs from three aspects: (i) metal-induced crystallization of amorphous silicon, (ii) spontaneous motion of liquid droplets, and (iii) heterogeneous nucleation and crystal growth from solution. By decomposing the growth process into three corresponding episodes in loop, we manage to reconstruct the entire scenario of the growth of in-plane SiNWs. Further geometric investigation of the in-plane solid-liquid-solid system under *ex-situ* SEM observation and analysis supports the proposed growth mechanism and reveals the relationship between SiNW diameters, In NPs diameters and *a*-Si:H thickness. This improvement on understanding the growth mechanism provides principles for optimizing the guided growth strategy of in-plane SiNWs. Moreover, in order to further understand the growth mechanism, the structural properties of *a*-Si:H and other metal catalyst candidates (Sn, Au) are investigated. This provides strategies for lowering the growth temperature and selecting metal catalysts for GeNWs, respectively.

In Chapter 4, we propose a strategy for self-organising in-plane SiNWs, which includes two aspects: (i) a guided growth method for aligning in-plane SiNWs, and (ii) a technique of forming In NPs on buried ITO sidewalls required for localizing in-plane SiNWs. Based on the mechanisms of In NPs formation on planar ITO surface and SiNWs growth on planar substrate, we elaborate the guided growth mechanism and sidewall In NPs formation mechanism, which is expected to make this self-organising strategy reproducible and reliable. Besides, the fabrication flow chart and key factors in it are elaborated.

In Appendix A, we provide the heated substrate temperature calibration of the PECVD system for SiNWs growth (PLASFIL).

REFERENCES

- J. E. Lilienfeld. "Method and apparatus for controlling electric currents." US Patent 1900018 A (1930).
- [2]. J. S. Kilby. "Miniaturized electronic circuits." US Patents 3138743 A (1964).
- [3]. J.-P. Colinge. "Nanowire Transistors: From classical to quantum." Oral presentation in Workshop LabEx Minos, pp. 6 (2015).
- [4]. R. Chau, M. Doczy, B. Doyle, S. Datta, G. Dewey, J. Kavalieros, B. Jin, M. Metz, A. Majumdar; M. Radosavljevic. "Adavanced CMOS transistors in the nanotechnology era for high-performance low-power logic applications." ICSICT, 1, 26-30 (2004).
- [5]. W. Argen, M. Brillouët, P. Cogez, M. Graef, B. Huizing, R. Mahnkopf. J. Pelka, J.-U. Pfeiffer, A. Rouzaud, M. Tartagni, C. V. Hoof, J. Wagner. "Towards a More-than-Moore roadmap." Report form the CATRENE Scientific Committee, p. 12 (2011).
- [6]. C. K. Maiti, T. K. Maiti. "Strain-engineered for MOSFETs." CRC Press, p. 24 (2013).
- [7]. V. Sverdlov. "Strain-induced effects in advanced MOSFETs." Springer, p. 10 (2011).
- [8]. G. He, Z. Sun. "High-k gate dielectrics for CMOS technology." Wiley-VCH, p. XXVIII (2012).
- [9]. S. A. Vitale, P. W. Wyatt, N. Checka, J. Kedzierski, C. L. Keast. "FDSOI Process Technology for Subthreshold-Operation Ultralow-Power Electronics." Proceedings of the IEEE 98(2), 333-342 (2010).
- [10]. I. Ferain, C. A. Collinge, J.-P. Collinge. "Multigate transistors as the future of classical metaloxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors." Nature 479(7373), 310-316 (2011).
- [11]. A. Conley. "FinFET vs. FD-SOI: Key advantages & Disadvantages." ChipEx2014.
- [12]. Y. Cui, Z. Zhong, D. Wang, W. U. Wang, C. M. Lieber. "High Performance Silicon Nanowire Field Effect Transistors." Nano Letters 3(2), 149-152 (2003).
- [13]. J.-P. Colinge, C.-W. Lee, A. Afzalian, N. D. Akhavan, R. Yan, I. Ferain, P. Razavi, B. O'Neill, A. Blake, M. White, A.-M. Kelleher, B. McCarthy, R. Murphy. "Nanowire transistors without junctions." Nat Nano 5(3): 225-229 (2010).
- [14]. T. Wang, L. Lou, C. Lee. "A Junctionless Gate-All-Around Silicon Nanowire FET of High Linearity and Its Potential Applications." Electron Device Letters, IEEE 34(4): 478-480 (2013).
- [15]. J. Goldberger, A. I. Hochbaum, R. Fan, P. Yang. "Silicon Vertically Integrated Nanowire Field Effect Transistors." Nano Letters 6(5): 973-977 (2006).
- [16]. L. J. Lauhon, M. S. Gudiksen, D. Wang, C. M. Lieber. "Epitaxial core-shell and coremultishell nanowire heterostructures." Nature 420(6911): 57-61 (2002).
- [17]. J. Xiang, W. Lu, Y. Hu, Y. Wu, H. Yan, C. M. Lieber. "Ge/Si nanowire heterostructures as high-performance field-effect transistors." Nature 441(7092): 489-493 (2006).
- [18]. L. Rigutti, G. Jacopin, L. Largeau, E. Galopin, A. D. Bugallo, F.H. Julien, J.-C. Harmand, F. Glas, M. Tchernycheva. "Correlation of optical and structural properties of GaN/AlN core-shell nanowires." Physical Review B 83(15), 155320 (2011).
- [19]. A. B. Greytak, L. L. Lauhon, M. S. Gudiksen, C. M. Lieber. "Growth and transport properties of complementary germanium nanowire field-effect transistors." Applied Physics Letters 84(21): 4176-4178 (2004).
- [20]. J.-C. Harmand, F. Glas, G. Patriarche. "Growth kinetics of a single InP<sub>1-x</sub>As<sub>x</sub> nanowire nanowire." Physical Review B 81(23): 235436 (2010).
- [21]. F. Glas. "Chemical potentials for Au-assisted vapor-liquid-solid growth of III-V nanowires." Journal of Applied Physics 108(7): 073506 (2010).
- [22]. D.L. Dheeraj, G. Patriarche, L. Largeau, H. L. Zhou, A.T.J. van Helvoort, F. Glas, J.-C. Harmand, B. O. Fimland, H. Weman. "Zinc blende GaAsSb nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy." Nanotechnology 19(27), 275605 (2008).
- [23]. F. Glas, J.-C. Harmand, G. Patriarche. "Nucleation Antibunching in Catalyst-Assisted Nanowire Growth." Physical Review Letters 104(13), 135501 (2010).

- [24]. F. Glas, J.-C. Harmand, G. Patriarche. "Why Does Wurtzite Form in Nanowires of III-V Zinc Blende Semiconductors?" Physical Review Letters 99(14), 146101 (2007).
- [25]. J. A. del Alamo. "Nanometre-scale electronics with III-V compound semiconductors." Nature 479(7373): 317-323 (2011).
- [26]. D. Tsivion, M. Schvartzman, R. Popovitz-Biro, P. von Huth, E. Joselovich. "Guided Growth of Millimeter-Long Horizontal Nanowires with Controlled Orientations." Science 333(6045), 1003-1007 (2011).
- [27]. Y. W. Heo, L. C. Tien, Y. Kwon, D. P. Norton, S. J. Pearton, B. S. Kang, F. Ren. "Depletion-mode ZnO nanowire field-effect transistor." Applied Physics Letters 85(12): 2274-2276 (2004).
- [28]. E. N. Dattoli, Q. Wan, W. Guo, Y. Chen, X. Pan, W. Lu. "Fully Transparent Thin-Film Transistor Devices Based on SnO2 Nanowires." Nano Letters 7(8), 2463-2469 (2007).
- [29]. C. Kocabas, S.-H. Hur, A. Gaur, M. A. Meitl, M. Shim, J. A. Rogers. "Guided Growth of Large-Scale, Horizontally Aligned Arrays of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes and Their Use in Thin-Film Transistors." Small 1(11): 1110-1116 (2005).
- [30]. S. J. Kang, C. Kocabas, T. Ozel, M. Shim, N. Pimparkar, M. A. Alam, S. V. Rotkin, J. A. Rogers. "High-performance electronics using dense, perfectly aligned arrays of single-walled carbon nanotubes." Nat Nano 2(4), 230-236 (2007).
- [31]. K.-I. Chen, B.-R. Li, Y.-T. Chen. "Silicon nanowire field-effect transistor-based biosensors for biomedical diagnosis and cellular recording investigation." Nano Today 6(2), 131-154 (2011).
- [32]. A.I. Hochbaum and P. Yang. "Semiconductor Nanowires for Energy Conversion." Chemical Reviews 110(1): 527-546 (2010).
- [33]. Y. Wang, T. Wang, P. Da, M. Xu, H. Wu, G. Zheng. "Silicon Nanowires for Biosensing, Energy Storage, and Conversion." Advanced Materials, 5177–5195 (2013).
- [34]. S. Misra, L. Yu, W. Chen, M. Foldyna, P. Roca i Cabarrocas: "A review on plasma-assisted VLS synthesis of silicon nanowires and radial junction solar cells". J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 47, 393001 (2014).
- [35]. M. S. Gudiksen, L. J. Lauhon, J. Wang, D. C. Smith, C. M. Lieber. "Growth of nanowire superlattice structures for nanoscale photonics and electronics." Nature 415(6872), 617-620 (2002).
- [36]. R. Yan, D. Gargas, P. Yang. "Nanowire photonics." Nat Photon 3(10): 569-576 (2009).
- [37]. Z. L. Wang, R. Yang, J. Zhou, Y. Qin, C. Xu, Y. Hu, S. Xu. "Lateral nanowire/nanobelt based nanogenerators, piezotronics and piezo-phototronics." Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports 70(3-6): 320-329 (2010).
- [38]. L. Yu, P.-J. Alet, G. Picardi, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "An In-Plane Solid-Liquid-Solid Growth Mode for Self-Avoiding Lateral Silicon Nanowires." Physical Review Letters 102(12), 125501 (2009).
- [39]. L. Yu and P. R. i Cabarrocas "Growth mechanism and dynamics of in-plane solid-liquidsolid silicon nanowires." Physical Review B 81(8): 085323 (2010).
- [40]. J. Hu, T. W. Odom, C. M. Lieber. "Chemistry and Physics in One Dimension: Synthesis and Properties of Nanowires and Nanotubes." Accounts of Chemical Research 32(5), 435-445 (1999).
- [41]. S. T. Lee, N. Wang, C. S. Lee. "Semiconductor nanowires: synthesis, structure and properties." Materials Science and Engineering: A 286(1): 16-23 (2000).
- [42]. Y. Xia, P. Yang, Y. Sun, Y. Wu, B. Mayers, B. Gates, Y. Yin, F. Kim, H. Yan. "One-Dimensional Nanostructures: Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications." Advanced Materials 15(5), 353-389 (2003).

- [43]. N. Wang, Y. Cai, R. Q. Zhang. "Growth of nanowires." Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports 60(1-6), 1-51 (2008).
- [44]. V. Schmidt, J. V. Wittemann, S. Senz, Ulrich, Gösele. "Silicon Nanowires: A Review on Aspects of their Growth and their Electrical Properties." Advanced Materials 21(25-26), 2681-2702 (2009).
- [45]. R. Rurali. "Colloquium: Structural, electronic, and transport properties of silicon nanowires." Reviews of Modern Physics 82(1), 427-449 (2010).
- [46]. N. P. Dasgupta, J. Sun, C. Liu, S. Brittman, S. C. Andrews, J. Lim, H. Gao, R. Yan, P. Yang. "25th Anniversary Article: Semiconductor Nanowires – Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications." Advanced Materials 26(14), 2137-2184 (2014).
- [47]. T. Martensson, P. Carlberg, M. Borgström, L. Montelius, W. Seifert, L. Samuelson. "Nanowire Arrays Defined by Nanoimprint Lithography." Nano Letters 4(4): 699-702 (2004).
- [48]. M. Kwiat, S. Cohen, A. Pevzner, F. Patolsky. "Large-scale ordered 1D-nanomaterials arrays: Assembly or not?" Nano Today 8(6): 677-694 (2013).

## 1 FUNDAMENTALS AND EXPERIMENTAL TECHNIQUES

### CONTENTS

1.1	In-p	lane silicon nanowires via a solid-liquid-solid growth mode	15
1.2	Thin	film deposition and characterization	
	1.2.1	Plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition (PECVD)	19
	1.2.2	Sputtering	
	1.2.3	Thermal evaporation	
	1.2.4	Raman spectroscopy	
	1.2.5	Spectroscopic Ellipsometry	
1.3	Lithe	ography	
	1.3.1	Optical lithography	
	1.3.2	Electron-beam lithography	
1.4	Dry	etching	
	1.4.1	Reactive ion etching	
	1.4.2	Reactive ion beam etching	
	1.4.3	Endpoint detection techniques	
	1.4.3	.1 Laser interferometry	
	1.4.3	.2 Mass spectrometry	
1.5	Elec	tron microscopy	
1.6	Summary		
1.7	Refe	rences	45

# 1.1 IN-PLANE SILICON NANOWIRES VIA A SOLID-LIQUID-SOLID GROWTH MODE

Based on thin film techniques, in-plane silicon nanowires are synthesized in PLASFIL, a PECVD system in which the plasma is ignited by applying a RF power (13.56 MHz). Figure 1.1 shows a schematic representation of the PLASFIL system. The bottom electrode is grounded and the upper electrode is connected to the RF power generator through an impedance matching box, which is used to minimize the power reflection from the plasma by equalizing the impedances of the external power source  $(Z_{RF})$  to that of the plasma ( $Z_{plasma}$ ). The series connected capacitor within the impedance matching box is called blocking capacitor, and this mode of sustaining the plasma is thus named capacitively coupled plasma (CCP). Resistive heaters are integrated with each electrode to heat them up to a nominal temperature of 600°C. The vacuum system consists of a primary oil-sealed mechanical pump for approaching low vacuum background  $(10^{-5} \sim 10^{-4} \text{ mbar})$  and with a turbomolecular pump for high vacuum (above 5x10-6 mbar). A Pirani gauge (thermal conductivity gauge) and a Penning gauge (ionization gauge) are integrated in the system for monitoring the low and high vacuum pressure, respectively. During the plasma process, gases are introduced from inlet lines, and non-reacted gases or volatile gaseous reactants are pumped out of the chamber. A butterfly valve is, connected between the chamber and rector pump, for adjusting the total gas pressure thanks to adaptative pressure controller. The spatial distribution of the average DC potential voltage between the two parallel electrodes is also shown in Figure 1.1.

The synthesis of in-plane SiNWs is catalysed by liquid indium nanoparticles (In NPs). The source of indium (In) can be evaporated In or sputtered indium tin oxide (ITO) thin films, which experience the same process steps in PECVD system: (i)  $H_2$  plasma treatment at 300°C, (ii) *a*-Si:H coating at 150°C, (iii) annealing at 450°C in vacuum or in the presence of  $H_2$ . Figure 1.3 and Figure 1.4 show the flow charts and the corresponding SEM images of the in-plane SiNWs fabrication process based on evaporated In or sputtered ITO thin films as catalyst source, respectively. The difference between evaporated In and sputtered ITO thin films is detailed in Chapter 2.

The growth of in-plane SiNWs includes the diffusion of Si atoms into liquid In NP from its front side and their precipitatation in the form of a  $\iota$ -Si nanowire, as illustrated in Figure 1.2. Therefore, it is a solid-liquid-solid growth process. The growth mechanism is detailed in chapter 3.



Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of PLASFIL: the PECVD system for in-plane SiNWs synthesis.



Figure 1.2 Schematic representation and SEM image of in-plane SiNWs obtained via a solid-liquidsolid mode.



Figure 1.3 Flow chart of in-plane SiNWs synthesis with evaporated In as a catalyst source. Note that the variation of density and size of In NPs in the four images may be due to the fact that they were not taken at the same position on the same sample.



Figure 1.4 Flow chart of in-plane SiNWs synthesis with sputtered ITO as a catalyst source. Note that the variation of density and size of In NPs in the four images may be due to the fact that they were not taken at the same position on the same sample.

#### 1.2 THIN FILM DEPOSITION AND CHARACTERIZATION

As mentioned in 1.1, the synthesis of in-plane SiNWs is based on thin film process. In this section, the thin film deposition and characterization techniques utilized in this thesis are presented.

#### 1.2.1 PLASMA-ENHANCED CHEMICAL VAPOUR DEPOSITION (PECVD)

Plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition (PECVD) is widely used for the growth of dielectric films (i.e.  $Si_3N_4$  and  $SiO_2$ ) [1], *a*-Si:H [2],  $\mu c$ -Si:H [3], and *c*-Si epitaxy [4]. The schematic representation of a RF-PECVD system has been shown in Figure 1.1. It is a sort of chemical vapour deposition (CVD) reactor, where single or mixed gaseous compounds are partially dissociated and the dissociation products (called reactive species or radicals) diffuse to the substrate and form a thin film on it due to reactive chemical process.

Take silane (SiH<sub>4</sub>) in a PECVD system for instance. Radio-frequency power, as an electrical excitation mode, provides energy to electrons which will partially ionize the SiH<sub>4</sub> gas at a low pressure (a few tens of mTorr to a few Torr). The electrons with low mass are accelerated by the electrical field between the two parallel plate electrodes and gain enough energy to dissociate SiH<sub>4</sub> gas via electron-molecule collisions. The products of the reaction can be various, including positive and negative ions, radicals, electrons, photons, etc. Figure 1.5 shows the probability manifold for the SiH<sub>4</sub> dissociative species due to a 70 eV electron impact, deduced from mass spectrometry measurements.

At the initial stage of plasma establishment, low mass/high energy electrons are rapidly evacuated to the reactor walls leaving behind positively charged ions. This results in the formation of a space charge region where an electrical field confines the negative ions and electrons, while accelerating the positive ions (ion bombardment). The space charge region between the plasma bulk and the chamber wall has a low electron density which results in a low level of gas excitation. As a consequence it appears dark and is called sheath. The type of interaction between plasma species and the substrate depends on the charge of the species, as illustrated in Figure 1.6.

Figure 1.7 depicts the standard model of *a*-Si:H thin film deposition, where SiH<sub>3</sub> radicals, as the dominant precursors at low pressure, arrive on a H-terminated surface, physisorb (as low temperature in PECVD system cannot activate the Si-H bond breaking) and diffuse on the surface to grow the film due to various chemical reactions, such as desorption of SiH<sub>3</sub>, recombination with other SiH<sub>3</sub> to produce Si<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub> molecules, and abstraction of H atoms to produce SiH<sub>4</sub> molecules, which results in dangling bonds on the surface for the following SiH<sub>3</sub> radicals to form chemical bonds and thin film growth.

Other excitation modes can also provide energy to dissociate the gas precursors and sustain the chemical reactive system for thin film growth, like thermal or photonic activated CVD [5].



Figure 1.5 Probability manifold for the  $SiH_4$  dissociative species due to a 70 eV electron impact deduced from mass spectrometry measurements [6].



Figure 1.6 The plasma provides the source of reactive species, whose interaction with the substrate depends on their charge due to the presence of a space charge region (sheath) between the plasma and the chamber walls [7].



Figure 1.7 Standard model of a-Si:H deposition based on the interaction of SiH<sub>3</sub> radicals with a hydrogen terminated silicon surface [7].

#### 1.2.2 Sputtering

Sputtering is a physical vapour deposition (PVD) process, where the atoms are ejected from a 'target' due to the collision of energetic ions and diffuse onto the substrate surface for the film growth. Inert gases like Ar are normally used as the sputter source, and the configuration can be glow discharge or ion beam. The glow discharge source is commonly sustained between the two parallel plate electrodes on which a DC or AC power is applied, in a similar way to the PECVD system. Figure 1.8 shows the schematic representation of a sputter coater. Moreover, in order to increase its efficiency, a magnetic field can be applied parallel to the target surface (as shown in Figure 1.9), so that in combination of electrical field, the secondary electrons in the glow discharge can be confined in a closed circuit, therefore the glow discharge bulk is kept in front of the target surface. In addition, oxide and nitride thin films can be formed via a chemical reaction process between the target material and the gas (i.e. O<sub>2</sub> or N<sub>2</sub>) introduced in the chamber, which is named reactive sputtering. In this thesis, a RF-magnetron sputter coater is utilized for ITO (ITO as target) and SiO<sub>2</sub> (Si as target and  $O_2$  as reactive gas) deposition. Compared with PECVD deposition, the film deposited via sputtering is less conformal; however, sidewall deposition still takes place, as shown in 4.3.2.2.


Figure 1.8 Schematic representation of a sputter coater [8].



Figure 1.9 Schematic representation of a magnetron sputter source [9].

#### 1.2.3 THERMAL EVAPORATION

Thermal evaporation is another physical vapour deposition process that utilizes Joule-effect to heat the source material (target) thanks to an electrical current passing through the crucible until it melts and evaporates in vacuum; then the material atoms in the vapour phase transport directly to the substrate and condense to form a solid phase on it. Figure 1.10 shows a schematic representation of a Joule-effect thermal evaporator. Different from PECVD and sputtering, thermal evaporation is an anisotropic deposition process, which favours the lift-off method for patterning thin films, as will be detailed in 1.3.1. In this thesis, indium thin films are deposited by thermal evaporation. Their nominal thickness is controlled thanks to a quartz crystal microbalance.



Figure 1.10 Schematic representation of a joule-effect thermal evaporator [10].

### 1.2.4 RAMAN SPECTROSCOPY

Raman spectroscopy is a spectroscopic technique based on the inelastic scattering of a monochromatic light by a material, which causes wavelength shifts of the light (i.e. Raman shift). The identity and properties of the material are reflected by the Raman shift and Raman spectrum, respectively.

The principle of Raman scattering is the energy change between the absorbed and re-emitted photon upon its interaction with a molecule. Note that the molecule should have polarity so that its bonds can start to vibrate and re-emit a photon after their excitation due to the interaction with incident photons. If the photon energy change is zero, the light scattering is elastic, named Rayleigh scattering, which is the most common light scattering process. If the photon loses or grains energy during this scattering process, it is called Stokes or anti-Stokes Raman scattering. Figure 1.11 illustrates the three forms of scattering of a monochromatic light by a material. Stokes Raman scattering depicts the process by which a molecule is raised from the ground state to a virtual state and drops back to a vibrational state, so the incident photon loses energy with decreased frequency and increased wavelength. Anti-Stokes Raman scattering occurs when a molecule starts from a vibrational state to a virtual state and drops back to the ground state, therefore the incident photon gains energy with increased frequency and decreased wavelength. As the probability of initial state energy of a molecule is determined by Boltzmann distribution:

$$F(state) \propto e^{-\frac{E}{kT}}$$
 (1-1)

where E represents the state energy,  $\varkappa$  is the Boltzmann constant and T is the absolute temperature, the amount of molecules at the ground state is much higher than the ones at vibrational states before the photon-molecule interaction, thus Stokes scattering events are more likely to occur than anti-Stokes ones. So normally Raman spectroscopy only uses the Stokes spectrum due to its greater intensity.

Figure 1.12 shows a schematic representation of a conventional Raman spectrometer. The monochromatic light from a laser is focused on the sample surface, then scattered by the sample. Most of the scattering process is Rayleigh scattering, but a small amount results into a Stokes Raman scattering, so the filter discriminates the Rayleigh scattered light and lets Raman scattered light pass. Finally, the spectrograph splits and diffracts the Raman scattered light thanks to grating and records the electrical signal by a CCD.



Figure 1.11 Three different forms of scattering [11].



Figure 1.12 Schematic representation of a Raman spectroscopy set up [12].

Figure 1.13 shows the Raman shift of hydrogenated and non-hydrogenated amorphous silicon [13]. Transverse optical (TO) peak with standard wavenumber of 480 cm<sup>-1</sup> is the main peak of amorphous silicon, whose position and full width at half maximum (FWHM) reflect the structural disorder of the amorphous network. Figure 1.14 shows that the TO peak position of ion-implanted amorphous silicon shifts to higher wavenumbers and the FWHM decreases (i.e. broadening of the Raman spectrum), due to thermal annealing, which implies that the structural disorder degree is reduced [14]. Other peaks like transverse acoustic (TA), longitudinal optic (LO) and acoustic (LA) peaks as shown in Figure 1.13, are also determined by the structure of the amorphous silicon network, but will not be detailed here.



Figure 1.13 Raman shift ( $\Delta \omega$ ) of hydrogenated and non-hydrogenated amorphous silicon [13].



Figure 1.14 Annealing effect on the TO peak position (a) and its FWHM (b), for ion-implanted amorphous silicon [14].

## 1.2.5 Spectroscopic Ellipsometry

Another method for thin film characterization is the UV-visible Spectroscopic Ellipsometry (SE), which is mainly used to determine film thickness and optical constants and also applied to characterize composition, crystallinity, roughness, and other material properties associated with a change in optical response.

In principle, ellipsometry measures the change of polarization of the light transmitted or reflected from a thin film. Light can be depicted as an electromagnetic wave traveling through space. Polarization is a property of wave that can oscillate with more than one orientation. Figure 1.15 illustrates a vertically polarized electromagnetic wave of wavelength  $\lambda$  propagating in direction z with electric field E and magnetic field B components oscillating in orthogonal directions.



Figure 1.15 Schematic representation of a vertically polarized electromagnetic wave.

For ellipsometry, the electric field of light is considered. As it is always orthogonal to the propagation direction z, the electric wave can be de decomposed as x- (also called p-from "parallel") and y- (also called s- from "senkrecht" as "perpendicular" in German) components. If the two orthogonal electrical waves are in-phase, the synthesized light is linearly polarized, the orientation is determined by the relative amplitudes of the two components. If the orthogonal waves are  $\pi/2$  out-of-phase and equal in amplitude, the resultant light is circularly polarized. If the amplitudes and phases of the orthogonal waves are arbitrary, it is called elliptical polarization, which is used in ellipsometry. Figure 1.16 illustrates the three types of polarization [16].



Figure 1.16 Combination of two orthogonal electric waves for three types of polarization: (a) linear, (b) circle and (c) elliptical polarization [16].

When an elliptically polarized light interacts with a material, it can be reflected, absorbed and refracted (or transmitted) by the material. Figure 1.17 illustrates a light beam propagating from the air with refractive index  $n_1$  to a material with refractive index  $n_2$ ;  $\theta_i$ ,  $\theta_r$ ,  $\theta_t$  represent the incident, reflected and transmitted angles, respectively. According to law of reflection,

$$\theta_i = \theta_r \,. \tag{1-2}$$

According to Snell's law,

$$n_1 \sin\theta_i = n_2 \sin\theta_t , \qquad (1-3)$$



Figure 1.17 Schematic representation of a light propagating from air to a material, being reflected and refracted.

The complex refractive index  $\tilde{n}$  of a medium determines the propagation of a light in it:

$$\tilde{n} = n + i\kappa \,, \tag{1-4}$$

where the index n describes the phase velocity of the polarized light in the material with respect to the velocity in vacuum c, as written by:

$$v = \frac{c}{n},\tag{1-5}$$

and the extinction coefficient  $\varkappa$  indicates the energy loss degree of the light propagating through the material.

The complex dielectric function of a medium, from another point of view, describes the interaction between the medium and the light, as written by:

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_1 + i\varepsilon_2$$
, (1-6)

where the real part  $\varepsilon_1$  represents the amount of a material becoming polarized when an electric field is applied due to creation of electric dipoles in the material, as illustrated in Figure 1.18; and the imaginary part  $\varepsilon_2$  represents the light absorption by the material.

Figure 1.18 Schematic representation of polarization inside a material induced by an oscillating electric field [17].

The relationship between the complex refractive index and the complex dielectric function is expressed by:

$$\varepsilon(\lambda) = \tilde{n}^2$$
, (1-7)

by combining equations (1-4), (1-6) and (1-7), we have

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_1 = n^2 - \kappa^2 \\ \varepsilon_2 = 2n\kappa \end{cases}, \tag{1-8}$$

The measurement of the change of polarization of the light by ellipsometry relies on the comparison of the amplitude and phase of the reflected polarized light with the ones of incident polarized light, as illustrated in Figure 1.19.





Figure 1.19 Typical ellipsometry configuration, where linearly polarized light is reflected from the sample surface and the polarization change is measured to determine the sample response [18].

Fresnel coefficients [19] describe the intensity fraction of the reflected and refracted (or transmitted) light when an incident polarized light propagates through the interface of two mediums:

$$\begin{cases} r_{s} = \frac{\tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{i} - \tilde{n}_{2}\cos\theta_{t}}{\tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{i} + \tilde{n}_{2}\cos\theta_{t}} \\ t_{s} = \frac{2\tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{i}}{\tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{i} + \tilde{n}_{2}\cos\theta_{t}} \\ r_{p} = \frac{\tilde{n}_{2}\cos\theta_{i} - \tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{t}}{\tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{t} + \tilde{n}_{2}\cos\theta_{i}} \\ t_{s} = \frac{2\tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{i}}{\tilde{n}_{1}\cos\theta_{t} + \tilde{n}_{2}\cos\theta_{i}} \end{cases}$$
(1-9)

where  $r_{s,p}$  represent the reflectance coefficients of s- and p- plane electric waves, respectively, which are the ratios of the reflected electric wave amplitudes; and  $t_{s,p}$  represent the transmittance coefficients of s- and p- plane electric waves, respectively, which are transmitted electric wave amplitudes.

The polarization change in ellipsometry is represented by:

$$\rho = \frac{r_p}{r_s} = \tan(\psi) \, e^{i\Delta},\tag{1-10}$$

where  $\Psi$  is determined by the ratio of absolute values of reflectance coefficients

$$\tan(\psi) = \left| r_p / r_s \right| \,, \tag{1-11}$$

and  $\Delta = \delta_p - \delta_s$  is the phase difference. For a semi-infinite material, the ratio  $\varrho$  is related to the complex dielectric function  $\varepsilon$ :

$$\varepsilon = \sin^2_{\theta_i} + \sin^2_{\theta_i} \tan^2_{\theta_i} [(1-\rho)/(1+\rho)]^2 , \qquad (1-12)$$

After the  $(\Psi, \Delta)$  data are measured, a model is constructed to use the measured data to evaluate the optical properties of the material by adjusting specific fit parameters. For semiconductors and insulators under an electric field, the binding between electrons and nucleus are assumed to be a mass-spring system, where electrons vibrate like damped harmonic oscillators, called Lorentz oscillators, as illustrated in Figure 1.20 [20].



Figure 1.20 Schematic representation of Lorentz dispersion model, assuming that the electron-nuclei is similar to a mass-spring system [20].

The tauc-Lorentz dispersion formula [21] is developed by using Tauc joint density of states and the Lorentz oscillator and often used to model the ellipsometry data of *a*-Si:H thin films. The complex dielectric function is:

$$\widetilde{\varepsilon_{TL}} = \varepsilon_{r,TL} + i(\varepsilon_{i,T} \times \varepsilon_{i,L}), \qquad (1-13)$$

where the imaginary part is given by the product of imaginary part  $\varepsilon_{i,T}$  of Tauc's dielectric function with Lorentz one  $\varepsilon_{i,L}$ . Tauc's dielectric function describes inter-band transitions above the band edge as:

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{i,T}(E > E_g) = A_T \left(\frac{E - E_g}{E}\right)^2, \\ \varepsilon_{i,T}(E \le E_g) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1-14)

where  $A_T$  is the Tauc coefficient, E is the photon energy,  $E_g$  is the optical band gap. The imaginary part of the Lorentz oscillator is given by:

$$\varepsilon_{i,L}(E) = \frac{A_{L} \cdot E_0 \cdot C \cdot E}{\left(E^2 - E_0^2\right)^2 + C^2 \cdot E^2},$$
(1-15)

where  $A_L$  is the strength of the  $\varepsilon_{i,TL}(E)$  peak, *C* is the broadening term of the peak,  $E_0$  is the peak central energy. By combining (1-13), (1-14) and (1-15), the imaginary part of Tauc-Lorentz dielectric function can be expressed as:

$$\varepsilon_{i,TL}(E) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{E} \cdot \frac{A_T A_L E_0 C(E - E_0)^2}{(E^2 - E_0^2)^2 + C^2 E^2} & (E > E_g) \\ 0 & (E \le E_g) \end{cases},$$
(1-16)

Figure 1.21 shows the measurement and the fitting results of *a*-Si:H deposited on *c*-Si wafer with native oxide by phase-modulated ellipsometry from 1.5 to 4.5 eV at an incident angle of 70°. The thickness of native oxide on *c*-Si substrate is fixed at 10 Å. As the oxidation is inevitable to occur on the surface of *a*-Si:H layer, in the model a top layer of  $SiO_2/a$ -Si:H/void mixture was initially added, based on Bruggeman effective-medium approximation [22]. The fitting result shows that the surface of *a*-Si:H is completely oxidized. Note that this measurement was carried out immediately after unloading the sample from the PECVD system at substrate temperature of 150°C, the thickness of grown *a*-Si:H oxide layer is calculated around 3 Å. A series of measurement were carried out for demonstrating that the continuous growth of oxide layer in ambient as a function of time, as listed in Table 1.1.



Figure 1.21 measurement and the fitting results of *a*-Si:H deposited on c-Si wafer with native oxide by a phase-modulated ellipsometry from 1.5 to 4.5 eV with incident angle of  $70^{\circ}$ .

Time	+ 0 hour	+ 19 hours	+ 44 hours
Oxide of a-Si:H (Å)	3±1	10±2	14±2
a-Si:H (Å)	156±2	155±3	154±3
$E_g$ (eV)	$1.65 \pm 0.02$	$1.65 \pm 0.02$	1.66±0.02
Α	191±4	191±6	195±6
$E_{ heta}(\mathrm{eV})$	3.58±0.01	3.58±0.02	3.60±0.02
С	2.10±0.02	2.11±0.02	2.12±0.02
ε(∞)		Fixed at 1.	

Table 1.1 Fitting results of a-Si:H deposited on c-Si with native oxide after exposure to ambient air.

## 1.3 LITHOGRAPHY

The word lithography is derived from ancient Greek "λίθος", lithos in Latin letters, meaning "stone", and "γράφειν", graphein, meaning "to write". In history, it was a method of printing texts from a stone or metal plate onto papers or other materials [23]. In modern semiconductor and integrated circuits (ICs) industry, micro-/nano- lithography technologies are applied to pattern the materials in small feature sizes down to submicron scale, accompanied with thin film deposition and wet/dry etching techniques.

In general, lithography techniques can be classified into two types [24]: (i) mask lithography, which use a pre-designed mask or template to transfer patterns on the substrates, including optical lithography, soft lithography, nanoimprint lithography and extreme ultraviolet (EUV) lithography; (ii) maskless lithography, which fabricates the patterns by in-situ writing without masks, including electron beam lithography, focused ion beam lithography, etc. In this thesis, optical lithography is used to pattern the substrate surface for the guided growth of in-plane SiNWs; electron beam lithography is used to define the electrode for measuring the resistivity of randomly grown in-plane SiNWs.

## 1.3.1 Optical lithography

Optical lithography defines patterns by exposing a light-sensitive resin (called photo-resist) to an ultraviolet (UV) light whose wavelengths range from 193 to 436 nm. The desired patterns are pre-designed on a transparent substrate (e.g. quartz or glass) with metallic opaque features (e.g. chrome) on it, through which the UV light is illuminated to the photo-resist which is spin-coated on the sample surface.

Take AZ5214-E [25] image reversal (IR) photo-resist used in this thesis for example: it is composed of a Novolak resin and Diazonaphthoquinone (DNQ) as photoactive compound (as shown in Figure 1.22), which is same as positive photo-resist. The UV exposure will release nitrogen from DNQ and transform it into a carboxylic acid, which is soluble in the aqueous alkaline solution based on NaOH, KOH, or TMAH (called developer). On the other hand, a baking step (called image reversal baking) after the UV exposure will produce a special crosslinking agent only in the exposed AZ5214-E, making this part of the photo-resist insoluble in developer as well as insensitive to the UV light, while the unexposed areas still behave like a normal unexposed positive photo-resist. After a flood exposure without photo-mask, only the crosslinked areas remain in the developer for positive photo-resist. Figure 1.23 illustrates the process of AZ5214-E as positive and image reversal photo-resist [26]. Also, it shows that the profile of positive photo-resist after development has a positive slope (75-85°), from which the name "positive" is derived. This is because during the exposure process, the UV light is attenuated when propagating through the photo-resist layer due to the absorption by the DNQ, called bulk effect, as shown in Figure 1.23 process 1. This type of positive tone is used as dry etching mask. On the other hand, the profile of IR photo-resist after development has a negative slope, also

called undercut, which favours the lift-off process, as shown in Figure 1.24. A modified method for lift-off process is to introduce a mediated photo-resist layer (LOR for lift-off resist), which has different development rate with the AZ5214E so that the undercut can be formed for ensuring a discontinuous thin film deposition, as shown in Figure 1.25[27]. This method is also called bilayer lift-off.



(a) Novolak resin

(b) DNQ

Figure 1.22 Composition of AZ5214E photo-resist: (a) Novolak resin, (b) Diazonaphthoquinone (DNQ) [26].



Figure 1.23 Process of AZ 5214E as image reversal photo-resist: (1) exposure with photo-mask, (2) reversal bake, (3) flood exposure without mask, (4) development. After the first exposure (1), the image reversal resist would behave as a positive tone resist in the developer [26].



Figure 1.24 Comparison of the lift-off process with positive resist and image reversal resist, which shows that IR resist allows reproducible lift-off of film [26].



Figure 1.25 Bilayer photo-resists for lift-off process.

## 1.3.2 ELECTRON-BEAM LITHOGRAPHY

Electron-beam lithography, as a maskless method, can be used to write patterns directly by activating the chemical transformation of photo-resist by electron, instead of the photon of UV light. As electrons used in e-beam lithography (5-100 keV) have extremely short wavelength, features in atomic dimension are required to diffract the electron beam, so that producing features with high resolution (less than 10 nm) turns to be possible by electron-beam lithography [28]. Figure 1.26 shows a schematic representation of a multi-electron-beam system using a single-column electron lens. The emitted electron source is generated into several separated electron beams are focused on the wafer. Compared with single electron beam (not shown here), multi electron beam favours the separation of electrons in the trajectory to the wafer, which reduces the stochastic blurring due to the single electron beam broadening effect caused by electron-electron interaction.



Figure 1.26 Schematic representation of a multi-electron-beam system using a single-column electron lens.

E

#### 1.4 DRY ETCHING

Dry etching is a process of structuring wafers with reactive species in gaseous phase, whose counterpart is wet etching with liquid etchants. The development of dry etching techniques has made available and reliable the miniaturisation in VLSI industry, in comparison with isotropic wet etching. The interaction between gaseous etchants and target materials (i.e. semiconductors, insulators and metals) can be dominated by (i) chemical reactions on the target surface, (ii) physical process like high energetic ion beam bombardment to the target surface, (iii) or a mixture of chemical and physical processes.

Technically, the gaseous etchant can be produced in glow discharge, beam or ion beam methods. Figure 1.27 lists the categories of dry etching and typical energy and pressure ranges [29]. In this thesis, capacitively-coupled plasma reactive ion etching (CCP-RIE) and reactive ion beam etching (RIBE) are used to fabricate the structured substrates.



Figure 1.27 Categories of dry etching and typical energy and pressure ranges.

#### 1.4.1 REACTIVE ION ETCHING

In general, Reactive ion etching (RIE), as a glow discharge method, is based on a similar process as plasma-assisted deposition (PECVD), where reactive species (ions and/or radicals) are generated due to the electron-impact ionization and dissociation of selected gas precursors fed in the PECVD system. However, in the case of RIE, they react with the target substrate and form volatile products which are pumped away. Figure 1.28 shows a schematic representation of the basic steps of plasma etching [30]: (1) generation of reactive species, (2) diffusion to the substrate surface, (3, 4, 6) adsorption, surface diffusion, desorption of reactive species, (5) chemical reaction between reactive species and substrate, (7) diffusion of volatile reaction products.



Figure 1.28 Schematic representation of basic steps of plasma etching [30].

The etching profile produced by RIE process is influenced by the plasma system configuration [31]. For Si-based materials (Si, SiO<sub>2</sub>, Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> or SiC), fluorine-based gases, such as SF<sub>6</sub> and CHF<sub>3</sub>, can be used as etching precursors [31][32]. Figure 1.29 illustrates the etch profiles of silicon by pure SF<sub>6</sub> RIE and SF<sub>6</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub> RIE. Pure SF<sub>6</sub> RIE is an isotropic plasma etching process which can produce an undercut pattern. In order to obtain vertical sidewalls, CFH<sub>3</sub> is added to SF<sub>6</sub> gas, so that a blocking fluorocarbon layer (C<sub>x</sub>F<sub>y</sub>) [33][34] will be deposited on the substrate surface as well as on the sidewall with different rates; however the layer deposited at the bottom of the substrate will be re-sputtered on the sidewalls by ion beam bombardment, which enables the etching progress. In this thesis, SF<sub>6</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub> RIE is used to etch SiO<sub>2</sub> thin films.



Figure 1.29 Schematic representation of etch profile due to different plasma system configuration: (a) undercut profile by isotropic SF<sub>6</sub> RIE; (b) relatively vertical sidewall profile by anisotropic SF<sub>6</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub> RIE.

## 1.4.2 REACTIVE ION BEAM ETCHING

Ion beam etching (IBE), similar to sputtering, can be described as a physical process where atoms on the target substrate are removed by energetic ion bombardment [35]. The etching directionality is ensured by the ion beam configuration. Argon ions are normally used as etchant, which can etch both the substrates and masks. Reactive ion beam etching (RIBE) is a special type of IBE, in which the ion beam reacts with the target substrate, improving the etching selectivity and etching rate [36]. Figure 1.30 shows the schematic representation of an Ion-beam etching system. The microwave electron cyclotron resonance (ECR) excitation mode [37] is used to generate a high density of ions in the discharge chamber [38]. The grids system screens the plasma and accelerates the ions to eject a collimated ion beam into the etching chamber. This set of multi-level aperture grids is also called ion optics [39]. As the positively charged ions will accumulate on insulating target substrates and repel the following ions, a neutralizer providing electrons is added in front of the grids in the etching chamber, which mainly allows the target surface to be neutral. In this thesis,  $Ar/CH_4/O_2$  RIBE is used to etch ITO thin films.



Figure 1.30 Schematic representation of an Ion-beam etching system [40].

#### 1.4.3 ENDPOINT DETECTION TECHNIQUES

In order to control the etching stop, endpoint detection equipment should be integrated in the dry etching system. In this thesis, laser interferometry and mass spectrometry are used to detect the etching endpoint in RIE and RIBE etchers, respectively.

#### 1.4.3.1 LASER INTERFEROMETRY

Laser interferometry monitors *in-situ* the etching process based on the alternative constructive and destructive interferences of the reflected light. Figure 1.31.a shows the principle of interferometry: a laser light is incident on the sample surface; it propagates through the two transparent layers till the opaque substrate surface; at each interface the laser light is reflected; as the thicknesses of the transparent layers keep changing during the etching process, the reflected laser light from different interfaces will periodically experience constructive and destructive interference (see b), resulting in a sinusoidal change of the reflectance signal intensity (see c). In particular, if there is only one transparent layer on an opaque substrate, after top layer is completely etched, the reflectance signal stops to oscillate because there remains only one gas-substrate interface, as shown in inset picture c(1). If there are multi layers with different refractive index, the signal oscillation period will change after each layer is completely etched; inset picture c(2) shows an example of two different transparent layers on an opaque substrate.

In addition, for a single transparent layer on an opaque substrate, the signal oscillation period  $\Delta$  of sequential constructive and destructive interference is determined by:

$$\Delta = \frac{\lambda}{2\sqrt{n^2 - \sin^2\theta}},\tag{1-17}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the wavelength of laser beam, *n* is the refractive index,  $\theta$  is the incident angle.

The etching depth *d* can be calculated by:

$$d = n\Delta = \frac{n\lambda}{2\sqrt{n^2 - \sin^2\theta}},$$
(1-18)

where n is counts of the oscillation period of the signal.



Figure 1.31 Principle of laser interferometry based on monitoring periodic constructive and destructive interference of the reflected laser light. (a) is from [41], (b) is from [42] and (c) is from [43].

#### 1.4.3.2 MASS SPECTROMETRY

Instead of monitoring the target surface, one may also measure the species injected in the discharge as a result of the etching process. Mass spectrometry is an *in-situ* chemical analysis technique of the etching products by measuring their mass-to-charge ratios. The principle of chemical detection is by dispersing the ionized etching products with different mass-to-charge ratios in an electromagnetic field with varying potentials, as illustrated in Figure 1.32.a. Quadrupole mass filter is a common technique of ionizing the gaseous etching products by a filament and focusing the ions towards the collector through a quadrupole electrode, as shown in Figure 1.32.b.



Figure 1.32 Schematic representation of time-of-flight mass spectrometer dispersing ions having different mass-to-charge ratios (a) [44], and of a quadrupole mass filter (b) [45].

## 1.5 ELECTRON MICROSCOPY

Electron microscopes rely on the electron-sample interaction [46] to image and chemically analyse the samples, depending on the electron energy. Figure 1.33 illustrates the possible emitted photons and charged particles due to electron-sample interaction, including (1) secondary electrons, (2) reflected or backscattered electrons, (3) transmitted electrons, (4) X-ray radiation, (5) Auger electrons, (6) cathodoluminescence radiations and (7) absorbed current. In particular, secondary electrons and/or backscattered electrons are used in imaging bulk samples in scanning electron microscopy (SEM), and transmitted electrons are used for thin film samples in transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Other emitted photons and charged particles can provide supplementary analytical information in either type of microscope.



Figure 1.33 Schematic representation of photon and charged particle emissions from an electronbombarded surface [46].

## 1.6 SUMMARY

In this chapter, the synthesis process of in-plane SiNWs via a solid-liquid-solid mode was firstly presented. Then the techniques used in this thesis are introduced as well as their corresponding principles. The techniques include thin film deposition and characterization techniques, optical and electron-beam lithography, dry etching (reactive ion etching and reactive ion beam etching) and endpoint detection (laser interferometer and mass spectrometer) techniques and the electron microscopes (scanning electron microscope and transmission electron microscope).

#### 1.7 **References**

- G. Lucovsky, P. D. Richard, D. V. Tsu, S. Y. Lin, R. J. Markunas. "Deposition of silicon dioxide and silicon nitride by remote plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition." Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 4(3), 681-688 (1986).
- [2]. P. Roca i Cabarrocas, J. B. Chévrier, J. Huc, A. Lloret, J. Y. Parey, J. P. M. Schmitt. "A fully automated hot - wall multiplasma - monochamber reactor for thin film deposition." Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 9(4): 2331-2341 (1991).
- [3]. A. Fontcuberta i Morral and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Role of hydrogen diffusion on the growth of polymorphous and microcrystalline silicon thin films." The European Physical Journal - Applied Physics 35(03), 165-172 (2006).
- [4]. R. Cariou, Martin Labrune, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Thin crystalline silicon solar cells based on epitaxial films grown at 165 °C by RF-PECVD." Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells 95(8): 2260-2263 (2011).
- [5]. J. L. Vossen and W. Kern. "Thin film processes II". Academic Press (1991): London.
- [6]. J. P. M. Schmitt. "Fundamental mechanisms in silane plasma decompositions and amorphous silicon deposition." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 59-60, Part 2(0): 649-657 (1983).
- [7]. W. van Sark, L. Korte, F. Roca. "Physics and technology of amorphous-crystalline heterostructures silicon solar cells." Springer (2012): Chapter 5, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Deposition techniques and processes involved in the growth of amorphous and microcrystalline silicon thin films." pp: 131-160.
- [8]. J. L. Vossen and W. Kern. "Thin film processes II". Academic Press, 179 (1991) London.
- [9]. J. L. Vossen and Werner Kern. "Thin film processes II". Academic Press, 184 (1991) London.
- [10]. http://www.icmm.csic.es/fis/english/evaporacion\_resistencia.html
- [11]. R. L. McCreery. "Raman Spectroscopy for Chemical Analysis." John Wiley & Sons, Inc. (2000): 2. New York.
- [12]. G. Gouadec and P. Colomban. "Raman Spectroscopy of nanomaterials: How spectra relate to disorder, particle size and mechanical properties." Progress in Crystal Growth and Characterization of Materials 53(1): 1-56 (2007).
- [13]. D. Bermejo and M. Cardona. "Raman scattering in pure and hydrogenated amorphous germanium and silicon." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 32(1-3): 405-419 (1979).
- [14]. W. Sinke, T. Warabisako, M. Miyao, T. Tokuyama, S. Roorda, F. W. Saris. "Transient structural relaxation of amorphous silicon." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 99(2-3): 308-323 (1988).
- [15]. G. Bruno, P. Capezzuto, A. Madan. "Plasma deposition of amorphous silicon-based materials." 108-109 (1995), Academic Press, London. By B. Drévillon, "In situ Studies of the Growth of *a*-Si:H by Spectroellipsometry." Chapter 2-IV, 120-125.
- [16]. HORIBA Jobin Yvon SAS. "Phase Modulation Ellipsometry Basics." 2007.
- [17]. http://www.jawoollam.com/dielectric\_function.html
- [18]. http://www.jawoollam.com/tutorial\_4.html
- [19]. H. G. Tompkins, E. A. Irene. "Handbook of ellipsometry." 67-80 (2005) Springer.
- [20]. Horiba Jobin Yvon, Technical note, "Lorentz Dispersion Model".
- [21]. Horiba Jobin Yvon, Technical note, "Tauc-Lorentz Dispersion Formula".
- [22]. D. E. Aspnes, J. B. Theeten, F. Hottier. "Investigation of effective-medium models of microscopic surface roughness by spectroscopic ellipsometry." Physical Review B 20(8): 3292-3302 (1979).
- [23]. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lithography#Microlithography\_and\_nanolithography

- [24]. A. Pimpin, W. Srituravanich. "Reviews on Micro and Nanolithography Techniques and their Applications." Engineering Journal 16(1): 37-55 (2002)
- [25]. MicroChemicals. Product Data Sheet: "AZ 5214E Image Reversal Photoresist".
- [26]. MicroChemicals. "Photolithography: Theory and Application of Photoresists, Etchants and Solvetns". (2012)
- [27]. MicroChemicals. "LORTM Lift-Off Resist".
- [28]. Harry J. Levinson. "Principles of Lithography. Third edition". SPIE Press (2010): 465-474. Washington.
- [29]. J. L. Vossen, W. Kern. "Thin Film Processes II". Academic Press, 681 (1991) London.
- [30]. J. L. Vossen, W. Kern. "Thin Film Processes II". Academic Press, 678 (1991) London.
- [31]. H. Jansen, H. Gardeniers, M. de Boer, M. Elwenspoek, J. Fluitman . "A survey on the reactive ion etching of silicon in microtechnology." Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering 6(1): 14-28 (1996).
- [32]. H. Jansen, M. de Boer, R. Legtenberg. "The black silicon method: a universal method for determining the parameter setting of a fluorine-based reactive ion etcher in deep silicon trench etching with profile control." Journal of Micromechanics and Microengineering 5(2): 115 (1995).
- [33]. T. E. F. M Standaert, C. Hedlund, E. A. Joseph, G. S. Oehrlein, T. J. Dalton. "Role of fluorocarbon film formation in the etching of silicon, silicon dioxide, silicon nitride, and amorphous hydrogenated silicon carbide." Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 22(1): 53-60 (2004).
- [34]. G. S. Ochrlein, Y. Zhang, D. Vender, M. Haverlag. "Fluorocarbon high-density plasmas. I. Fluorocarbon film deposition and etching using CF4 and CHF3." Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 12(2): 323-332 (1994).
- [35]. P. G. Glöersen. "Ion-beam etching." Journal of Vacuum Science & amp; Technology 12(1): 28-35 (1975).
- [36]. A. Roosmalen, J. Baggerman, S. Brader. "Dry Etching for VLSI". Springer, 90 (1991) New York.
- [37]. J. Cuomo, S. Rossnagel, J. Kaufman. "Handbook of ion beam processing technology." Noyes Publications, 21-26 (1989) New Jersey.
- [38]. J. Asmussen. "Electron cyclotron resonance microwave discharges for etching and thin film deposition." Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 7(3): 883-893 (1989).
- [39]. J. L. Vossen, W. Kern. "Thin Film Processes II". Academic Press, 753 (1991) London.
- [40]. http://www.ionbeammilling.com/about\_the\_ion\_milling\_process
- [41]. A. Holland. "General training manual for Jobin Yvon Horiba thin film group end point detection equipement".
- [42]. http://www.phys.uconn.edu/~gibson/Notes/Section5\_2/Sec5\_2.htm
- [43]. A. Roosmalen, J. Baggerman, S. Brader. "Dry Etching for VLSI". Springer, 148 (1991) New York.
- [44]. P. E. Miller, M. B. Denton. "The quadrupole mass filter: Basic operating concepts." Journal of Chemical Education **63**(7): 617 (1986).
- [45]. A. Roosmalen, J. Baggerman, S. Brader. "Dry Etching for VLSI". Springer, 149 (1991) New York.
- [46]. I. M. Watt. "The principles and practice of electron microscopy second edition". Cambridge university press, 32-49 (1997) Cambridge.

# 2 INDIUM CATALYST: FROM THIN FILM TO NANOPARTICLES

## CONTENTS

2.1	Metal catalysts for growing semiconductor nanowires		
2.2	2 Thin film growth modes		
2.3	3 Evaporated indium thin films		53
	2.3.1	Microstructure of evaporated indium thin films	53
	2.3.2	H <sub>2</sub> plasma reduction for the a-Si:H/indium contact	55
	2.3.3	Effect of substrate temperature on the reduction of indium oxide	60
	2.3.4	Effects of the substrate properties on indium NPs redistribution	64
<ul><li>2.3.4.1 Indium NPs coalescing</li><li>2.3.4.2 Indium NPs coalescing</li><li>2.3.4.3 Grain-boundary wettin</li></ul>		.1 Indium NPs coalescing on microcrystalline Si substrates	64
		.2 Indium NPs coalescing on polycrystalline Al-doped ZnO substrate	s 66
		.3 Grain-boundary wetting induced coalescing mechanism	67
	2.3.5	Conclusion	68
2.4	Indium nanoparticles formation on sputtered ITO thin films		70
	2.4.1	Mechanism of indium NPs formation on ITO	71
	2.4.2	Redistribution of Indium NPs on indium/ITO bilayers	79
	2.4.3	Phase transition of ITO thin films upon heating	79
	2.4.4	ITO reduction under various H2 plasma conditions	82
	2.4.5	Conclusion	87
2.5	Summary and perspectives		87
2.6	Refe	rences	89

In the Chapter 1, the synthesis of in-plane solid-liquid-solid SiNWs based on thin film deposition techniques was introduced, which can be viewed as producing onedimensional (1-D) nanostructures out of thin films. The interaction between liquid In nanoparticles and *a*-Si:H thin films results in the production of the in-plane silicon nanowires. In this chapter, metal catalysts for the growth of semiconductor nanowires (NWs) are first reviewed, then thin film growth modes are introduced. The two types of source for indium (In) catalyst (i.e. evaporated In and sputtered ITO thin films) have different microstructural and chemical properties, which lead to different NPs formation mechanisms under similar H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment on heated substrates. Indium NP formation from evaporated In and sputtered ITO thin films are systematically investigated; the gained understanding will be the basis for developing strategies for large-scale organising in-plane SiNWs.

#### 2.1 METAL CATALYSTS FOR GROWING SEMICONDUCTOR NANOWIRES

Semiconductor nanowires can be obtained via two main methods:

**Top-down method** is based on plasma and/or chemical etching process for tailoring bulk semiconductors into lateral nanowire arrays lying on them or into vertical nanowire arrays standing on them, which is enabled by the development of high resolution lithography techniques (e.g. electron-beam lithography and nanoimprint lithography, etc.) and anisotropic plasma etching techniques (e.g. ICP-RIE, R/IBE, etc.). Using this method, high performance lateral SiNWFETs on SOI have been fabricated by plasma etching method [1]. Moreover, metal-assisted (e.g. Ag, etc.) solution-based chemical etching has proved itself as a high throughput way for SiNW arrays and in application of photovoltaic [2]-[4].

**Bottom-up method** relies on a growth process during which a NW is synthesized by bringing a precursor in contact with a catalyst nanoparticle. The precursors can be a gas (e.g. SiCl<sub>4</sub> or SiI<sub>2</sub> [5][6], SiH<sub>4</sub> [7], GeH<sub>4</sub> [8] etc.), while they are also possible in liquid (e.g. diphenylsilane ( $C_{12}H_{10}Si_2H_6$ ) [9], phenyl-GeCl<sub>3</sub> ( $C_6H_5GeCl_3$ ) [10], etc.) or even in solid phase (e.g. *a*-Si:H) [11][12]. In particular of the source gases, they can be dissociated into various specices or be directly evaporated on a substrate. The growth of NWs can take place during the deposition from vapour phase or after the deposition (i.e. solid phase), which is compatible with the thin film deposition techniques. In contrast to the top-down method, the grown NWs are mostly produced with the help of metal NPs as medium for collecting and rearranging the atomic semiconductor atoms.

The metal element can be the constituent of compound NWs such as III-V NWs (e.g. Ga for GaAs NWs, In for InP NWs, etc.) grown by MOVPE [13]-[16] or MBE [17]-[19], ITO NWs with In as catalyst by Direct-Current (DC) sputtering[20], electron beam evaporation [21] or MBE [22], or ZnO NWs catalysed by Zn [23], which is a self-catalytic growth.

However, in most cases of group IV NWs (i.e. Si, Ge, and SiGe [24], etc.), a foreign metal catalyst is required. Commonly, the metals are in the liquid phase (vapourliquid-solid (VLS) method) [25], from which the vapour-solid-solid (VSS) method is derived (i.s. solid metals have also been reported to catalyse the NWs growth [25]-[29]). Many metals have been used for NWs growth, which consists of two types based on the different metal-semiconductor interactions (take Si for instance): 1) forming a metal-Si eutectic alloy as growth medium, like Au [30] as the most popular metal in VLS method, and various low melting point metals such as Al [31][32], In [11][12], Sn [33][34], Ga [35][36], Bi [37], etc.; 2) forming metal silicide as growth medium, in most cases of transition metals like Ni [38], Ti [39], Pt [40], Fe [41], etc.

Another topic on metal catalyst is the techniques used for obtaining NPs, which can be catalogued as:

- I. Forming NPs by annealing metal thin films. This is the most common way of forming metal NPs. Take Au on Si (111) for instance, the size of the NPs can be controlled by the thickness of the thin films. However the redistribution of Au NPs can be achieved by the subsequent annealing as liquid Au migrates and coarsens due to its high surface mobility at high temperature [42].
- II. Depositing metal NPs directly on the substrates. For example, Au colloid [43] is used for spraying Au NPs on the substrate. This method is supposed to control the size and density defined by the colloid, but only to a certain degree. Colloidal gold is a sol or colloidal suspension of sub-micrometre-size nanoparticles of gold in an aqueous solution [44].
- III. Patterning the metal catalyst for selective area growth. In order to control the distribution of NPs, electron-beam or nanoimprint lithography can be used to define the position of the deposited metal. This method is especially favourable in growing vertical NWs array, which is known as selective area growth [45].
- IV. Forming NPs on the corresponding metal oxide thin film by H<sub>2</sub> plasma. Besides the techniques above, a novel method is developed to form metal NPs on the surface of the corresponding oxide thin film, the most successful case is In NPs formation on ITO [46][47] or indium oxide [48]. H<sub>2</sub> plasma is employed to reduce the oxide on the substrate surface. Understanding the mechanism of this nanoparticle formation process and thus developing this technique for a better control, is still in progress.

In this thesis, indium is selected as the catalyst for the growth of in-plane SiNWs, since it is till now the most practical metal candidate according to LPICM experience (see 3.5). Indeed, transition metals like Au or other low melting point metals like Sn lead to porr NW morphologies, as discussed in Chapter 3.

As mentioned in Chapter 1, both evaporated In thin films and RF-magnetron sputtered ITO can be used for the In NPs formation. As the thin film properties depend on the deposition techniques and conditions, the thin film growth modes are introduced below.

## 2.2 Thin film growth modes

Depending on the bonding behaviour between the atomic precursors and the substrate surfaces, thin film formation can be classified into three primary modes [49][50], as illustrated in Figure 2.1.

- I. Volmer-Weber (VW) or island growth mode occurs when the atoms or molecules of the deposit are more strongly bonded to each other than to the substrate. Slow atomic or molecular surface diffusion also permits the island formation. This growth mode dominates the systems of metals depositing on insulators.
- II. **Frank-van der Merwe (FM)** or layer-by-layer growth mode, occurs when the atoms or molecules of the deposit tend to bind to the substrate rather than to each other. Fast atomic or molecular diffusion also favours the layer by layer growth. This growth mode is observed in some metal-metal systems, and in semiconductor growth on semiconductors.
- III. Stranski-Krastanov (SK) or layer plus island mode, which is a mixed growth mode, describes the phenomenon that after forming the first or a few monolayers, subsequent film formation shifts to the islands mode. It occurs especially in cases when the deposited thin film-substrate interface energy is high (permitting the initial layer-by-layer growth) while the strain energy of the thin film is also high (favouring the islands formation to minimize the strain energy).



Figure 2.1 Primary thin film growth modes: (a) Volmer-Weber (VW) or island mode; (b) Frank-van der Merwe (FM) or layer-by-layer mode; (c) Stranski-Krastanov (SK) or layer-plus-island mode. Each mode is shown for several different amounts of surface coverage,  $\Theta$ . [49]

## 2.3 EVAPORATED INDIUM THIN FILMS

Evaporated In thin films are one choice for providing In NPs for growing in-plane SiNWs. In order to obtain *a*-Si:H/In contact, a  $H_2$  plasma treatment should be carried out to reduce the surface oxide before *a*-Si:H coating. In this section, the evolution of evaporated In thin films treated by  $H_2$  plasma on various substrates and at different substrate temperatures is investigated, in order to understand their effects on In NPs formation.

## 2.3.1 MICROSTRUCTURE OF EVAPORATED INDIUM THIN FILMS

Indium thin films are deposited on c-Si substrates with native oxide by thermal evaporation. This results in island-like films, corresponding to the **VW growth mode**. Figure 2.2 shows SEM images revealing the thickness dependence of the microstructure of the films, with a nominal thickness of ~5 nm in (a to c) and ~50 nm in (d to f), respectively. The island growth mode is clearly demonstrated by the microstructure evolution from ~5 nm to ~50 nm thin films.

Furthermore, Figure 2.3 shows the SEM images of nominal  $\sim$ 5 nm and  $\sim$ 50 nm In thin films deposited on three substrates: sputtered SiN<sub>x</sub>, SiC<sub>x</sub> and ZnO<sub>x</sub>:Al (i.e. AZO). Based on these results, we assume that substrate material dependence of In thin film deposition can be omitted for the moment, and comparable to the deposition on *c*-Si wafer with native oxide.



Figure 2.2 SEM images showing the microstructures of indium thin films evaporated on Si wafer with native oxide: (a-c) SEM images of In thin film with nominal thickness of  $\sim 5$  nm, tilt angle of 75° in (c); (d-f) SEM images of In thin film with nominal thickness of  $\sim 50$  nm, tilt angle of 75° in (f).



Figure 2.3 SEM images of indium thin films evaporated on different substrates: room temperature sputtered  $SiN_x$ ,  $SiC_x$ , and  $ZnO_x$ :Al (AZO).

#### 2.3.2 $H_2$ plasma reduction for the a-SI:H/indium contact

In contrast with Au,  $H_2$  plasma treatment on In thin films is a requirement before introducing Si precursors for the SiNWs growth [33]. Figure 2.4 shows the SEM images of failure of SiNWs growth without  $H_2$  plasma treatment (only with *a*-Si:H coating and

annealing), with no chemical reaction between *a*-Si:H coating layer and the In thin film beneath it.



Figure 2.4 Failure of SiNW growth without  $H_2$  plasma treatment, showing that the In thin film was coated by an *a*-Si:H layer with no reaction, note that the substrate is Si wafer with native oxide.

It is known that a self-passivating layer of native oxide can form on the surface of In thin film even at room temperature [51]. As In thin films are exposed to air after the evaporation, this self-passivation process is quite probable. In addition, the surface oxidation might occur during the pumping stage in the PECVD system as the substrate heater is set at 160°C. TEM analysis of the evaporated In films with EELS analysis confirms the oxidation of the In. Figure 2.5 provides the TEM-EELS analysis of a typical island-like In thin film evaporated on a  $Si_3N_4$  membrane. Different electron diffraction patterns were observed in the centre and two sides of In island surface. Further nano-scale EELS analysis shows that the larger peaks around 540 eV (contributed by oxygen) in the spectrum were obtained on the left and right side of surface, compared to the centre part, indicating that the surface of the In islands is oxidized. Thus we can conclude that the native oxide on the In surface prevents the reaction between In and *a*-Si:H. Therefore, a H<sub>2</sub> plasma reducing process, as expressed in (2-1), is necessary for enabling the contact between In and *a*-Si:H.

$$InO_{x} + H \rightarrow In + H_{2}O(g), \qquad (2-1)$$

where g represents that  $H_2O$  is in vapour phase as substrate temperature is set at ~150°C, above its boiling point of 100°C.

Furthermore, a typical H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment is carried out on the heated substrates above the In melting point 157°C (e.g. 350°C). With the purpose of investigating the substrate heating contribution to the H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction, before depositing *a*-Si:H, In thin films of different thicknesses were annealed at 350°C for 5 mins in 100 sccm, 400 mTorr H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Note that this is the same parameter set of the typical H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment, except for the absence of plasma (no RF power). The results of SiNWs growth (with ~20 nm *a*-Si:H) are shown in Figure 2.6. For In thin films of ~5 nm, small Si crystals were produced, as shown in (a, b), this means that substrate heating it-self can improve the In-*a*-Si:H contact. Interestingly, numerous SiNWs were grown in the case of thicker In thin films (~50 nm), as shown in (f). Furthermore, it is found that the In surface turned to be rough, as shown in (d, e). A direct impression is that  $H_2$  could also reduce the indium oxides on heated substrates. However, the broken surface shell of the smaller In islands highlighted in (e) indicates that most of the surface oxide survived the annealing treatment in  $H_2$  atmosphere.

For understanding this phenomenon, a longer and intensive annealing test was carried out. Figure 2.7 shows that after 350°C annealing in the  $Ar/H_2$  atmosphere of 400 mbar for 30 mins, the shells of surface oxide were broken and left on the substrate, with the disappearance of pure In, which must have been evaporated due to the high temperature annealing.

Thus, it is clarified that only the  $H_2$  plasma can reduce indium oxide under our experiment conditions. However, the surface oxide shell breaking process still remains unclear, so next step is to study the influence of substrate temperature during  $H_2$  plasma treatment.


Figure 2.5 TEM-EELS analysis of In thin films: (a) TEM image of a typical In nanoparticle; (b), (d), (f) show the nano-scale electron diffraction patterns of the left, centre and right part of the indium nanoparticle, respectively. (c), (e), (g) show the chemical analysis by nano-scale EELS of the left surface, centre, and right surface, respectively. The higher contributions of oxygen element are confirmed on the left and right surface of the In nanoparticle, due to the larger O-K edge compared to the one in the central part. Also different electron diffraction patterns are observed, indicating different chemical compositions.



Figure 2.6 Contribution of substrate heating to the growth of SiNWs: (a)~5 nm indium thin film after annealing on heated substrate. After all the steps for SiNWs growth, small Si crystals were produced as shown in (b). (c) as-deposited ~50 nm In thin film before annealing, showing smooth surface; (d, e) ~50 nm In thin film after annealing, with roughened surface and some small NPs with broken surface; (f) for ~50 nm In thin film after annealing, numerous SiNWs were grown, instead of small Si crystals. Note that the substrate is a *c*-Si wafer with native oxide.



Figure 2.7 SEM images of an indium thin film in nominal thickness of  $\sim$ 50 nm after annealing at 350°C in H<sub>2</sub>/Ar mixture gas at 400 mbar for 30 mins. Note that the substrate is Si wafer with native oxide.

## 2.3.3 EFFECT OF SUBSTRATE TEMPERATURE ON THE REDUCTION OF INDIUM OXIDE

In principle, the substrate temperature is a critical parameter in thin film processing techniques. It activates the surface chemical reactions (e.g. reactive ion etching of ITO by  $CH_4/H_2$  gas mixture above 60°C [52]), determines the thin film optical, structural and electrical properties (e.g. ion beam sputtered ITO at different substrate temperatures [53]), affects the deposition rate (e.g. *a*-Si:H deposition in PECVD system [54]), the etching rate [52][55][56], and etching selectivity [57]-[61] etc. Besides, it is also necessary to operate certain III-V plasma etching processes on heated substrates for volatizing chemical etchants (e.g. fluoride or chloride plasma above 150°C [62]).

Thus, we studied the effect of the substrate temperature on  $H_2$  plasma reduction process (i.e. at different temperatures of 150°C, 250°C and 350°C).

In the case of a 5 nm In thin film, as shown in Figure 2.8, we found that there is almost no redistribution of In NPs due to the H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment (100 sccm, 400 mTorr, 5 watts, 5 mins) at three different substrate temperatures, as shown in (a), (c), and (e). After ~20 nm *a*-Si:H coating and annealing at 450°C, only small Si crystals were produced from the In thin film treated by H<sub>2</sub> plasma at 150°C, as shown in (b), indicating that the H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction is not sufficient. Also, this phenomenon is quite similar to the case of growth failure of SiNWs from In thin film treated by thermal annealing in H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere instead of H<sub>2</sub> plasma as shown in Figure 2.6 (b). However, the difference between H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatments at 250°C and 350°C (above melting point of In) can be neglected, as shown in (d) and (f).

In the case of  $\sim 50$  nm In thin film, as shown in Figure 2.9, after the same H<sub>2</sub> plasma exposure, no redistribution of In NPs was observed, which is in agreement with the case of  $\sim 5$  nm In thin film. However, in contrast to  $\sim 5$  nm thin film, after  $\sim 20$  nm *a*-Si:H

coating and annealing at 450°C, SiNWs were successfully grown from In thin film treated by H<sub>2</sub> plasma at 150°C, as shown in (b). This result is similar to the case of SiNWs growth from In thin film treated by thermal annealing at 350°C in H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere instead of H<sub>2</sub> plasma as shown in Figure 2.6 (f). Another important result is the change in the morphology of the In thin films. Indeed, In thin films after H<sub>2</sub> plasma on substrates heated at 250°C and 350 °C turned to be spherical after solidification (i.e. phase transition from liquid back to solid), as shown in Figure 2.9 (c) and (e), in comparison with the island-like In thin film by H<sub>2</sub> plasma at 150°C (below the melting point of In) as shown in (a). As spheres have the lowest **surface-area-to-volume ratio** (the value is 4.8 for for unite volume [63]). Assuming that the volume loss of In thin film can be omitted, this morphology evolution can be explained by the In surface energy minimization induced by thermal annealing, as the surface energy positively correlates with the surface area [64].

In addition, the thermal annealing-induced oxide shell roughening and breaking phenomenon in 2.3.2 (see Figure 2.6.d and e, and Figure 2.7) can be explained by the phase transition-induced indium reshaping, as illustrated in Figure 2.15 (page 69). Due to the annealing above the In melting temperature, the core of the solid island-like In NP starts to become a liquid spherical cap (see 3.3), however this process is inevitably constrained by the solid oxide shell. The oxide shell itself gets wrinkled or even broken caused by this core/shell interplay during the In phase transition. This can explain NW growth on large indium droplets without  $H_2$  plasma.



Figure 2.8 H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment (100 sccm, 400 mTorr, 5 watts, 5 mins) of 5 nm In film on *e*-Si substrate with their native oxides at different substrate temperatures (a, c, e) and the corresponding results of SiNWs growth (after ~20 nm *a*-Si:H coating and annealing at 450°C) from indium pads of ~5 nm thick (b, d, f).



Figure 2.9 H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment (100 sccm, 400 mTorr, 5 watts, 5 mins) of 50 nm indium film on  $\epsilon$ -Si substrate with their native oxides at different substrate temperatures (a, c, e) and the corresponding results of SiNWs growth (after ~20 nm a-Si:H coating and annealing at 450°C) from In pads in thickness of ~50 nm (b, d, f).

Table 2.1 summarizes the results of In-*a*-Si:H interaction after the two treatments on the In thin films: (1) annealing In thin films at  $350^{\circ}$ C in H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere for 5 mins

without plasma, as shown in Figure 2.6; (2)  $H_2$  plasma exposure to In thin films at 150°C for 5 mins, as shown in Figure 2.8 and Figure 2.9. For both cases of ~5 nm In thin film, only Si crystals were obtained but not nanowire growth, however SiNWs growth were successful in the cases of ~50 nm In thin film. This gives insight that there exists a size effect on the *a*-Si:H/In interaction. It is known that the native indium oxide formation is a self-passivation process, which means that the oxidation process cannot propagate deep inside the In thin films, hence the thickness of surface oxide shell does not vary much for In thin films of different thicknesses. Hence, thicker In thin films have higher **core-to-shell volume ratio**, where **core** and **shell** represent the In inside and the surface native indium oxide layer, respectively. In thin films with high core/shell ratio favour the breaking of the oxide shell and therefore are more favourable for building up the In-*a*-Si:H contact required for SiNW growth under the circumstance of insufficient reduction of surface oxide.

Thin film treatment	Annealing at 350°C in H <sub>2</sub> atmosphere without plasma for 5 mins <sup>1</sup>	H <sub>2</sub> plasma at 150°C substrate temperature for 5 mins <sup>2</sup>
~5 nm In	Si crystals	Si crystals
$\sim 50 \text{ nm In}$	SiNWs	SiNWs

Table 2.1 Summary of In-a-Si:H interaction after two different In thin film treatments

# 2.3.4 EFFECTS OF THE SUBSTRATE PROPERTIES ON INDIUM NPS REDISTRIBUTION

As concluded above, there is no evolution of the size and density of In NPs by heating the *c*-Si wafer with native oxide at various temperatures from 150°C to 350°C. However, two cases of In NPs coalescence were observed during a H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment, which provide us insight on the effect of substrate properties on In NPs redistribution.

## 2.3.4.1 INDIUM NPS COALESCING ON MICROCRYSTALLINE SI SUBSTRATES

Indium with a nominal thickness of 5 nm was evaporated on a microcrystalline silicon ( $\mu c$ -Si:H) thin film (100 sccm 1.9 Torr of H<sub>2</sub>, 50 mTorr 2 sccm of SiH<sub>4</sub>, 20W, T<sub>sub</sub>=150°C, 5 mins). After our standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment (100 sccm, 400 mTorr, 5 W, T<sub>sub</sub>=300°C, 5 mins), we observe a strong coalescence of In NPs, as shown in Figure 2.10.a, b, c, d. However no crystalline silicon nanowire was observed. Spectroscopic Ellipsometry characterization shows that *c*-Si is the dominant fraction in the thin film, as shown in Figure 2.11. A control group of  $\mu c$ -Si:H coating on the same In thin film was annealed in the same batch but also in this case no Si crystallization events occurred, as seen in Figure 2.10.e, f. Therefore, for both types of In/ $\mu c$ -Si:H bilayer structures, the chemical interaction between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Figure 2.6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Figure 2.8 and Figure 2.9

liquid In and the amorphous silicon phase (27%) in the  $\mu c$ -Si:H film can be omitted. Therefore, the root cause of liquid In diffusing and coalescing on  $\mu c$ -Si:H should not be the *a*-Si:H element on the substrate. The possible reason should be other properties of the  $\mu c$ -Si:H substrate, which still remains unclear.



Figure 2.10 In NPs diffusing and coalescing on a hydrogenated microcrystalline silicon ( $\mu c$ -Si:H) thin film deposited on *c*-Si wafers with native oxide: (a, b, c, d) SEM images showing the coalescing behaviour of In NPs on  $\mu c$ -Si:H; (e, f) SEM images of control group of In NPs coated with the same  $\mu c$ -Si:H thin film, with no coalescence.



Figure 2.11 Fitting of the imaginary part of the pseudo-dielectric function  $\varepsilon_i$  measured by Spectroscopic Ellipsometry for a  $\mu c$ -Si:H thin film deposited on a c-Si wafer with native oxide. Fitting model is from [65].

#### 2.3.4.2 INDIUM NPS COALESCING ON POLYCRYSTALLINE AL-DOPED ZNO SUBSTRATES

A coalescing phenomenon quite similar to the liquid In (thin film in thickness of  $\sim$ 50 nm) coalescing on  $\mu c$ -Si:H (see Figure 2.10) was observed occasionally when a standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment was applied to evaporated In on RT-sputtered Al-doped ZnO (AZO), as shown in Figure 2.12. Assuming that no Si material contaminates the AZO substrate, it is the AZO substrate itself which should provide the driving force for the liquid In diffusing and coalescing on AZO.



Figure 2.12 In NPs diffusing and coalescing on Al-doped ZnO (AZO) substrate.

#### 2.3.4.3 GRAIN-BOUNDARY WETTING INDUCED COALESCING MECHANISM

The similarity of liquid In diffusing and coalescing phenomena on  $\mu c$ -Si:H and AZO substrates can be related to similar features in solid surface properties. It is known that a liquid can spontaneously move on a substrate with a thermal or chemical gradient as driving force (see 3.1.2).

In the case of a H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment on heated substrates, given that: 1) substrate heating is isotropic; 2) chemical reactions between liquid In and the substrates can be ignored; it can be deduced that the surfaces of  $\mu c$ -Si:H and AZO must have a certain chemical gradient due to their intrinsic properties, and the most probable one is the presence of grain boundaries (GB) which provide excess free energy per unit area with respect to an homogeneous surface [66].Thus liquid In prefers to wet the GBs on these two substrates rather than the grains with relatively low surface free energy. Note that like ITO thin film<sup>3</sup>, the RT-sputtered AZO can also experience phase transition from amorphous to polycrystalline on heated substrate [67].

As a matter of fact, the grain boundary wetting (GBW) or GB penetrating is a hot topic in the field of liquid metal embrittlement (LME) induced structural fracture [68]-[70]. This type of behaviour was studied experimentally (e.g. liquid Ga on Al [71]-[73]) and theoretically [74]-[77]. Figure 2.13 shows an example of liquid metal wetting on GB. A continuous penetration and accumulation of liquid Ga along the grain boundary of an Al bicrystal was observed *in-situ* by synchrotron radiation X-ray microradiography [73]. Based on the GBW mechanism [77], the liquid In coalescing process is illustrated in Figure 2.14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The phase transition by substrate annealing is discussed later in detail in 2.4.3.

This mechanism will be used to understand In NPs formation on ITO sidewalls (see 4.2.2), which enables a reproducible positioning of In NPs for self-organizing the in-plane SiNWs.



Figure 2.13 An example of liquid gallium wetting on an allumium GB: (a) continuous penetration an thickening of liquid Ga along the grain boundary of an Al bicrystal; (b) schematic of the Al bicrystal in contact with the liquid Ga [73].



Figure 2.14 Schematic representation of the profile of a Mullins groove with two grains and a grain boundary [74]: as a surface energy gradient exists on such kind of a solid surface, liquid In tends to diffuse from low surface energy sites  $(\gamma_{sl})$  to higher ones  $(\gamma_{GB}^+)$ , which results in the coalescence at the grain boundary.

#### 2.3.5 CONCLUSION

Based on the analysis above, the process of  $H_2$  plasma on heated substrates is schematically illustrated in Figure 2.15.

Generally speaking, in the case of an evaporated In thin film,  $H_2$  plasma reduces its native surface oxide, which enables the *a*-Si:H/In contact between In and *a*-Si:H for the SiNWs growth. An efficient  $H_2$  plasma treatment needs to be operated on a heated substrate (e.g. at nominal 350°C). At such temperature the In NPs experience a morphology evolution during the phase transition: from solid islands based on VW growth mode to liquid spherical-caps after removing the surface oxide (above its melting point), and turn to be solid spheres by solidification due to the surface energy minimization. At low substrate temperature (e.g. at  $150^{\circ}$ C), the reduction of indium oxide by H<sub>2</sub> plasma is less efficient. However the substrate temperature and heating time should be moderate, as intensive annealing can cause a loss of In. Size effect of In islands was also observed, as In in the core can wrinkle or even break the oxide shell during the phase transition during substrate annealing process, which also makes In/*a*-Si:H contact available, however this method is not recommended for ultrathin In thin film considering the Core/Shell ratio and interplay.

Finally, no obvious redistribution of In NPs on SiO<sub>2</sub> (a substrate with relatively homogeneous surface chemistry) was observed after  $H_2$  plasma at different temperatures. However, it turns to be possible on micro/poly-crystalline substrates based on grain boundary wetting kinetics, even though this approach still remains uncontrolled.



Figure 2.15 Illustration of surface oxide reduction of evaporated In thin film by  $H_2$  plasma coupled with substrate annealing.

## 2.4 INDIUM NANOPARTICLES FORMATION ON SPUTTERED ITO THIN FILMS

Forming In NPs on its oxide thin film is another route for obtaining In NPs [46]-[48]. Indeed, the oxygen on ITO<sup>4</sup> surface is reduced by H<sub>2</sub> plasma on heated substrates [52] and In atoms are released and form In NPs<sup>5</sup>, as shown in Figure 2.16. However, as shown in (c) and (d), In NPs are randomly formed with uncontrolled sizes and density (i.e. broad NPs distribution), which is detrimental for the following SiNWs growth and applications (see 4.2.2). In order to control the In NPs distribution, the mechanism of In NPs formation on ITO is firstly investigated, based on which a method of controlling the In NPs distribution is proposed. In the following, the crystallization of ITO and the effects of H<sub>2</sub> plasma parameters are discussed.



Figure 2.16 In NPs formation on ITO surface: (a, b) schematic of In NPs forming on ITO surface; (c, d) SEM images of In NPs formed on ITO surface with a broad distribution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Without notation, the ITO thin films are deposited at room temperature by RF magnetron sputtering.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> To be precise, a NP formed on an ITO surface is a composition of In and Sn. Our EDX measurement reveals it as an In-rich In-Sn alloy with 11.9% atomic fraction of Sn [78], which is in liquid phase above ~140°C [79] (lower than the indium melting point). Therefore, we simply consider this In-rich In-Sn alloy NPs as In NPs, and do not consider the Sn contribution to the In NPs formation on ITO surface. Further studies on the differences between these two types of NPs and this contribution to the in-plane SiNWs growth and electrical properties are certainly interesting but out of the scope here.

#### 2.4.1 MECHANISM OF INDIUM NPS FORMATION ON ITO

In contrast with evaporated In thin films, the formation of In NPs on ITO is a **growth process** based on the reduction of ITO by a  $H_2$  plasma. In order to understand the In NPs formation mechanism on ITO substrate, substrate heating and plasma reducing effects are considered, as in the case of evaporated In thin films.

#### 2.4.1.1 SUBSTRATE TEMPERATURE DEPENDENCE OF INDIUM NPS FORMATION

In NPs formation on a ITO surface was carried out thanks to a H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment (400 mTorr, 100 sccm, 5W, 5 mins) at different substrate temperatures, as shown in Figure 2.17. No In NPs were formed at  $T_{sub}=200^{\circ}$ C, however the ITO surface was roughened (see image b), implying the H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction is activated. From  $T_{sub}=300^{\circ}$ C to 500°C, the density of In NPs decreases while the size increases.

Mohri *et al.* studied the CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> plasma etching to ITO thin films [52]: (1) the etch rate of ITO thin film by CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> increases when the substrate temperature arises; (2) pure CH<sub>4</sub> plasma cannot etch ITO and results in the deposition of carbon film. The authors mentioned that hydrogen reduces oxygen in the thin films first and then In and Sn get volatile by reacting with CH<sub>3</sub> species. Therefore, the oxygen reduction process by H<sub>2</sub> plasma has a positive correlation with substrate temperature, which is also in agreement with the conclusion from evaporated In thin film study (see 2.3.5). This means that more In atoms are released from ITO surface under H<sub>2</sub> plasma at higher substrate temperatures.

However, the mechanism of In NPs formation from the released atoms is still unclear. Of course increasing the substrate temperature should enhance the surface diffusivity of In atoms and/or liquid NPs, thus small NPs migrate and coalesce into large ones on ITO surface. But no redistribution of In NPs on SiO<sub>2</sub> was observed at various substrate temperatures (see 2.3.3). This suggests that ITO heating substrate plays a prime role on the indium atomic surface diffusivity.



Figure 2.17 SEM images of In NPs formation on an ITO pad upon  $H_2$  plasma treatment ( $H_2$  400 mTorr, 100 sccm, 5W, 5 mins) at different substrate temperatures.

#### 2.4.1.2 INVESTIGATION OF ITO SURFACE EVOLUTION

In order to verify the assumption that In atoms and/or liquid NPs are more likely to diffuse on ITO than on c-Si with native oxide on heated substrate, three tests were carried out. Furthermore, the ITO surface evolution upon  $H_2$  plasma reduction is also revealed in some degree.

**Test I**: Substrate heating effect on the released In from ITO substrates

In order to discriminate the possible contribution of  $H_2$  plasma to the In atoms and/or liquid NPs diffusion on ITO surface, we adopted the following strategy: 1) first, release In atoms on ITO surface by  $H_2$  plasma reduction (400 mTorr, 100 sccm, 5 W) at 150°C, which modifies the ITO surface into an indium-rich solid phase, therefore the In/ITO bilayer is formed; 2) then annealing the substrate in 400 mTorr  $H_2$  atmosphere at 300°C for 5 mins. SEM images in Figure 2.18 show that no large In NPs were formed, indicating that no significant In surface diffusion and coalescence occurred.



Figure 2.18 SEM images of ITO surface treated by  $H_2$  plasma (400 mTorr, 100 sccm, 5 W) at 150°C for 5 mins, and then followed by 5 mins annealing at 300°C in 400 mTorr  $H_2$  atmosphere.

#### **TEST II:** SUBSTRATE HEATING EFFECT ON IN EVAPORATED ON ITO SUBSTRATES

An alternative way to form In/ITO bilayer is by evaporating In on ITO substrate, after removing the surface indium oxide by 5 vol. % HCl etching for 3s, we immediatlly annealed the substrate at 300 °C in 400 mbar H<sub>2</sub>/Ar mixture gas for 5 mins. Figure 2.19 shows the SEM results of ~50 nm evaporated In on ITO substrate. Like In on SiO<sub>2</sub>, evaporated In thin film on ITO surface also follows the Volmer-Weber mode, indicating that In atoms prefer to bind to each other rather than to the ITO surface. Comparing the morphologies of NPs with and without HCL dipping confirms the removal of the surface oxide by HCL, which is in agreement with our previous study on heating the evaporated In with and without H<sub>2</sub> plasma (see Figure 2.6 and Figure 2.9). This indicates that the HCl

dipping is efficient for etching the oxide shell. However, in agreement with Test I, no remarkable redistribution was observed.



Figure 2.19 SEM images of ~50 nm evaporated indium on RT sputtered ITO treated by 5 vol. % HCL etching for 3s and followed by 300 °C annealing in 400 mbar mixture gas of  $H_2/Ar$  for 5 mins.

Test III:  $H_2$  plasma reducing effect on IN evaporated on ITO substrates

Treating the samples same as Test II by a standard  $H_2$  plasma exposure (400 mTorr, 100 sccm, 5W) at 300°C for 5 mins. In particles larger than 10 µm were formed on In/ITO bilayer, compared with the ones of several µm formed on pure ITO thin film, as shown in Figure 2.20.(a, b) and (e, f), respectively. Another important finding is that these huge In particles were always in the In/ITO bilayer region (see image a). And both ITO surfaces (with and without evaporated indium) after  $H_2$  plasma treatment were found in different roughness but with similar tiny In NPs, as shown in (c, d) and (g, h), respectively. Note that as only liquid In can be solidified as spheres, thus only the tiny NPs are believed to be In, and the rough surface be the ITO.

Figure 2.21 summarizes the ITO surface evolution during these three tests.



Figure 2.20 SEM images of evaporated indium pads on ITO treated by  $H_2$  plasma at 300°C, compared with the results of ITO pads exposed to the same treatment.



Figure 2.21 Summary of ITO surface evolution for in three testing conditions.

#### 2.4.1.3 A GROWTH-AND-COALESCENCE MECHANISM

Comparing Test I with II, the main difference is the amount (or thickness) of In layer on ITO surface: in test 1, In atoms were released from the reduction of ITO surface by H<sub>2</sub> plasma, in small amount; in test 2, In was evaporated on ITO, in large amount (~50 nm in thickness). However, the evolution of liquid In on ITO is quite similar, which indicates that substrate heating alone cannot promote the In diffusion and coalescence on the ITO substrate.

In Test III,  $H_2$  plasma helped forming huge In particles (larger than 10 µm) on In/ITO bilayer. As mentioned above, the huge In particles were observed only in the In/ITO region, and never on the pure ITO surface, no matter whether there was evaporated In nearby (see Figure 2.20.a) or not (see Figure 2.20.e). This strongly implies that the huge In particles were formed locally on In/ITO bilayer, mainly originating from the evaporated In. The difference in roughness of the two kinds of ITO surfaces is supposed to be caused by the different surface morphologies during H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction. As liquid In NPs act as barrier against the H<sub>2</sub> plasma, it is logic that evaporated In/ITO bilayer has higher roughness due to the thicker In layer on ITO surface. Compared with Test II, the only difference is the extra H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment, whose function is to reduce

ITO and release In atoms on ITO surface, other possibilities like modification of ITO surface energy or of In atomic surface diffusivity still remain unclear. Based on these results, we propose that interaction between in-situ released indium atoms and ex-situ evaporated indium results in the huge indium particle formation.

Considering the ex-situ evaporated In as separated pools, in-situ releasing In by  $H_2$  plasma can be therefore viewed as: (1) digging channels among the separated pools (i.e. forming new NPs or indium wetting layer among its neighbouring evaporated NPs), (2) or expanding the original pools (i.e. the evaporated In NPs grow by the supplement of nearby released In atoms/NPs), these two events together make the neighbouring pools connected to be larger ones, which means In NPs coalescing is achieved in a **Growing-and-Connecting mode**. This process can be analogous to a chain effect.

Our proposal may explain why no redistribution of In exists on  $SiO_2$  substrates, as no fresh In can be provided from the substrate surface to start the chain effect. Thus, it is the ITO layer that modifies the substrate chemistry in a way of supplying In. Therefore, In NPs formation on In/ITO bilayer can be considered as a particular case of In NPs formation on clean ITO surface, as before in-situ releasing In by H<sub>2</sub> plasma, there has been In (by evaporation) on the ITO surface.

Based on the analysis above, it is logic to explain the evolution of In NPs formation on pure ITO surface by the same **Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism**. In particular, ITO surface experiences: (1) releasing In via reducing ITO by a H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment, (2) nucleating, (3) growing, and (4) coalescing to In NPs. Figure 2.22 illustrates the Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism of In NPs formation on ITO substrate, in comparison with In NPs formation on In/ITO bilayer and on SiO<sub>2</sub>.



Figure 2.22 A Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism of In NPs formation on ITO substrate (a), in comparison with In NPs formation on In/ITO bilayer (b) and on  $SiO_2$  (c).

#### 2.4.2 REDISTRIBUTION OF INDIUM NPS ON INDIUM/ITO BILAYERS

Based on the Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism of In NPs formation on ITO, a technique for dispersing In NPs is developed on In/ITO bilayer structure. Figure 2.23 shows SEM images of a nominal 5 nm In on ITO substrate after a standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment (100 sccm, 400 mTorr of H<sub>2</sub>, with RF power of 5 W at  $T_{sub}$ =300°C for 5 mins). As shown in the figure, we can obtain a redistribution of In NPs. In comparison with the In NPs redistribution on micro or poly-crystalline surface based on GBW mechanism (see 2.3.4.3), this novel technique modifies the substrate chemistry by inserting a ITO layer between the substrate (SiO<sub>2</sub>) and evaporated In thin film, and the dispersion of In NPs is achieved by in-situ releasing In on ITO which activates the growing-and-coalescing behaviour. Optimisation of NPs density and size will be carried out for further applications (e.g. radical junction SiNWs solar cell [47]).



Figure 2.23 Redistribution of In NPs on In/ITO bilayer structure: (a)  $\sim$ 5nm In on ITO substrate after a standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment at  $T_{sub}$ =300°C; (b) a typical In NP based on Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism; (c) typical surface of In/ITO bilayer after In NPs formation.

### 2.4.3 PHASE TRANSITION OF ITO THIN FILMS UPON HEATING

Besides the activation of ITO reduction by H<sub>2</sub> plasma exposure, annealing during or after ITO deposition also modifies the quality of ITO thin film such as surface microstructure, electrical and optical properties, and the crystallinity, etc.

ITO thin films deposited at room temperature usually grow amorphous and transform to fully crystalline thin films from 150°C to 400°C [81][82]. This transition from amorphous to polycrystalline growth coincides with the observation that ITO thin films grow in 3-D island mode (VW mode) on unheated substrate and alternate to 2-D growth mode (FM mode) at about 150°C [83].

Annealing above 150°C (after deposition) also transforms amorphous ITO into polycrystalline thin films, and increasing annealing temperature improves their crystallinity [84]-[89]. Cross-sectional TEM analysis reveals the columnar microstructure of polycrystalline ITO thin films after post-annealing, and a lateral grain growth mode is proposed to describe this transformation process [84]. The structural relaxation with local

ordering after post-annealing is considered to improve the conductivity of ITO thin films by increasing the carrier density [85].

The homogeneity of ITO thin films also depends on the substrate temperature during deposition or post-deposition annealing. It is reported that ITO thin films deposited on unheated substrates consist of an amorphous phase adjacent to the glass substrate with a severely stressed polycrystalline layer on top. This is in agreement with experimental studies which show that without substrate annealing ITO thin films also transform from amorphous at a lower thickness to polycrystalline at a larger thickness [91][92]. The amorphous phase was crystallized and stress free by post-annealing, while films deposited at higher temperature are homogeneously polycrystalline after deposition [90]. Besides, higher RF power (in RF magnetron sputtering) [93] and electron beam irradiation [94] can also induce the crystallization of the amorphous ITO thin films.

TEM observation is employed to investigate the substrate annealing effect on ITO thin films. ITO films with a thickness of 200 nm were deposited by RF magnetron sputtering (ITO as target with pure Ar plasma) on holey carbon TEM copper grids at room temperature. Then the samples were annealed at 300°C in H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere (400 mTorr, 200 sccm) for 5 mins. Figure 2.24 shows the bright field (BF) TEM images and the corresponding selective area electron diffraction (SAD) patterns of ITO thin film before and after thermal annealing. Except for several small ITO crystallites (c and d), the as-deposited ITO thin films are generally amorphous (a and b). The annealed sample was confirmed to undergo a phase transition from amorphous to polycrystalline by substrate annealing (e and f), with grain sizes up to 500 nm (g and h).



Figure 2.24 Phase transition of ITO thin film upon thermal annealing: (a, c) bright field TEM images of as-deposited ITO thin film on holey carbon TEM copper grid, and the corresponding selective area electron diffraction (SAD) patterns (b, d), respectively; (e, g) bright field TEM images of annealed ITO thin film, and the corresponding selective area electron diffraction (SAD) patterns (f, h), respectively.

For investigating the effect of the ITO phase on In NPs formation, two types of ITO thin films are prepared: 1) ITO films sputtered on *c*-Si wafer at RT with thickness of ~ 200 nm (same with the ones for TEM observation), 2) ITO films sputtered on *c*-Si wafer at 350°C with the same thickness. These samples were treated by standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma on a heated substrate (400 mTorr, 200 sccm H<sub>2</sub>, 5W,  $T_{sub}$ =300°C, 5 mins) in the same batch.

Figure 2.25 (a and b) show SEM images of In NPs formed on polycrystalline ITO deposited at 350°C while (c, d) show the case of ITO deposited at RT. A low density of In NPs and narrow size distribution was obtained on polycrystalline ITO, compared with the case of amorphous ITO. Based on the Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism, possibilities for explaining the different results are proposed and discussed:

- 1) Polycrystalline ITO surface is more resistant against H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction, thus fewer In atoms can be released. A possible explanation is that: ITO thin films deposited at high temperature are stress free so that it is less efficient for H radicals to insert and break the relaxed In-O bonds compared with the bonds in amorphous ITO with no well-defined lattice. This is supported by the study on the etching behaviour of ITO by HCl, in which amorphous ITO deposited at RT dissolved in HCL solution at an extremely high rate, however the post-annealing treatment or high temperature deposition retard the bond breaking and thus decrease the etching rate [95]. This could explain the lower density of In NPs formed on polycrystalline ITO surface.
- 2) Besides hindering the H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction, polycrystalline ITO surface favours the homogeneity of the H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction process since the stress and void free thin film surface is more homogeneous compared with amorphous ITO, therefore providing a relatively isotropic probability throughout the ITO surface for the chemisorption and reaction with H radicals, which decreases the spacing of the nucleation sites of In clusters and hence favours the coalescence of these growing In clusters into large In NPs. This assumption could explain the narrow size distribution of In NPs formed on polycrystalline ITO surface.
- 3) The third possibility is that polycrystalline ITO thin films with oriented surface ([222] is the most common orientation for post-annealed ITO thin films deposited at RT or the ones by high temperature deposition [85]-[89]) favours the surface diffusion of In atoms, and the following nucleation and growth of In NPs. This could explain the larger sizes of In NPs formed on polycrystalline ITO surface.

To summarize, substrate annealing transforms RT-deposited ITO from amorphous to polycrystalline, this phase transition can be achieved by 5 mins annealing at 300°C in  $H_2$ atmosphere, which means that during the In NPs formation, the RT-deposited ITO surface undergoes a complicated process, including In-O bond breaking by H radicals from  $H_2$ plasma, In atoms surface diffusion, In clusters nucleation, growth and coalescence; and also the phase transition. Comparing amorphous ITO thin films deposited at RT with the polycrystalline ones deposited at 350°C, low density and less broad size distribution of small In NPs can be formed on polycrystalline ITO, in which the stress free and relatively homogeneous surface microstructure could be main factors.



Figure 2.25 SEM images of In NPs formation on ITO deposited at 350°C (a, b) and at RT (c, d).

## 2.4.4 ITO REDUCTION UNDER VARIOUS H<sub>2</sub> PLASMA CONDITIONS

To investigate the ITO reduction efficiency by  $H_2$  plasma, various RF powers (5 W, 20 W, 40 W),  $H_2$  pressure (400 mTorr, 1 Torr) and exposure durations (5 mins, 10 mins) were employed. In general, RF power and  $H_2$  pressure determine the dissociation of  $H_2$  gas, and the degree of ion bombardment to the ITO surface, which influences the probability of In-O bond breaking. It is also expected that longer  $H_2$  plasma exposure will release more In atoms on the ITO surface. In addition, it is necessary to note that as all the  $H_2$  plasma exposures were carried out at 300°C, hydrogen ion bombardment and long time annealing might transform the ITO thin films from amorphous to polycrystalline, modify the surface morphology and bring about damages to the surface.

Figure 2.26 and Figure 2.27 show SEM images of In NPs formation on ITO by different sets of (RF power + exposure duration) at a substrate temperature of 300°C with 100 sccm, 400 mTorr of H<sub>2</sub>, in magnification of x5k and x100k, respectively.

From SEM images at lower magnification in Figure 2.26, no benefit can be observed by increasing the RF power, neither the H<sub>2</sub> plasma duration. The density of large In NPs even decreases with increasing RF power for 5 mins exposure (a to c), and some non-spherical In islands were formed by 30 mins exposure with high RF power (e and f).

Comparing the ITO surfaces in Figure 2.27, the density of small In NPs increases with increasing RF powers (a to c), which demonstrates that increasing RF power can reinforce the ITO reduction and subsequently release more In atoms. However, after 30 mins exposure (d to f), the morphology of the ITO surface changed a lot and indicates no regularities. But it is interesting that compared with 5mins exposure, the contrast of the ITO surface in SEM images turns to be sharper, and it even starts from the case of 40 W RF power for 5 mins. This phenomenon is supposed to the phase transition of ITO from amorphous to polycrystalline during the high RF power and/or long time H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment.

Another interesting observation is that higher RF power could release more small In NPs (see Figure 2.27.(a, b, c)) but resulted in a lower density of large In NPs (see Figure 2.26.(a, b, c)). This might be due to the fact that indium hydride was formed under higher RF power.

Figure 2.28 and Figure 2.29 show SEM images of In NPs formation on ITO surface by different groups of (H<sub>2</sub> pressure + RF power + exposure duration) at a substrate temperature of 300°C with 100 sccm of H<sub>2</sub>, in magnification of x5k and x100k, respectively. Comparing with the case of 400 mTorr H<sub>2</sub> plasma, the only remarkable difference of 1 Torr H<sub>2</sub> plasma (see Figure 2.29 (c, d)) is that the ITO surface got rougher. Based on the nucleation-growth-coalescence mode, this phenomenon might be explained by the fact that 1 Torr H<sub>2</sub> plasma can release more In atoms and consequently larger In clusters are nucleated at the initial stage, these larger In clusters act as barrier between the ITO surface beneath them and H<sub>2</sub> plasma, finally after growth and coalescence they leave the ITO surface rougher. Moreover, Figure 2.28 shows that by 1 Torr H<sub>2</sub> plasma, there is no significant improvement of forming large In NPs. Perhaps the high RF powers (20 or 40 W) caused the In evaporation by local heating, making the contribution of H<sub>2</sub> pressure less remarkable.

To summarize, various  $H_2$  plasma conditions were investigated for ITO reduction, the expected contribution of RF power and  $H_2$  pressure was in agreement with the SEM observation, however no significant improvement was realized by long time, high RF power and high pressure of  $H_2$  plasma. An explanation could be the formation of a continuous liquid In layer which protects the ITO underneath from further reduction.



Figure 2.26 SEM images of In NPs formation on ITO substrates by different combinations of RF power and H<sub>2</sub> plasma duration (with 100 sccm, 400 mTorr of H<sub>2</sub> at  $T_{sub}$ =300°C), at a magnification of x5k.



Figure 2.27 SEM images of In NPs formation on ITO substrate by by different combinations of RF power and H<sub>2</sub> plasma duration (with 100 sccm, 400 mTorr of H<sub>2</sub> at  $T_{sub}$ =300°C), at a magnification of x100k.



Figure 2.28 SEM images of In NPs formation on ITO surface by different combinations of  $(H_2 pressure + RF power + exposure duration)$ , in magnification of x5k.



Figure 2.29 SEM images of In NPs formation on ITO surface by different conbinations of  $(H_2 pressure + RF power + exposure duration)$ , in magnification of x100k.

### 2.4.5 CONCLUSION

When ITO surface undergoes a  $H_2$  plasma treatment on a heated substrate, In NPs are formed. A **Growth-and-Coalescence mechanism** is proposed: H radicals break the In-O bonds and release In atoms on ITO surface, subsequently In starts to nucleate and grow on local positions, and subsequently neighbouring In clusters coalesce into In NPs in liquid phase, during which the ITO thin film transforms from amorphous to polycrystalline phase due to annealing. Substrate temperature should be above the melting point of In, however higher temperatures do not favor the In NPs formation. Based on the Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism, a technique for the In NPs redistribution is developed, the dispersion of In NPs has been achieved on In/ITO bilayer structure, with relatively less broad size distribution and moderate density.

On polycrystalline ITO surface, the density of In NPs is lower while the size distribution is narrow, as the relatively homogeneous thin film with less stress and voids provides a rather equal probability for the surface chemisorption and reaction with H radicals throughout the entire surface as compared to amorphous ITO deposited at RT.

RF power and  $H_2$  pressure are demonstrated to affect the ITO reduction efficiency by tuning the  $H_2$  plasma density and ions energy, however high RF power is supposed to induce In evaporation by local heating, which does not bring any benefit to In NPs formation. Long  $H_2$  plasma treatment time on heated substrates does not favour the In NPs formation.

## 2.5 SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

As a bottom-up catalyst for in-plane SiNWs growth, In is selected. Evaporated indium and sputtered ITO are the two types of thin films from which In NPs are obtained, thanks to their exposure to a H<sub>2</sub> plasma on a heated substrate (e.g. 300°C) before *a*-Si:H coating. The effects of H<sub>2</sub> plasma, substrate temperature and substrate properties are investigated, during which the physical and chemical process is studied.

Evaporation of In leads to discontinuous islands, H<sub>2</sub> plasma is used to reduce their surface oxide, assisted by substrate heating (typically above 250°C) for achieving the reducing efficiency, which enables a sufficient *a*-Si:H/In contact for NW growth. During this treatment, morphology of In experiences transformation from solid flat islands with surface oxide to liquid spherical caps with surface oxide reduced and finally solidifies to spheres, in comparison with the unchanged morphology of In treated by a simple substrate annealing process above its melting point (e.g. 300°C) or by H<sub>2</sub> plasma at low temperature (e.g. 150°C). This provides a method of verifying whether the indium surface oxide is sufficiently reduced or not, even though the morphology itself does not affect the following SiNWs growth. However, substrate heating at high temperatures for long duration can cause In loss. In addition, In NPs can get redistributed on micro/poly-crystalline substrates

(i.e.  $\mu c$ -Si:H and polycrystalline AZO) based on grain boundary wetting, which is not possible on substrates with relatively isotropic surface chemistry (i.e. SiO<sub>2</sub>). This technique provides the opportunity to disperse the In NPs for following applications; however the size and density control needs further studies.

In comparison with evaporated indium thin films, indium is generated in-situ on ITO surface. A Growth-and-Coalescence mechanism is proposed to explain the In NPs formation, where the continuous sputtered ITO surface undergoes procedures of releasing In atoms upon its reaction when exposed to a hydrogen plasma, In atoms nucleating, In crystal growing and coalescing with the neighbour ones into NPs. The size and density control is still a problem. However an approach based on the Growing-and-Coalescing mechanism is developed by using In/ITO bilayer structure. Compared with In NPs redistribution by grain boundary wetting, this approach is believed to be more feasible and advantageous in size and density control, even though further optimisation is also needed. Besides, the RT-deposited ITO thin film phase transition from amorphous to polycrystalline on heating substrates is confirmed by TEM investigation, which makes the In NPs formation on ITO surface more complicated. It plays a criminal role on the In NPs formation on ITO sidewall, which enables the In NPs positioning in large scale (see 4.2.2). Finally, due to the same reason as indium loss, long time substrate heating is not recommended, neither the high RF power which can induce local heating. Systematic understanding of the evolution of these two types of In thin films indeed brings benefits to the development of In NPs positioning technique, which is elaborated in Chapter 4.

## 2.6 References

- J.-P. Colinge, C.-W. Lee, A. Afzalian, N. D. Akhavan, R. Yan, I. Ferain, P. Razavi, B. O'Neill, A. Blake, M. White, A.-M. Kelleher, B. McCarthy, R. Murphy. "Nanowire transistors without junctions." Nat Nano 5(3), 225-229 (2010).
- [2]. A. S. Togonal, L. He, P. Roca i Cabarrocas, Rusli. "Effect of Wettability on the Agglomeration of Silicon Nanowire Arrays Fabricated by Metal-Assisted Chemical Etching." Langmuir 30(34), 10290-10298 (2014).
- [3]. E. C. Garnett and P. Yang. "Silicon Nanowire Radial p-n Junction Solar Cells." Journal of the American Chemical Society 130(29), 9224-9225 (2008).
- [4]. C. Pan, Z. Luo, C. Xu, J. Luo, R. Liang, G. Zhu, W. Wu, W. Guo, X. Yan, J. Xu, Z. L. Wang, J. Zhu. "Wafer-Scale High-Throughput Ordered Arrays of Si and Coaxial Si/Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> Wires: Fabrication, Characterization, and Photovoltaic Application." ACS Nano 5(8), 6629-6636 (2011).
- [5]. R. S. Wagner and W. C. Ellis. "VAPOR-LIQUID-SOLID MECHANISM OF SINGLE CRYSTAL GROWTH." Applied Physics Letters 4(5), 89-90 (1964).
- [6]. R. S. Wagner and W. C. Ellis. "The vapor-Liquid-Solid Mechanism of Crystal Growth and Its Application to Si." Transcations of The Metallurgical Society of AIME 233, 12 (1965).
- [7]. S. Hofmann, C. Ducati, R. J. Neil, S. Piscanec, A. C. Ferrari, J. Geng, R. E. Dunin-Borkowski, J. Robertson. "Gold catalyzed growth of silicon nanowires by plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition." Journal of Applied Physics 94(9), 6005-6012(2003).
- [8]. D. Wang and H. Dai. "Low-Temperature Synthesis of Single-Crystal Germanium Nanowires by Chemical Vapor Deposition." Angewandte Chemie 114(24), 4977-4980 (2002).
- [9]. J. R. Heath and F. K. LeGoues. "A liquid solution synthesis of single crystal germanium quantum wires." Chemical Physics Letters 208(3-4), 263-268 (1993).
- [10]. T. Hanrath and B. A. Korgel. "Nucleation and Growth of Germanium Nanowires Seeded by Organic Monolayer-Coated Gold Nanocrystals." Journal of the American Chemical Society 124(7), 1424-1429(2002).
- [11]. L. Yu, P.-J. Alet, G. Picardi, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "An In-Plane Solid-Liquid-Solid Growth Mode for Self-Avoiding Lateral Silicon Nanowires." Physical Review Letters 102(12), 125501 (2009).
- [12]. L. Yu and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Growth mechanism and dynamics of in-plane solid-liquidsolid silicon nanowires." Physical Review B 81(8), 085323 (2010).
- [13]. C. J. Novotny and P. K. L. Yu. "Vertically aligned, catalyst-free InP nanowires grown by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition." Applied Physics Letters **87**(20), 203111(2005).
- [14]. M. Mattila, T. Hakkarainen, H. Lipsanen, H. Jiang, E. I. Kauppinen. "Catalyst-free growth of In(As)P nanowires on silicon." Applied Physics Letters 89(6), 063119 (2006).
- [15]. B. Mandl, J. Stang, T. Martensson, A. Mikkelsen, J. Eriksson, L. S. Karlsson, G. Bauer, L. Samuelson, W. Seifert. "Au-Free Epitaxial Growth of InAs Nanowires." Nano Letters 6(8), 1817-1821 (2006).
- [16]. B. Mandl, J. Stang, E. Hilner, A. A. Zakharov, Karla Hillerich, A. W. Dey, L. Samuelson, G. Bauer, K. Deppert, A. Mikkelsen. "Growth Mechanism of Self-Catalyzed Group III-V Nanowires." Nano Letters 10(11), 4443-4449 (2010).
- [17]. K. A. Bertness, A. Roshko, L. M. Mansfield, T. E. Harvey, N. A. Sanford. "Nucleation conditions for catalyst-free GaN nanowires." Journal of Crystal Growth 300(1), 94-99 (2007).

- [18]. J. H. Paek, T. Nishiwaki, M. Yamaguchi, N. Sawaki. "Catalyst free MBE-VLS growth of GaAs nanowires on (111)Si substrate." physica status solidi (c) 6(6), 1436-1440 (2009).
- [19]. E. Galopin, L. Largeau, G. Patriarche, L. Travers, F. Glas, J.-C. Harmand. "Morphology of self-catalyzed GaN nanowires and chronology of their formation by molecular beam epitaxy." Nanotechnology 22(24): 245606 (2011).
- [20]. M. K. Fung, Y. C. Sun, A. M. C. Ng, X. Y. Chen, K. K. Wong, A. B. Djurišić, W. K. Chan. "Indium tin oxide nanowires growth by dc sputtering." Applied Physics A 104(4), 1075-1080 (2011).
- [21]. H. K. Yu, J.-L. Lee. "Growth mechanism of metal-oxide nanowires synthesized by electron beam evaporation: A self-catalytic vapor-liquid-solid process." Sci. Rep. 4, 6589 (2014).
- [22]. C. O'Dwyer, M. Szachowicz, G. Visimberga, V. Lavayen, S. B. Newcomb, C. M. S. Torres. "Bottom-up growth of fully transparent contact layers of indium tin oxide nanowires for light-emitting devices." Nat Nano 4(4), 239-244 (2009).
- [23]. T. F. Chung, L. B. Luo, Z. B. He, Y. H. Leung, I. Shafiq, Z. Q. Yao, S. T. Lee. "Selective growth of catalyst-free ZnO nanowire arrays on Al:ZnO for device application." Applied Physics Letters 91(23), 233112 (2007).
- [24]. A. Potié, T. Baron, F. Dhalluin, G. Rosaz, B. Salem, L. Latu-Romain, M. Kogelschatz, P. Gentille, F. Oehler, L. Montés, J. Kreisel, H. Roussel. "Growth and characterization of gold catalyzed SiGe nanowires and alternative metal-catalyzed Si nanowires." Nanoscale Research Letters 6(1), 187 (2011).
- [25]. Y. Wang, V. Schmidt, S. Senz, U. Gösele. "Epitaxial growth of silicon nanowires using an aluminium catalyst." Nat Nano 1(3), 186-189 (2006).
- [26]. S. Kodambaka, J. Tersoff, M. C. Reuter, F. M. Ross. "Germanium Nanowire Growth Below the Eutectic Temperature." Science 316(5825), 729-732 (2007).
- [27]. J. L. Lensch-Falk, E. R. Hemesath, F. J. Lopez, L. J. Lauhon. "Vapor-Solid-Solid Synthesis of Ge Nanowires from Vapor-Phase-Deposited Manganese Germanide Seeds." Journal of the American Chemical Society 129(35), 10670-10671 (2007).
- [28]. J. L. Lensch-Falk, E. R. Hemesath, D. E. Perea, L. J. Lauhon. "Alternative catalysts for VSS growth of silicon and germanium nanowires." Journal of Materials Chemistry 19(7), 849-857 (2009).
- [29]. J. V. Wittemann, W. Münchgesang, S. Senz, V. Schmidt. "Silver catalyzed ultrathin silicon nanowires grown by low-temperature chemical-vapor-deposition." Journal of Applied Physics 107(9), 096105 (2010).
- [30]. K.-K. Lew, L. Pan, E. C. Dickey, J. M. Redwing. "Vapor-Liquid-Solid Growth of Silicon-Germanium Nanowires." Advanced Materials 15(24), 2073-2076 (2003).
- [31]. Y. Wang, V. Schmidt, S. Senz, U. Gösele. "Epitaxial growth of silicon nanowires using an aluminium catalyst." Nat Nano 1(3), 186-189 (2006).
- [32]. F. Iacopi, P. M. Vereecken, M. Schaekers, M. Caymax, N. Moelans, B. Blanpain, O. Richard, C. Detavernier, H. Griffiths. "Plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition growth of Si nanowires with low melting point metal catalysts: an effective alternative to Au-mediated growth." Nanotechnology 18(50), 505307 (2007).
- [33]. L. Yu, B. O`Donnell, P.-J. Alet, S. Conesa-Boj, F. Peiró, J. Arbiol, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Plasma-enhanced low temperature growth of silicon nanowires and hierarchical structures by using tin and indium catalysts." Nanotechnology 20(22), 225604 (2009).
- [34]. M. Jeon and K. Kamisako. "Synthesis and characterization of silicon nanowires using tin catalyst for solar cells application." Materials Letters 63(9-10), 777-779 (2009).
- [35]. M. K. Sunkara, S. Sharma, R. Miranda, G. Lian, E. C. Dickey. "Bulk synthesis of silicon nanowires using a low-temperature vapor-liquid-solid method." Applied Physics Letters 79(10), 1546-1548 (2001).

- [36]. H. Chandrasekaran, G. U. Sumanasekara, M. K. Sunkara. "Rationalization of Nanowire Synthesis Using Low-Melting Point Metals." The Journal of Physical Chemistry B 110(37), 18351-18357 (2006).
- [37]. L. Yu, F. Fortunal, B. O'Donnell, T. Jeon, M. Foldyna, G. Picardi, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Bismuth-Catalyzed and Doped Silicon Nanowires for One-Pump-Down Fabrication of Radial Junction Solar Cells." Nano Letters 12(8), 4153-4158 (2012).
- [38]. D. Tsivion, M. Schvartzman, R. Popovitz-Biro, P. von Huth, E. Joselovich. "Guided Growth of Millimeter-Long Horizontal Nanowires with Controlled Orientations." Science 333(6045), 1003-1007 (2011).
- [39]. T. I. Kamins, R. S. Williams, Y. Chen, Y.-L. Chang, Y. A. Chang. "Chemical vapor deposition of Si nanowires nucleated by TiSi2 islands on Si." Applied Physics Letters 76(5), 562-564 (2000).
- [40]. E. C. Garnett, W. Liang, P. Yang. "Growth and Electrical Characteristics of Platinum-Nanoparticle-Catalyzed Silicon Nanowires." Advanced Materials 19(19), 2946-2950 (2007).
- [41]. R. J. Barsotti Jr., J. E. Fischer, C. H. Lee, J. Mahmood, C. K. W. Adu, P. C. Eklund. "Imaging, structural, and chemical analysis of silicon nanowires." Applied Physics Letters 81(15), 2866-2868 (2002).
- [42]. J. B. Hannon, S. Kodambaka, F. M. Ross, R. M. Tromp. "The influence of the surface migration of gold on the growth of silicon nanowires." Nature 440(7080), 69-71 (2006).
- [43]. S. Hofmann, C. Ducati, R. J. Neil, S. Piscanec, A. C. Ferrari, J. Geng, R. E. Dunin-Borkowski, J. Robertson. "Gold catalyzed growth of silicon nanowires by plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition." Journal of Applied Physics 94(9), 6005-6012(2003).
- [44]. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Colloidal\_gold
- [45]. T. Martensson, P. Carlberg, M. Borgström, L. Montelius, W. Seifert, L. Samuelson. "Nanowire Arrays Defined by Nanoimprint Lithography." Nano Letters 4(4), 699-702 (2004).
- [46]. P.-J. Alet, L. Yu, G. Patriarche, S. Palacin, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "In situ generation of indium catalysts to grow crystalline silicon nanowires at low temperature on ITO." Journal of Materials Chemistry 18(43), 5187-5189 (2008).
- [47]. L. Yu, O'Donnell, M. Foldyna, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Radial junction amorphous silicon solar cells on PECVD-grown silicon nanowires." Nanotechnology 23(19), 194011 (2012).
- [48]. M. Jeon and K. Kamisako. "Synthesis of silicon nanowires after hydrogen radical treatment." Materials Letters 62(23), 3903-3905 (2008).
- [49]. M. A. Herman, W. Richter, H. Sitter. "Epixtaxy: Physical Principles and Technical Implementation". Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 6-10 (2004) New York.
- [50]. M. Ohring. "Materials Science of Thin Films: Deposition and Structure". London: Academic Press, 2002.
- [51]. http://www.indium.com/blog/etching-indium-to-remove-oxides.php
- [52]. Mohri, M., et al. (1990). "Plasma Etching of ITO Thin Films Using a CH4/H2 Gas Mixture." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 29(10A): L1932.
- [53]. D. Kim, Y. Han, J.-S. Cho, S.-K. Koh. "Low temperature deposition of ITO thin films by ion beam sputtering." Thin Solid Films 377-378(0). 81-86 (2000).
- [54]. J. Perrin, P. Roca i Cabarrocas, B. Allain, J.-M. Freidt. "*a*-Si:H Deposition from SiH<sub>4</sub> and Si<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub> rf-Discharges: Pressure and Temperature Dependence of Film Growth in Relation to  $\alpha$ - $\gamma$  Discharge Transition." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics **27**(11R), 2041 (1988).
- [55]. S. Tachi, K. Tsujimoto, S. Okudaira. "Low-temperature reactive ion etching and microwave plasma etching of silicon." Applied Physics Letters 52(8), 616-618 (1988).
- [56]. V. M. Donnelly, D. L. Flamn, C. W. Tu, D. E. Ibbotson. "Temperature Dependence of InP and GaAs Etching in a Chlorine Plasma." Journal of The Electrochemical Society 129(11), 2533-2537 (1982).

- [57]. A. Fontcuberta i Morral and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Etching and hydrogen diffusion mechanisms during a hydrogen plasma treatment of silicon thin films." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 299-302, Part 1(0), 196-200 (2002).
- [58]. A. Fontcuberta i Morral and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Role of hydrogen diffusion on the growth of polymorphous and microcrystalline silicon thin films." The European Physical Journal - Applied Physics 35(03), 165-172 (2006).
- [59]. M. Otobe, M. Kimura, S. Oda. "Selective Etching of Hydrogenated Amorphous Silicon by Hydrogen Plasma." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 33(7S), 4442 (1994).
- [60]. F. Kaïl, Fontcuberta i Morral, A. Hadjadj, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Hydrogen-plasma etching of hydrogenated amorphous silicon: a study by a combination of spectroscopic ellipsometry and trap-limited diffusion model." Philosophical Magazine 84(6), 595-609 (2004).
- [61]. F. Kail, J. Farjas, P. Roura, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Molecular hydrogen diffusion in nanostructured amorphous silicon thin films." Physical Review B 80(7): 073202 (2009).
- [62]. G. F. Doughty, S. Thoms, V. Law, C. D. W. Wilkinson. "Dry etching of indium phosphide." Vacuum 36(11–12), 803-806 (1986).
- [63]. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Surface-area-to-volume\_ratio
- [64]. G. Kumar and K. N. Prabhu. "Review of non-reactive and reactive wetting of liquids on surfaces." Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 133(2), 61-89 (2007).
- [65]. B. Kalache, A. I. Kosarev, R. Vanderhaghen, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Ion bombardment effects on microcrystalline silicon growth mechanisms and on the film properties." Journal of Applied Physics 93(2), 1262-1273 (2003).
- [66]. G. Rohrer. "Grain boundary energy anisotropy: a review." Journal of materials Science 46(18), 5881-5895 (2011).
- [67]. S. Singh, T. Gangguli, R. Kumar, R. S. Srinivasa, S. S. Major. "Substrate temperature dependence of growth mode, microstructure and optical properties of highly oriented zinc oxide films deposited by reactive sputtering." Thin Solid Films 517(2), 661-669 (2008).
- [68]. M. G. Nicholas and C. F. Old. "Liquid metal embrittlement." Journal of materials Science 14(1), 1-18 (1979).
- [69]. B. A. Benson and R. G. Hoagland. "Crack growth behavior of a high strength aluminum alloy during LME by gallium." Scripta Metallurgica 23(11), 1943-1948 (1989).
- [70]. D. A. Wheeler and R. G. Hoagland. "Observations of cracking behavior and non-unique cracking thresholds during LME of aluminum." Scripta Metallurgica 20(10), 1433-1438 (1986).
- [71]. W. Ludwig and D. Bellet. "Penetration of liquid gallium into the grain boundaries of aluminium: a synchrotron radiation microtomographic investigation." Materials Science and Engineering: A 281(1–2), 198-203 (2000).
- [72]. E. Pereiro-López, W. Ludwig, D. Bellet, J. Baruchel. "Grain boundary liquid metal wetting: A synchrotron micro-radiographic investigation." Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 200(0), 333-338 (2003).
- [73]. W. Ludwig, E. Pereiro-López, D. Bellet. "In situ investigation of liquid Ga penetration in Al bicrystal grain boundaries: grain boundary wetting or liquid metal embrittlement?" Acta Materialia 53(1), 151-162 (2005).
- [74]. H. Nichols and W. Rostoker. "On the mechanism of crack initiation in embrittlement by liquid metals." Acta Metallurgica 9(5), 504-509 (1961).
- [75]. B. Straumal, W. Gust, D. Molodov. "Tie lines of the grain boundary wetting phase transition in the Al-Sn System." Journal of Phase Equilibria 15(4), 386-391 (1994).
- [76]. P. J. Desré. "A mechanism for the stress independant grain boundary penetration of a metal by a liquid metal. Application to the metallic couple Al-Ga." Scripta Materialia 37(6), 875-881 (1997).

- [77]. E. E. Glickman and M. Nathan. "On the kinetic mechanism of grain boundary wetting in metals." Journal of Applied Physics 85(6), 3185-3191 (1999).
- [78]. W. Chen, L. Yu, S. Misra, Z. Fan, P. Pareige, G. Patriarche, S. Bouchoule, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Incorporation and redistribution of impurities into silicon nanowires during metal-particle-assisted growth." Nat Commun 5, 4134 (2014).
- [79]. B.-J. Lee, C.-S. Oh, J.-H. Shim. "Thermodynamic assessments of the Sn-In and Sn-Bi binary systems." Journal of Electronic Materials 25(6), 983-991 (1996).
- [80]. H. Toyoda, H. Kojima, H. Sugai, "Mass spectroscopic investigation of the CH<sub>3</sub> radicals in a methane rf discharge". App. Phys. Lett. 54 (16), 1507-1509 (1989).
- [81]. S. Muranaka, Y. Bando, T. Takada. "Influence of substrate temperature and film thickness on the structure of reactively evaporated In2O3 films." Thin Solid Films 151(3), 355-364 (1987).
- [82]. V. Teixeira, H. N. Cui, L. J. Meng, E. Fortunato, R. Martins. "Amorphous ITO thin films prepared by DC sputtering for electrochromic applications." Thin Solid Films 420–421(0), 70-75 (2002).
- [83]. X. W. Sun, H. C. Huang, H. S. Kwok. "On the initial growth of indium tin oxide on glass." Applied Physics Letters 68(19), 2663-2665 (1996).
- [84]. C. W. Ow-Yang, D. Spinner, Y. Shigesato, D. C. Paine. "A time-resolved reflectivity study of the amorphous-to-crystalline transformation kinetics in dc-magnetron sputtered indium tin oxide." Journal of Applied Physics 83(1), 145-154 (1998).
- [85]. D. C. Paine, T. Whitson, D. Janiac, R. Beresford, C. O. Yang, B. Lewis. "A study of low temperature crystallization of amorphous thin film indium-tin-oxide." Journal of Applied Physics 85(12), 8445-8450 (1999).
- [86]. M. T. Bhatti, A. M. Rana, A. F. Khan. "Characterization of rf-sputtered indium tin oxide thin films." Materials Chemistry and Physics 84(1), 126-130 (2004).
- [87]. Y. Hu, X. Diao, C. Wang, W. Hao, T. Wang. "Effects of heat treatment on properties of ITO films prepared by rf magnetron sputtering." Vacuum 75(2), 183-188 (2004).
- [88]. C. Guillén and J. Herrero. "Polycrystalline growth and recrystallization processes in sputtered ITO thin films." Thin Solid Films 510(1-2), 260-264 (2006).
- [89]. C. Guillén and J. Herrero. "Influence of oxygen in the deposition and annealing atmosphere on the characteristics of ITO thin films prepared by sputtering at room temperature." Vacuum 80(6), 615-620 (2006).
- [90]. T. J. Vink, W. Walrave, J. L. C. Daams, P. C. Baarslag, J. E. A. M. van den Meerakker. "On the homogeneity of sputter-deposited ITO films Part I. Stress and microstructure." Thin Solid Films 266(2), 145-151 (1995).
- [91]. S. Muranaka. "Crystallization of Amorphous In2O3 Films during Film Growth." Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 30(L2062) (1991).
- [92]. Y. Shigesato, S. Takaki, T. Haranoh. "Electrical and structural properties of low resistivity tin - doped indium oxide films." Journal of Applied Physics 71(7), 3356-3364 (1992).
- [93]. E. Terzini, P. Thilakan, C. Minarini. "Properties of ITO thin films deposited by RF magnetron sputtering at elevated substrate temperature." Materials Science and Engineering: B 77(1), 110-114 (2000).
- [94]. I. A. Rauf and L. M. Brown. "In situ study of amorphous to crystalline transition in indium oxide thin films using transmission electron microscopy." Acta Metallurgica et Materialia 42(1), 57-64 (1994).
- [95]. T. J. Vink, W. Walrave, J. L. C. Daams, P. C. Baarslag, J. E. A. M. van den Meerakker. "On the homogeneity of sputter-deposited ITO films Part II. Etching behaviour." Thin Solid Films 266(2), 152-156 (1995).Growth Mechanism of In-plane Silicon Nanowires
# 3 GROWTH MECHANISM OF IN-PLANE SILICON NANOWIRES

# CONTENTS

3.1	Theoretical background		97	
	3.1.1	Metal-induced crystallization of semiconductors	97	
	3.1.2	Spontaneous motion of liquid droplets on solid surfaces	100	
	3.1.3	Heterogeneous nucleation from solution	103	
	3.1.4	Background on the In-plane SiNWs growth	105	
3.2	Spontaneous motion of liquid Indium on <i>a</i> -Si:H		107	
	3.2.1	Evolution of In nanoparticles at the initial stage of SiNWs growth	107	
	3.2.1	.1 Redistribution of In NPs upon their interaction with a-Si:H	107	
	3.2.1	.2 Effect of <i>a</i> -Si:H shell on the coalescence of indium nanoparticles	111	
	3.2.1	.3 Investigation of <i>µc</i> -Si:H/In interaction	113	
	3.2.2	Large indium droplets moving on a-Si:H	114	
	3.2.3	Conclusion	116	
3.3	Detailed analysis of the growth of Solid-Liquid-Solid SiNWs		118	
	3.3.1	Setting up the IPSLS system	118	
	3.3.2	Investigation of In-plane Solid-Liquid-Solid system	120	
	3.3.3	Conclusion	128	
3.4	Subsrate temperature dependence of <i>a</i> -Si:H properties		129	
	3.4.1	Activation temperature of a-Si:H/In reaction	129	
	3.4.2	Effect of <i>a</i> -Si:Ĥ structure on SiNW growth	131	
	3.4.3	Conclusion	134	
3.5	Metal catalyst candidates for In-plane SiNWs Growth		136	
	3.5.1	Sn/a-Si:H interaction	136	
	3.5.2	Au/a-Si:H interaction	138	
	3.5.3	In/a-Ge:H interaction	139	
	3.5.4	Conclusion	141	
3.6	IPSLS vs. VLS growth modes			
3.7	Summary and perspectives14			
3.8	References			

Right away after the indium catalyst preparation by  $H_2$  plasma exposure of evaporated indium or ITO thin films on heated substrates (e.g. 300°C), a thin film of *a*-Si:H is coated directly on it after cooling to low temperature (e.g. 150°C) to avoid vapour-liquid-solid growth. After *a*-Si:H deposition, the in-plane SiNW growth is activated by heating the sample, via a solid-liquid-solid mode.

The in-plane solid-liquid-solid (IPSLS) dynamic system consists of several physical and chemical processes such as In-Si interaction, Si crystallization and "spontaneous" motion of liquid In on *a*-Si:H surface. Therefore, prior to the growth mechanism discussion, several related topics are briefly reviewed, which shed light on the understanding of IPSLS growth mode. Then we discuss two cases of liquid In motion on *a*-Si:H, and a mechanism based on reactive wetting of liquid indium on *a*-Si:H is proposed to account for the experimental observations. Later, the geometric investigations of the IPSLS system support the proposed mechanism, and statistical analysis reveal a clear relationship between In NP diameter, *a*-Si:H layer thickness and SiNW diameter. In order to integrate IPSLS SiNWs into flexible electronics, a growth temperature range is studied, and is found to be dependent on the *a*-Si:H structural properties. Based on the understanding of IPSLS growth mode, we comment on other possible metal catalyst candidates and also on use of the *a*-Ge:H as an alternative precursor. Finally, we explore the consistency behind the two growth modes (IPSLS vs. VLS), by which the understanding of the growth mechanism is reinforced.

# 3.1 THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

As introduced in Chapter 1, the process flow for the IPSLS SiNWs growth can be described as: the liquid In NPs move on the substrates with a thin *a*-Si:H layer on top, consume Si atoms from the *a*-Si:H matrix at their advancing edge, and precipitate continuous one dimensional crystalline Si (*c*-SiNW) at their receding edge on the substrate. This complex dynamic process consists of several physical aspects, which are discussed below.

#### 3.1.1 METAL-INDUCED CRYSTALLIZATION OF SEMICONDUCTORS

The Si phase transition from amorphous to crystalline via the contact with moving liquid In NPs can be associated to the metal-induced crystallization (MIC) of semiconductors [1]-[6], but in a particular mode of selective area crystallization. In contrast with other crystallization technologies such as solid phase crystallization (SPC) by thermal annealing (above 600°C) [8]-[12], laser annealing [13]-[19], ion beam irradiation [20]-[25], or even electrical-field enhancement [26], the crystallization of amorphous silicon or amorphous germanium can be induced below the SPC temperature when put in contact of various metals[27].

Take Si for example<sup>6</sup>, most of the transition metals react with Si to produce compounds called metal silicides [28]-[29], such as Au, Al, Ag, Ni, Pt, Pd, Ti, Cr, etc.[5][30][31] This procedure can occur at low temperature below the lowest eutectic points in metal-Si binary phase diagrams [32]. In practice, by contacting with metal thin films, amorphous Si can get crystallized below the SPC temperatures [33]-[41]. Tu *et al.* proposed the most popular postulate that the metal-rich silicide formed at the interface facilitates the high interface mobility of metal atoms and maintains their diffusion into Si thin films, which results in the transformation of Si atoms at the interface from covalent bonding to metallic bonding induced by forming metal interstitials in Si [42]. Therefore, Si atoms get reorganised at the interface with metal-rich silicide as a transport phase. Specially, Au-Si and Al-Si compounds were detected in metastable phase by XRD [43] and electron diffraction pattern analysis [43]-[46] and were utilized to explain the formation of *pc*-Si/Al/*pc*-Si sandwich structure [47] and the layer exchange process from *a*-Si on Al to Al on pc-Si [48]-[52].

In parallel with this silicide-mediating crystallization mode, the metal-rich alloy formation at the metal/*a*-Si interface is also suggested as the mechanism for Al [53][54], Au [55] and Sn [56][57] induced crystallization, when the Si nucleation occurs due to the supersaturation (see 3.1.3) of Si atoms in the solid or liquid metallic solution. Hiraki proposed a semiconductor-metal intermixing model based on electronic screening of Coulomb interaction [58]-[69], claiming that the semiconductor covalent bond weakening or breaking occurs as the electrons in the outermost shell of the semiconductor atoms are electrostatically attracted by free electrons in the contact metals (e.g. Au or Al) due to their high electronegativities [70]-[71].

Both postulates of the metal interstitial formation in Si and the electronic screening of Coulomb interaction are based on the metal-semiconductor intermixing process. However, recently a novel mechanism of MIC was proposed in which the *a*-Si can wet and crystallize at Al grain boundaries (GBW) with no requirement of mutual diffusion between Si and solid Al [72]-[76], as Si in amorphous phase tends to diffuse along the high energy Al grain boundaries and starts to nucleate there.

Figure 3.1 summarizes the different postulates of MIC mechanism in the literature. With respect to liquid In NPs mediated SiNWs growth, the electric screening effect postulate is believed as the most suitable one as no In-Si compound exists to our knowledge and neither the existence of GBW in the *a*-Si:H/liquid In system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Germanium has the similar interaction with metals.



Figure 3.1 Summary of metal-induced crystallization mechanisms in the literature. (a) Metal-silicide mediated MIC mode[44], illustrating: (1) Au and Si diffuse into each other to form an intermixed region near RT; (2) nucleation of c-Si islands at T>130°C; (3) further annealing at T 175°C causes dendritical growth of c-Si by Si atoms diffusing through Au-Si compound; (4) Segregation of Au to the top and bottom surfaces of the pc-Si at 300°C. (b) SiO<sub>2</sub> formation at ~100°C in air on Au film in contact with Si substrate, illustrating Si atoms diffuse through a Au-Si alloy layer and deposit and oxidize on the top of the sample [58]. (c) Electric screening of Coulomb interaction mode, illustrating that after metal (M) contact, the semiconductor (S) near the M-S interface with covalent bonding is converted into metallic phase (M(S)), and M(S) readily reacts with M inducing M-S alloy at RT. This effect occurs for semiconductors with energy gap ( $E_e \leq 2.5 \text{ eV}$ ) and the thickness of metal thin film should be larger than 4 monolayers (ML) [66]. (d) Grain boundary wetting (GBW) induced MIC [75]: In-situ valence energy-filtered TEM observation of wetting of an Al GB by a-Si during annealing of the bilayer structure. Evolution of the mapping of the plasmon-loss peak energy at the same location of the sample upon in-situ annealing at temperatures increasing in steps of 10°C starting from 110°C with 15 minutes at each step, showing that the wetting starts at 120°C and completes at 140°C.

#### 3.1.2 SPONTANEOUS MOTION OF LIQUID DROPLETS ON SOLID SURFACES

In a macroscopic view, the movement of liquid In NPs on an *a*-Si:H thin film is a type of spontaneous motion of droplets on solid substrates, and the SiNWs are the byproducts of the chemical reaction between liquid In and solid *a*-Si:H substrate.

In general, thermal or chemical gradients on the solid substrate surface are the driving force for the self-motion of droplets, as it generates solid surface energy gradient [77]. Figure 3.2 shows the contact angle of a liquid drop on a substrate without (a) [78] and with (b) [79] solid surface energy gradient, respectively. For a droplet standing on a homogeneous solid substrate surface, it obeys Young's equation in equilibrium:

$$\gamma_{SV} = \gamma_{LV} \cos \theta + \gamma_{SL} \tag{3-1}$$

where  $\gamma_{SV}$ ,  $\gamma_{LV}$ ,  $\gamma_{SL}$  represent the interfacial energy of solid-vapour, liquid-vapour and solid-vapour, respectively;  $\theta$  represents the contact angle.

If there exists a surface energy gradient on the solid surface, this equilibrium is interrupted, and the unbalanced Young's force is given by:

$$F = (\gamma_{SV} - \gamma_{SL})_A - (\gamma_{SV} - \gamma_{SL})_B \tag{3-2}$$

where a surface energy gradient on the solid substrate is build up from A to B;  $\theta_A$  and  $\theta_B$  are the local contact angles at two sides of the liquid drop, respectively. By equations (3-1) and (3-2), the drive force can be expressed by:

$$F = \gamma_{LV}(\cos\theta_A - \cos\theta_B) \tag{3-3}$$



Figure 3.2 Schematic of contact angles of a liquid drop on solid substrate surface with (a) and without (b) solid surface energy gradient in Young's equation.

Note that the deformation of a liquid drop with nonuniform surface curvatures (i.e.  $r_B < r_A$ , as shown in Figure 3.2(b)) will cause a Laplace pressure  $\Delta P$  gradient established inside it, as their relationship is determined by Young-Laplace equation [80]:

$$\Delta P = 2\gamma_{drop} / r_{curve} \tag{3-4}$$

where  $\gamma_{drop}$  and  $r_{curve}$  represent the local surface tension and curvature radius on liquid drop surface. So the Laplace pressure inside the liquid drop will equalize its curvature and the

final dynamic contact angle between  $\theta_A$  and  $\theta_B$ . A diversity of techniques has been employed for establishing this driving force in the literature.

On solid substrates with thermal gradient [81]-[83], as the droplet surface tension is a function of temperature, a surface tension gradient is established within the droplet, and the droplet will advance towards the higher surface tension direction: this phenomenon is called Marangoni effect [84]. In addition, a concentration gradient within the liquid also causes surface tension gradient, for example the tear of wine effect [85]. Another interesting case is the migration of Au-rich droplets on Si (111) in a constant thermal gradient [86], however the authors described the velocity of this thermomigration by a diffusion control model, as it was mentioned that the Si concentration in Au droplets depends on temperature, therefore Si atoms diffuse along the concentration gradient direction, and the Au-rich droplet can be viewed as moving towards the reversing direction.

Another group of self-organized droplet motion is based on the chemical gradient of the solid substrate. For most cases, a gradient of wettability was built up on the substrate. According to the unbalanced Young's equation [87], the solid surface energy difference between the advancing and receding edges of the droplets is the driving force for all types of motion, the contact angles at the two edges reflect this surface energy difference.

The most popular objects for the study were pure water or organic droplets, so the wettability gradient turns to be the gradient of hydrophobicity [79], as these droplets move towards the hydrophilic region with higher solid surface energy. The techniques used to modify the solid surface chemistry are various: direct chemical treatment of the substrate surface [79][88], activating chemical reactions of substrate surfaces with solutes in droplets [89]-[96] or with external surfactants [97]-[99].

Liquid metals also experience self-moving phenomena based on chemical reactions with substrates. Liquid Au-Si alloy particles were observed migrating on Si (111) surface, leaving faceted trails behind them caused by the dissolution (or precipitation) of Si atoms into (or out of) the liquid alloy during the heating (or cooling) period [100][101]. The migration of Sn islands on Cu (111) was observed even at RT, leaving a Cu-Sn alloy (bronze) as trail, the driving force was attributed to the surface energy gradient as bronze has a lower surface energy than Cu (111) [102].

Figure 3.3 shows selected examples of spontaneous liquid motion on a solid surface in the literature.



Figure 3.3 Examples of spontaneous liquid motion on a solid surface from literature. Type I: Freerunning droplet due to in-situ surface chemistry modification [92]: (a) Schematic of a droplet deposited on the boundary between the two parts A (hydrophilic denoted as Anti-polar) and P (hydrophobic denoted as Polar) of a mixed surface.  $\theta_{Ae}$  and  $\theta_{Pe}$  are the equilibrium contact angles of A and P, respectively, and  $\theta^*$  is the dynamical contact angle of the droplet. The arrows depict the resultant of the Young forces that occur on each contact line. (b) Schematic of a free-running droplet. The silanes in solution are grafted on the surface to give a hydrophobic surface. Type II: Migration of liquid Au-Si alloy on Si (111) substrate with thermal gradient [86]: (c) infrared photomicrography of an Au-Si liquid alloy migrating along a <111> plane. The direction of thermal migration is upwards in the same direction as thermal gradient. Type III: Alloying at surfaces by the migration of reactive islands [102]: (d) Sequence of low electron energy microscope (LEEM) images (0.6 µm width) of a Sn island running on a Cu (111) surface at 290K. The time images is 36 s. The large black object is the Sn island and the small static dark objects are the ordered bronze (Sn-Cu alloy) islands that have been ejected from the Sn island. (e) The trajectory of the centre of mass of this island. (f) Superposition of the intermediate positions of the islands, the gray level indicates how long the Sn island was over each position on the surface. Type IV: Migration of liquid Au-Si alloy on Si (111) substrate with no thermal gradient [100]: (g) Migration of liquid Au-Si alloy and deposition of  $\iota$ -Si during the temperature decrease from (1) to (4).

#### 3.1.3 HETEROGENEOUS NUCLEATION FROM SOLUTION

From an atomic point of view, Si atoms diffusing into liquid In NPs and precipitating on substrates is a process of heterogeneous nucleation and crystal growth from solution on foreign substrates (i.e. Si atoms as solutes and liquid In NPs as solution). The nucleation of Si atoms occurs when the liquid In-Si alloy gets supersaturated [102]. The driving force [103]-[107] is the increase of chemical potential of Si atoms  $\mu_s$  in supersaturated liquid In solution in comparison with the one at equilibrium  $\mu_e$ , denoted as:

$$\Delta \mu = \mu_s - \mu_e \tag{3-5}$$

The chemical potential is expressed by

$$\mu = \mu_0 + \kappa T \ln(\varepsilon C) \tag{3-6}$$

where  $\mu_0$  is the chemical potential in standard solution,  $\varkappa$  is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature,  $\varepsilon$  is the activity coefficient, C is the solute concentration. Therefore, the driving force is determined by

$$\Delta \mu = \mu_s - \mu_e = \kappa T ln[(\varepsilon_s / \varepsilon_e)(C_s / C_e)]$$
(3-7)

where  $\varepsilon_s$  and  $\varepsilon_e$  are the activity coefficients of solute in supersaturated and equilibrium solution, with the corresponding solute concentrations  $C_s$  and  $C_e$ , respectively. Normally it is assumed that  $\varepsilon_s = \varepsilon_e$ , thus

$$\Delta \mu = \kappa T \ln(C_s/C_e) = \kappa T \ln(S) \tag{3-8}$$

where S represents the supersaturation ratio.

Due to supersaturation, a new solid phase is formed in the system, with the creation of an interfacial area between the new phase and the solution, this means the system will lose free energy during the transfer from supersaturation to equilibrium status (i.e. from high to low chemical potential); meanwhile the new phase within the solution will bring extra free energy to the system as an interface is created. Therefore, the free energy for nucleation is given by:

$$\Delta G = -N\Delta\mu + A\gamma = -\frac{v}{\alpha}\kappa T ln(S) + A\gamma \tag{3-9}$$

where the term  $-N\Delta\mu$  represents the system free energy consumption due to supersaturation, and the term  $A\gamma$  represents the system free energy gain contributed by the interface creation; N is the number of atoms (or molecules) forming the nucleus,  $\Omega$  is the volume of an atom (or molecule) inside the crystal, A and V are the surface area and volume of the nucleus, respectively, and  $\gamma$  is the interfacial energy between nucleus and solution. Let

$$\Delta G_{dV} = -\kappa T \ln^S / \Omega = -\Delta \mu / \Omega \tag{3-10}$$

be the free energy change of a unite volume, thus equation (3-9) can be written by

$$\Delta G = V \Delta G_{dV} + A \gamma = \Delta G_V + \Delta G_A \tag{3-11}$$

where  $A\gamma$  is denoted as  $\Delta G_A$  as the surface term, and  $V\Delta G_{dV} = \Delta G_V$  be the volume term.

Consider a spherical nucleus of radius r in a solution, as shown in Figure 3.4.b, the equation (3-11) turns to be

$$\Delta G_{homo} = (4\pi r^3/3)\Delta G_{dV} + 4\pi r^2 \gamma \tag{3-12}$$

And  $\Delta G$  as a function of *r* is shown in Figure 3.4.a due to the competition between surface term and volume term. Let

$$d\Delta G_{homo}/dr = 0 \tag{3-13}$$

thus,  $\Delta G_{homo}$  reaches a maximum at a critical radius  $r^*$ 

$$r^* = -2\gamma/\Delta G_{dV} \tag{3-14}$$

where the critical free energy of homogeneous nucleation (i.e. free energy barrier) is

$$\Delta G_{homo}^* = (16\pi/3)(\gamma^3/\Delta G_{dV}^2)$$
(3-15)

For the case of heterogeneous nucleation, the foreign substrates (or walls, impurities, etc.) catalyse the nucleation as they offer extra interfacial free energy and thus lower the free energy barrier [108]. For example, a foreign substrate is added in the system, on which a spherical cap shaped nucleus with a radius of curvature  $r_c$  and contact angle  $\theta$  is formed, as shown in Figure 3.4.c. Equation (3-11) should be modified as

$$\Delta G_{heter} = V_c \Delta G_{dV} + A_{12} \gamma_{12} + A_{23} (\gamma_{23} - \gamma_{13})$$
(3-16)

where  $V_e$  is the volume of cap shaped nucleus,  $A_{12}$ ,  $A_{23}$  are the interfacial area of solutionnucleus and substrate-nucleus, respectively; and  $\gamma_{12}$ ,  $\gamma_{23}$ ,  $\gamma_{13}$  are the interfacial energy of solution-nucleus, substrate-nucleus and the solution-substrate, respectively, as shown in Figure 3.4.c. This means that besides the contribution of nucleus-solution interfacial energy  $A_{12}\gamma_{12}$ , the foreign substrate also provides extra interfacial energy  $A_{23}\gamma_{23}$  during the nucleation, which however causes the substrate-solution interfacial energy loss  $-A_{23}\gamma_{13}$ .

The volume  $V_{c}$  can be expressed by

$$V_c = \int_0^\theta (\pi r_c^2 \sin^2 \varepsilon) (r_c \, d\varepsilon \sin \varepsilon) = \frac{\pi r_c^3}{3} [2 - 3\cos\theta + \cos^3\theta]$$
(3-17)

The solution-nucleus interfacial area  $A_{12}$  is given by

$$A_{12} = \int_0^\theta (2\pi r_c \sin\varepsilon) (r_c \,d\varepsilon) = 2\pi r_c^2 (1 - \cos\theta) \tag{3-18}$$

The relationship of  $\gamma_{12}$ ,  $\gamma_{23}$ ,  $\gamma_{13}$  is determined by Young's equation in equilibrium:

$$\gamma_{13} = \gamma_{13} \cos \theta + \gamma_{23} \tag{3-19}$$

By combining equations (3-17), (3-18) and (3-19) into (3-16), the free energy change for heterogeneous nucleation is expressed by

$$\Delta G_{heter} = \left[\frac{4\pi r_c^3}{3}\Delta G_{dV} + 4\pi r_c^2 \gamma_{12}\right] \cdot \left[\frac{2-3\cos\theta + \cos^3\theta}{4}\right]$$
(3-20)

Compared with equation (3-12), it means that for a constant volume V of nucleus, the free energy change provided by heterogeneous nucleation is determined by its homogeneous counterpart and the nucleus-substrate contact angle:

$$\Delta G_{heter} = \Delta G_{homo} \cdot \left[\frac{2 - 3\cos\theta + \cos^3\theta}{4}\right] = \varphi(\theta) \Delta G_{homo}$$
(3-21)

where  $0 \le \varphi(\theta) \le 1$  represents the evolution of interfacial energy as a function of the contact angle  $\theta$ . Hence, the nucleation free energy barrier also follows this relationship:

$$\Delta G_{heter}^* = \varphi(\theta) \Delta G_{homo}^* \tag{3-22}$$

which indicates the nucleation free energy barrier on a foreign substrate is lower, in comparison with the one in the solution.



Figure 3.4 Nucleation from solution: (a) Variation of activation free energy  $\Delta G$  for homogeneous nucleation from solution [107]; (b) illustration of a spherical nucleus homogeneously nucleated from solution (c) illustration of heterogeneous nucleation of a special cap shaped nucleus of radius of  $r_c$  on a solid substrate with contact angle  $\theta$ .

#### 3.1.4 BACKGROUND ON THE IN-PLANE SINWS GROWTH

Since the first report on SiNWs via in-plane solid-liquid-solid growth mode [110], endeavours are being made on understanding the growth dynamics [111][112] and controlling the morphology [113]. In general, the growth process is considered to be driven by a Gibbs energy difference between *a*-Si:H and crystalline SiNWs (see 3.4.2.). The liquid In NPs absorb Si atoms from *a*-Si:H in solid phase, and deposit them in crystalline phase in 1D morphology. Figure 3.5 illustrates the growth mechanism proposed by Yu and Roca i Cabarrocas [112]. As mentioned in their publications, the detailed mechanism and nature of driving force is still an open field for further exploration.



Figure 3.5 Growth mechanism proposed by Yu and Roca i Cabarrocas [112]: schematic illustration for the absorption, diffusion, and deposition steps involved in the growth of lateral SiNW via IPSLS mode.  $E_{o}$ ,  $E_{o}$  and  $E_{i}$  denote the Gibbs energy of Si atoms in the amorphous, crystalline and dissolved (in liquid In) states, respectively;  $C_{si}$  is the dissolved Si atom concentration in the catalyst drop;  $J_{in}$ ,  $J_{out}$  and  $J_{Si}$  are the absorption, deposition, and mass transport (diffusion) flux rate of Si atoms.

According to the review above, it can be postulated that two conbined processes enable the continuous growth of IPSLS SiNWs: 1) the motion of liquid In NPs on substrates with *a*-Si:H coating layer; 2) the continuous growth of SiNWs at the receding edge of moving In NPs in contact with *a*-Si:H at the advancing edge. Process 2 transforms Si from amorphous to crystalline phase, thereby results in the substrate chemistry modification and maintains the chemical gradient (from *c*-Si to *a*-Si:H) which is the driving force for process 1; reversely, the Si-In alloying during process 1 causes the ongoing supersaturation in the moving liquid In NPs and therefore sustains process 2.

In order to verify this postulate, several unique phenomena in this solid-liquid-solid system are discussed.

# 3.2 SPONTANEOUS MOTION OF LIQUID INDIUM ON *a*-SI:H

In Chapter 2, we concluded that liquid In NPs do not move on  $\epsilon$ -Si substrates with native oxide at temperature above the melting point of In (e.g. 300°C), which is consistent with the theory of motion of droplets [77] because there is no thermal gradient or chemical gradient on the substrates. However, in the following examples we demonstrate that modifying the substrate chemistry by coating it with a thin a-Si:H layer provides a novel strategy that efficiently achieves the spreading, coalescence and motion of liquid In on the corresponding non-reactive substrates (i.e. SiO<sub>2</sub>).

# 3.2.1 EVOLUTION OF IN NANOPARTICLES AT THE INITIAL STAGE OF SINWS GROWTH

As shown in chapter 2, the 3D islands of evaporated indium do not experience a significant evolution on their density and size after the treatment by a  $H_2$  plasma at a substrate temperature around 300°C (above their melting point). However, during the initial stage of SiNWs growth, the redistribution of In NPs occurs due to their interaction with the *a*-Si:H film covering the substrate and thus modifying its surface energy.

#### 3.2.1.1 REDISTRIBUTION OF IN NPS UPON THEIR INTERACTION WITH *a*-SI:H

We have found that, an evaporated In thin film (patterned by optical lithography, as illustrated in the inset image in Figure 3.6.f), after a standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma exposure, is composed of In NPs with diameters of ~30 nm (as shown in Figure 3.6.a and b), after ~10 nm *a*-Si:H thin layer coating and annealing at 400°C for 1 min, the resulting In NPs which lead to SiNWs growth out of the patterned In region are much larger (as shown in Figure 3.6.e and f), in comparison with the ones shown in Figure 3.6.a and b. Removing the amorphous and crystalline Si materials by H<sub>2</sub> plasma etching (100 sccm, 400 mTorr, 20 W,  $T_{sub}$ =150°C, 10mins), reveals the coalescence of In NPs inside the In pad region (as shown in Figure 3.6.c, compared with a) with the residues left by small In NPs before coalescence (as shown in Figure 3.6.d, compared with b), and also the remarkable displacement of In NPs out of the In pad region (as shown in Figure 3.6.f). The trail of SiNW in Figure 3.6.f is probably the residual *c*-Si due to the insufficient H<sub>2</sub> plasma etching. These results clearly show that the interaction of In with *a*-Si:H results in the strong change of density and size of the NPs during the initial stage of SiNWs growth.

Another test on an In thin film of nominal thickness ~50 nm (as shown in Figure 3.7.a and b) reinforces this NPs redistribution phenomenon, applying the same procedure of H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment, *a*-Si:H coating and annealing, the coalescing behaviour was revealed by SF<sub>6</sub> plasma etching (25sccm, 10mTorr, RF power of 30W, 2mins) of Si materials, as shown in Figure 3.7.c and d.



Figure 3.6 SEM images demonstrating the redistribution of In NPs as a result of the In interaction with *a*-Si:H: (a, b) evaporated In film of nominal thickness 5 nm after H<sub>2</sub> plasma at 300°C for 5 mins; (c, d) redistribution of In NPs after *a*-Si:H coating and annealing, revealed by H<sub>2</sub> plasma etching; (e) a resulting In NP leading the growth of a SiNW (~10 nm *a*-Si:H coating and annealing at 400°C for 1 min); (f) migration of In NPs out of the In pad zone, the *a*-Si:H and *c*-SiNWs were etched by H<sub>2</sub> plasma; (c) a final In NP leading the growth of a SiNW (~10 nm *a*-Si:H coating and annealing at 400°C for 1 min); (d) migration of In NPs outwards the In pad zone, the accompanied SiNWs were etched by H<sub>2</sub> plasma; (e, f) redistribution of In NPs after *a*-Si:H coating and annealing, revealed by H<sub>2</sub> plasma etching.



Figure 3.7 Redistribution of In NPs: (a, b) SEM images of as-evaporated In NPs of a nominal thickness of 50 nm on *c*-Si substrate with native oxide, after a standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma exposure; (c, d) redistribution of In NPs, after the same treatment of *a*-Si:H coating, annealing and SF<sub>6</sub> plasma etching of *a*-Si:H and *c*-SiNWs.

As discussed in Chapter 2, evaporation of In on ITO can form large particles (with diameters above 10  $\mu$ m) based on a growth-and-coalescence mode (see 2.4.1.3), due to insitu release of In from ITO surface by H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction. Here, for In on a *c*-Si wafer with native oxide coated by an *a*-Si:H layer, a reactive spreading [77][87][114] -and-coalescing mode is proposed to illustrate the evolution of In NPs, as illustrated in Figure 3.8.

The dewetting behaviour of liquid In NPs on a SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate with no interface reaction has been observed under in-situ SEM [115], while the cross-sectional TEM analysis shows their profiles as semi-spheres with a contact angle of ~90° [116]. As illustrated in Figure 3.8.a, the In NPs in solid phase are perfectly spherical (see 2.3.3), the phase transition from solid to liquid by substrate annealing above the In melting point will cause a change of contact angle and contact area. Inevitably, in the initial stage, the liquid semi-spherical In NPs will overlap with the surrounding *a*-Si:H (as illustrated in Figure 3.8.b). It should be noted that as the profile of *a*-Si:H coating layer cannot be perfectly conformal,

the sidewall deposition rate is lower than the one on flat surface (as shown in Figure 3.8.e). Therefore, there are regions with thinner *a*-Si:H coating under the shadow of solid spherical In NPs (as illustrated in Figure 3.8.d). As a consequence, a chemically inhomogeneous solid-liquid interface is generated (as illustrated in Figure 3.8.f) and reactive spreading can be activated [88]. Furthermore, chemical processes differ along the solid-liquid interface: In-Si intermixing occurs at the In-a-Si:H interface near the solid-liquid contact line, while no reaction is expected at the In-SiO<sub>2</sub> interface, in the centre of the solid-liquid contact region. This means that *a*-Si:H with a high surface energy is **indium-philic**, in comparison with the indium-phobic SiO<sub>2</sub> surface. Table 3.1 lists some surface energy values of wellrelaxed a-Si, Si (111) surface, SiO<sub>2</sub> and Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> in the literature. Thus, the surface energy of a-Si is more than one order of magnitude higher than that of dielectrics like  $SiO_2$  and  $Si_3N_4$ . Besides, considering that: (i) structural relaxation [117][118] lowers the Gibbs energy of a-Si by repairing the defects [119], (ii) structural relaxation is the preliminary step prior to rapid crystallization [120], (iii) no hydrogen-induced disorder exits in pure a-Si [121], then one can expect a well-relaxed a-Si to have a similar surface energy as Si (111) surface. However, we expect that our PECVD-deposited a-Si:H to have a higher surface energy than the calculated one for well-relaxed pure a-Si as well as c-Si.

Moreover, supersaturation of Si atoms in liquid indium will result in precipiration of *c*-Si (as illustrated in Figure 3.8.c). This chemical reaction at the liquid-solid interface can also contribute to the reactive spreading process. On the one hand, as liquid In shows a similar non-reactive dewetting behaviour on *c*-Si [116] with the one on SiO<sub>2</sub>, in contrast with the reactive spreading behaviour of liquid In on *a*-Si:H, it is thereby reinforced that the reduction of substrate surface energy is realized by this phase transition from amorphous to crystalline [112]. On the other hand, it is also reported that the negative Gibbs energy of chemical reaction (i.e. MIC process of In-Si intermixing and Si nucleation) can contribute to the reduction of solid-liquid interfacial energy [122][123]. So no matter which one the dominating factor is, the chemical reaction at the solid-liquid interface lowers the substrate surface energy [89]-[95], maintains the wettability gradient and the following reactive spreading-and-coalescing process can proceed.

Based on the analysis above, it is also logic to explain why a very limited number of In NPs grown by coalescence prefer to move away from the In pad zone (see Figure 3.6.f) while most In NPs in the centre of the zone stop moving. We suggest that *a*-Si:H is exhausted by indiuml-induced crystallization inside the zone, thereafter the solid-liquid interface turns to be relatively chemically homogeneous (i.e. interfaces of SiO<sub>2</sub>/In and *c*-Si/In, in comparison with *a*-Si:H/In) and the wettability gradient is weakened.



Figure 3.8 Illustration of the evolution of In NPs based on a reactive spreading-and-coalescing mode.

Materials	Surface energy $(J/m^2)$	Note	Reference
Well-relaxed a-Si	1.05	Calculated by CMD	[124]
Well-relaxed a-Si	1.13	Calculated by CMD-DFT[125]	[124]
<i>c</i> -Si (111)	1.23	Measured	[126]
SiO <sub>2</sub>	0.05	Measured	[127]
SiO <sub>2</sub>	0.05	Thermally grown, measured	[128]
SiO <sub>2</sub>	0.04	PECVD, measured	[128]
SiO <sub>2</sub>	0.03	Measured	[129]
Si <sub>3</sub> N <sub>4</sub>	0.04	Measured	[129]

Table 3.1 Selected surface energy values of different materials in the literature.

## 3.2.1.2 EFFECT OF *a*-SI:H SHELL ON THE COALESCENCE OF INDIUM NANOPARTICLES

Another test was carried out on small square indium pads (with side lengths smaller than 1  $\mu$ m) defined by electron-beam lithography on a *c*-Si wafer with native oxide. These In pads were treated by a standard process for SiNWs growth. Figure 3.9 (a to f) show

several In pads with SiNWs grown, compared with the failed cases presented in Figure 3.9 (g to j). For the failed cases, the In NPs seem to be restricted by the covering shells, while it is found that, without exception, most of the shells along the trajectories of the grown SiNWs were broken. The process is probably that the In NPs leading the growth of SiNWs pass by the In NPs fixed on the substrate with shells, dissolve the shells and allow the In inside the shells to flow out and coalesce with the moving one, as illustrated in Figure 3.9.1. Therefore, the material of the shells should be *a*-Si:H, as the interaction between In and *c*-Si can be neglected. This "blooming" phenomenon implies that the *a*-Si:H coating layer on In NPs can impede the coalescence and redistribution process, which is also demonstrated by comparing the distribution of In NPs before and after *a*-Si:H coating and annealing (as shown in Figure 3.9.j and k). Based on the SiNWs synthesis process, till now it is still inevitable to circumvent this covering shell, the only way of weakening this effect is to coat *a*-Si:H film as thin as possible.



Figure 3.9 Effect of the *a*-SiH shell on the coalescence of indium NPs: (a-f) SEM images of In pads (in different sizes) with SiNWs grown; (g-j) SEM images of In square pads (in different sizes) without SiNWs grown; (k) SEM image of as-evaporated In pad in side of 800 nm; (l) schematic representation of the "Blooming" phenomenon due to the *a*-Si:H shell breaking and liquid In coalescing process.

#### 3.2.1.3 INVESTIGATION OF µc-SI:H/IN INTERACTION

In order to fully verify the different interface chemistry between *a*-Si:H/In and *c*-Si/In,  $\mu c$ -Si:H was selected as it contains *c*-Si gains and *a*-Si:H along the grain boundaries. In this study, an In film of nominal thickness of ~50 nm evaporated on SiO<sub>2</sub>, treated by a standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma exposure, was coated by a  $\mu c$ -Si:H thin film (see 2.3.4.1), instead of

coating by *a*-Si:H. After a standard annealing at 400°C, no coalescence of In NPs or SiNWs growth was observed. Comparing the In NPs before and after  $\mu c$ -Si coating and annealing (as shown in Figure 3.10.a, c, respectively), it shows no significant redistribution of In NPs, indicating that no remarkable chemical reaction took place at the  $\mu c$ -Si:H/In interface. Figure 3.10.d shows that the  $\mu c$ -Si:H coating layer on the In NP is asymmetric: this is probably due to the slight vibration during phase transition from liquid to solid by cooling the substrate. Furthermore, as *c*-Si dominates the  $\mu c$ -Si:H thin film (see Figure 2.11), it implies that *c*-Si-In interaction can be neglected in the SLS system.



Figure 3.10 Investigation of  $\mu c$ -Si:H coating on In NPs: (a, b) SEM images of as-H<sub>2</sub> plasma exposed In NP; (c, d) SEM images of In NPs after ~30 nm  $\mu c$ -Si:H coating and then annealing at 400°C.

## 3.2.2 LARGE INDIUM DROPLETS MOVING ON *a*-SI:H

Reactive spreading due to substrate wettability gradient results in the redistribution of In NPs, as discussed in 3.2.1. Putting aside the growth of SiNWs, it is supposed that this reactive spreading behaviour is also the driving force for the motion of liquid In on *a*-Si:H. In this experiment, large In droplets with diameters of ~10  $\mu$ m were formed on In/ITO bilayer structure (see 2.4.1.2 Test III). After a standard ~20 nm *a*-Si:H coating and substrate annealing, the liquid In moved on the substrate (as shown in Figure 3.11.a), leaving a trail with dispersed Si crystals on the substrate (as shown in Figure 3.11.b, c). Figure 3.11.d

illustrates the driving force for this motion, which is also the wettability gradient on the surface. Liquid In transforms the *a*-Si:H beneath it to *c*-Si, therefore lowering the surface energy, meanwhile no chemical reaction occurs at the In-ITO interface (see 2.4.1.2 Test II), hence liquid In can only reactively spread towards the *a*-Si:H surface, and the ongoing supersaturation in In-Si alloy and the sequential precipitation of *c*-Si on the ITO substrate enable the continuity of this driving force.

If the size of a liquid droplet exceeds its capillary length  $\varkappa'$ , the gravitational effect should be considered; the droplet cannot maintain an isotropic curvature, and its shape transforms from a spherical cap to a "pancake" [77]. The capillary length can be calculated by the set of equations below:

$$\begin{cases} \gamma_{In} = 0.568 - 9.45 \times 10^{-5} T \ (N \cdot m^{-1}) \\ \rho_{In} = 7.05 \times 10^{3} - 0.776 T \ (kg \cdot m^{-3}) \\ \kappa^{-1} = \sqrt{\gamma/\rho g} \end{cases}$$
(3-23)

where  $p_{ln}$  is the surface tension of liquid In,  $\rho_{ln}$  is the density of liquid In and  $\varkappa'$  is the capillary length of the liquid In, g is the gravitational acceleration, T is the temperature in Celsius scale [77][130]. Substituting T=450°C, g=9.8  $m \cdot s^{-2}$ , the capillary length  $\varkappa'_{(ln, 450°C)}$  is calculated to be ~3 µm. Therefore the profile of the large In particle (diameter ~10 µm) should be like a pancake in the liquid phase, as illustrated in Figure 3.11.d.

This enlightens that the requirement for maintaining the liquid In motion on *a*-Si:H is just the Si phase transition from amorphous to crystalline (i.e. *c*-Si precipitation from supersaturated liquid In-Si alloy), which lowers the substrate surface energy. Note that in this experiment the substrate is ITO and it also has a low surface energy [131] of the same order of magnitude as SiO<sub>2</sub>. Furthermore, as shown in Figure 3.11, the precipitated Si crystals is not necessary to be in continuous 1-D morphology (i.e. nanowire), thereby the deposition of SiNWs at the receding edge of moving liquid In is a particular case.

However, why dispersed Si crystals were precipitated? We suggest that as indium drops have large sizes with respect to the *a*-Si:H, the large-area substrate where *a*-Si:H is depleted beneath the In drop provides numerous preferential sites for Si nucleation and crystal growth (heterogeneous nucleation from liquid indium solution [105]), as illustrated in Figure 3.11.d.



Figure 3.11 Motion of a large indium droplet on *a*-Si:H: (a) shows a spontaneous motion of liquid In on a-Si:H; (b, c) shows the trail of dispersed Si crystals on the substrate at its receding edge; (d) illustrates the motion mechanism based on wettability gradient.

# 3.2.3 CONCLUSION

According to the unbalanced Young's equation, see equation (3-2), the spontaneous motion of drops is governed by solid substrate surface energy gradients, which can be established by thermally or chemically modifying the substrates. From this viewpoint, a mechanism is proposed to account for the IPSLS growth mode, thanks to the two special cases of liquid In movement on *a*-Si:H.

The evolution of In NPs on *a*-Si:H is governed by the reactive spreading-andcoalescing behaviour, as a surface energy gradient is built up between SiO<sub>2</sub> (as well as *c*-Si on it) and *a*-Si:H due to indium-induced crystallization. The  $\mu c$ -Si:H/In interaction demonstrates the In does not react with *c*-Si. Furthermore, the large liquid In droplets moving on *a*-Si:H while leaving disperse Si crystals along their trajectory indicates that solid phase crystallization (SPC) of *a*-Si:H is the requirement for activating the movement of liquid In, and the growth of SiNWs is attributed to a particular case from this kind of phenomena, where the heterogeneous nucleation sites on the substrates are quite limited so that 1-D *c*-Si (i.e. SiNW) growth from In-Si liquid alloy is realized. Figure 3.12 shows a schematic representation of the in-plane silicon nanowire growth mechanism: a liquid indium nanoparticle reactively wets (or spreads) on *a*-Si:H, depletes *a*-Si:H and precipitates crystalline silicon nanowire, which builds up a substrate surface energy between *a*-Si:H (high surface energy) and the non-reative substrate without *a*-Si:H. The movement of indium droplet maintains the *a*-Si:H/In contact, which enables a continuous growth of silicon nanowires.



Figure 3.12 Schematic representation of in-plane silicon nanowire growth mechanism: a liquid indium nanoparticle reactively spreads on *a*-Si:H, depletes *a*-Si:H and precipitates crystalline silicon nanowire, which builds up a substrate surface energy between *a*-Si:H (high surface energy) and the substrate without *a*-Si:H.

# 3.3 DETAILED ANALYSIS OF THE GROWTH OF SOLID-LIQUID-SOLID SINWS

As discussed in 3.2, the phase transition from amorphous to crystalline Si due to In-induced crystallization establishes the substrate wettability (or solid surface energy) gradient, breaking the equilibrium of liquid on a-Si:H, thereafter spontaneous motion of liquid In on a-Si:H is activated due to the unbalanced Young's equation (see 3.1.2). The ongoing phase transition of Si on the substrate enables the continuity of this spontaneous motion.

However, the growth of SiNWs is not the requirement for the movement of liquid In, as shown in Figure 3.11. In order to investigate the mechanism of this 1-D *c*-Si growth based on spontaneous motion of liquid In, and furthermore to achieve a better control of the growth (e.g. morphology, direction, etc.), a systematic analysis on the geometry of IPSLS SiNWs was carried out via SEM observation.

### 3.3.1 SETTING UP THE IPSLS SYSTEM

In an in-plane Solid-Liquid-Solid system as shown in Figure 3.14.a. (Note that the In NP under SEM observation is in solid phase, while during the growth it is in liquid phase). There are two independent parameters: (1)  $d_{s-NP}$  (or  $d_{eNP}$ ) is the diameter of In NP in solid (or liquid phase), as marked in Figure 3.14.b (for solid phase); (2)  $b_{aSi}$  is the thickness of a-Si:H layer on SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate, as illustrated in Figure 3.14.j. Due to the a-Si:H/In reactive contact, a Trench can be observed under SEM (as shown in Figure 3.14.c and illustrated in image j, its width is denoted as d<sub>contact(aSiH)</sub>. A SiNW is located in the trench, which is resulted from the movement of liquid In on a-Si:H. Referring to Figure 3.14.d, e, f, the cross-sectional profile of the SiNWs can be simplified as spherical caps on the substrate, as illustrated in Figure 3.14.j, and the diameter is denoted as  $d_{NW}$ . We assume that there still exists residual a-Si:H on the substrate; on the contrary, based on the heteronucleation mechanism, the substrate under the SiNWs is probably exhausted of a-Si:H. Thereby, we suggest that the a-Si/In contact zone can be divided into two parts: **Zone 1** has remnant a-Si:H after liquid In passing over it, and Zone 2 is depleted of a-Si:H which facilates the heterogeneous nucleation of silicon, as illustrated in Figure 3.14.j. As a matter of fact, Yu et al. have published a cross section image of in-plane epitaxial growth of SiNWs in which an a-Si:H edge as the one proposed here was measured [132], as shown in Figure 3.13. In this article the authors report that the shape of epitaxially grown SiNWs is flat in comparison with the non-epitaxial ones, which is in agreement with our SEM observation of SiNWs grown on c-Si substrate with native oxide (see Figure 3.14.d, e, f). We suggest that this may be due to higher surface energy of Si (100) plane with respect to that of SiO<sub>2</sub>. Therefore the contact angle of crystalline Si on Si (100) is lower than the one on  $SiO_2$ , resulting in the flat cross-sectional profile of SiNWs (see 3.1.3 Heterogeneous nucleation from solution and Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.13 Cross-sectional TEM image of epitaxially grown IPSLS SiNWs.



Figure 3.14 Set-up of the Solid-Liquid-Solid system: (a) SEM image of a typical SiNW grown via SLS mode; (b) SEM images showing the diameter of the In NP in solid phase  $(d_{s-NP})$ ; (c) SEM image showing the diameters of a SiNW  $(d_{NW})$  and the *a*-Si:H/In contact width  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$ ; (d, e, f) SEM images indicating that the cross-sectional profile of SiNWs can be simplified as spherical caps; (g, h, i)

SEM images (with a tilt angle of 75°) showing the roughness of SiNWs and the probable residual *a*-Si:H in the *a*-Si:H/In contact zone, indicating that the *a*-Si:H/In contact zone consists of two parts: (1) Zone 1 with residual *a*-Si:H, at the two sides of the SiNW; (2) Zone 2 depleted with *a*-Si:H, which facilitates the heterogeneous nucleation of silicon, corresponding to  $d_{NW}$ . (j) schematic representation of IPSLS system, illustrating the geometrics in the SLS system, the cross-sectional view (A-A) emphasizing the part of *a*-Si:H/In contact zone with residual *a*-Si:H on the substrate, and the part with precipitated *c*-Si; The dashed line in the cross-section (j) represents the In drop during the growth.

### 3.3.2 INVESTIGATION OF IN-PLANE SOLID-LIQUID-SOLID SYSTEM

In order to investigate the relationship between the parameters determined by the process conditions (i.e. solid In NP diameter  $d_{s-NP}$  and *a*-Si:H thickness  $b_{aSiH}$ ) and the ones resulting from the NW growth process (i.e. SiNW diameter  $d_{NW}$  and *a*-Si:H/In contact width  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$ ), *a*-Si:H layers of different thicknesses (9, 19 and 33 nm) were coated on substrates with ~5 nm thick In patterns defined electron-beam lithography for the growth of SiNWs at 450°C. Due to the redistribution of In NPs in the initial stage of SiNWs growth as mentioned in 3.2.1.1, different diameters of In NPs were obtained.

Figure 3.15 shows the diameter of the NWs and the contact width as functions of the diameter of the solid In nanoparticle for 3 thicknesses of the *a*-Si:H layer. We can see that there is a strong correlation between the *a*-Si:H/In contact zone  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  and the diameter of the solid In NP  $d_{sNP}$ . On the contrary, there is a subtle variation of the SiNWs diameter  $d_{NW}$  as a function of  $d_{NP}$ . Interestingly, Figure 3.16 reveals that a linearity does exist between  $d_{NW}$  and  $d_{sNP}$ , in particular for the thinnest *a*-Si:H layer (i.e. 9 nm) On the other hand, Figure 3.17 shows the variation of the diameter of SiNW  $d_{NW}$  as a function of *a*-Si:H thickness, also in a monotonic increasing mode like the effect of In NP diameter.

Figure 3.18 shows the diameter of the SiNWs as a function of the width of the contact. We obtain a strong correlation with a ratio of  $d_{NW}$  over  $d_{contact}$  around 0.3, indicating that for the successful growth of SiNWs, the ratio of *a*-Si:H/In contact zone 2 depleted with *a*-Si:H for Si precipitation (as illustrated in Figure 3.14.j) over the entire contact zone is a constant.

Thus, the diameter of SiNW  $d_{NW}$  is a function of the contact width  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$ , and  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  is a function of diameter of the In NPs  $d_{s-NP}$  and a-Si:H thickness  $h_{aSiH}$ , as shown in equations (3-24) and (3-25):

$$d_{NW} = 0.3d_{contact(aSiH)},\tag{3-24}$$

$$d_{contact(aSiH)} = f(d_{s-NP}, h_{aSiH}).$$
(3-25)

To study the dependence of  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  on  $d_{s-NP}$  and  $h_{aSiH}$ ,  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  and  $h_{aSiH}$  are normalized by the corresponding  $d_{s-NP}$ , as shown in equation (3-26):

$$\beta = f(\alpha, 1), \tag{3-26}$$

where *a* and  $\beta$  denote  $h_{aSiH}/d_{s-NP}$  and  $d_{contact(aSiH)}/d_{s-NP}$ , respectively.

Figure 3.19 shows the linear relationship between *a* and  $\beta$ , and the fitting result is given by equation (3-27):

$$\beta = 1.26 + 3.2\alpha \tag{3-27}$$

By substituting *a* with  $b_{aSiH}/d_{s-NP}$ ,  $\beta$  with  $d_{contact}/d_{s-NP}$  in equation (3-27), the In-*a*-Si:H contact zone as a function of the size of solid In NP and thickness of *a*-Si:H is given by equation:

$$d_{contact(aSiH)} = f(d_{s-NP}, h_{aSiH}) = 1.26d_{s-NP} + 3.2h_{aSiH}.$$
 (3-28)

By combining equations (3-24) and (3-28), the diameter of SiNWs  $d_{NW}$  can be expressed as:

$$d_{NW} = 0.3f(d_{s-NP}, h_{aSiH}) = 0.4d_{s-NP} + h_{aSiH}.$$
(3-29)

Furthermore, the intercept 1.26 and the slope 3.2 of the linear fitting in Figure 3.19 provide several informations:

(i) If there is no *a*-Si:H on the SiO<sub>2</sub> substrate; then *a*=0 and  $\beta$  turns to be  $d_{contact(SiO2)}/d_{s-NP}=1.26$ , which is in agreement with previous contact angle studies of liquid In on SiO<sub>2</sub> [115]. This means that the profile of liquid In NP on SiO<sub>2</sub> is semi-spherical, with contact angle of 90°, given that no volume change of In NP occurs during the phase transition from solid to liquid, the relationship between  $d_{s-NP}$  and  $d_{l-NP}$  ( $d_{l-NP}$  on SiO<sub>2</sub> can be also denoted as  $d_{contact(SiO2)}$ , as illustrated in Figure 3.20.a and b) is determined by equation (3-30):

$$\frac{4}{3}\pi (d_{s-NP}/2)^3 = \frac{1}{2} \times \frac{4}{3}\pi (d_{contact(SiO2)}/2)^3,$$
(3-30)

thus

$$d_{contact(SiO2)}/d_{s-NP} = \sqrt[3]{2} = 1.26.$$
 (3-31)

(ii) If the size of In NP is far greater than the thickness of *a*-Si:H, as  $d_{NP} \gg h_{aSiH}$ , then *a* approaches to 0 and  $\beta$  also approaches to 1.26, reflecting that under this condition the width of contact zone mainly relates with the size of In NP, the example can be referred to the liquid In pancake moving on *a*-Si:H as discussed in 3.2.2.

(iii) Equation (3-27) indicates the remarkable reactive spreading phenomenon of liquid In on a-Si:H, compared with its wetting behavior on SiO<sub>2</sub>.

Let

$$\eta = \frac{d_{contact(aSiH)} - d_{contact(SiO2)}}{d_{contact(SiO2)}}$$
(3-32)

be the **reactive spreading coefficient**, by combining equations (3-27), (3-31) and (3-32), we obtain:

$$\eta = 2.5\alpha = 2.5h_{aSiH}/d_{s-NP},$$
(3-33)

which monotonically increases with the thickness of *a*-Si:H and monotonically decreases with the diameter of In NP.

(iv) Considering the redistrution of In NP in the initial stage of SiNWs growth, as illustrated in Figure 3.8, let  $d_{spacing}$  be the distance between a pair of neighbouring idendical In NPs. In order to realize the redistribution via coalesence behavior induced by reactive spreading, it has to satisify the relationship:

$$d_{spacing} < d_{contact(aSiH)} - d_{contact(SiO2)}, \tag{3-34}$$

as illustrated in Figure 3.21. By combining equations (3-28), (3-31) and (3-34), the condition for coalescence can be written as:



$$d_{spacing} < 3.2h_{aSiH}. \tag{3-35}$$

Figure 3.15 SiNW diameter  $d_{NW}$  and width of *a*-Si:H/In contact zone  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  as a function of the solid In NP diameter  $d_{s:NP}$ , with three *a*-Si:H thicknesses  $h_{aSiH}$ . To be continued in the next page.



Figure 3.15 (Continued) SiNW diameter  $d_{NW}$  and the *a*-Si:H/In contact width  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  as a function of the solid In NP diameter  $d_{s-NP}$ , with three *a*-Si:H thicknesses  $b_{aSiH}$ .



Figure 3.16 SiNW diameter  $d_{NW}$  as a function of the solid In NP diameter  $d_{s:NP}$ , for the three different *a*-Si:H thicknesses  $h_{aSiH}$ . To be continued in the next page.



Figure 3.16 (Continued) SiNW diameter  $d_{NW}$  as a function of the solid In NP diameter  $d_{s\cdot NP}$ , for the three different *a*-Si:H thicknesses  $h_{aSiH}$ .



Figure 3.17 SiNW diameter  $d_{NW}$  as a function of *a*-Si:H thickness  $b_{aSiH}$ .



Figure 3.18 SiNW diameter  $d_{NW}$  as a function of the *a*-Si:H/In contact width  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$ .



Figure 3.19 The contact width  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  and *a*-Si:H thickness  $h_{aSiH}$ , normalized by the corresponding solid In NP diameter  $d_{s-NP}$ , with the linear fitting. A strong correlation is obtained.



Figure 3.20 Schematic representation of the reactive spreading of liquid In NP on *a*-Si:H: (a) spherical In NP of diameter  $d_{s,NP}$  in solid phase on SiO<sub>2</sub>; (b) semi-spherical In NP in liquid phase on SiO<sub>2</sub> with a contact diameter  $d_{contact(SiO2)}$ ; (c) Liquid In NP reactively spreads on a-Si:H with a contact diameter  $d_{contact(SiO2)}$ ; (d) Triple phase line in SLS system with contact angle  $\theta_{reactive}$ .



Figure 3.21 Illustration of the limitation on the distance  $(d_{spacing})$  between two neighbouring identical In NPs: the profiles of liquid In on *a*-Si:H and SiO<sub>2</sub> are in solid and dash line, respectively.  $d_{spacing}$  should be less than  $d_{contad(SiO2)}$ .

#### 3.3.3 CONCLUSION

The growth of IPSLS SiNWs can be considered as a special type of spontaneous motion of liquid In on *a*-Si:H, which leaves continuous 1-D *c*-Si at the receding side of the liquid In. In order to study the uniqueness of this type of liquid In movement, a geometric investigation and statistical analysis are carried out to analyse the SiNWs grown by In NPs of various diameters and *a*-Si:H films of different thicknesses (in the range of  $8 \sim 30$  nm).

In the in-plane solid-liquid-solid dynamic system, a liquid In NP moves on the *a*-Si:H surface with a thickness of  $h_{aSiH}$ , leaving a trench with a width  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$ , where a SiNW (in diameter of  $d_{NW}$ ) is located inside the zone. SEM observations show that there might be residual *a*-Si:H left at the two sides of the SiNW in the trench; however, it is expected that the substrate surface beneath the SiNW is exhausted of *a*-Si:H, providing heterogeneous nucleation site for *c*-Si crystal growth. Our study shows that the ratio of  $d_{NW}$  over  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  is constant around 0.3. Moreover, normalized  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  and  $h_{aSi}$  by solid In NPs  $d_{s-NP}$  show a linear relationship. Thus, the relationship between  $d_{NW}$ ,  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  and  $h_{aSi}$  is quantitatively described. Also, our results demonstrate that the contact angle of liquid In on SiO<sub>2</sub> (where  $h_{aSiH}=0$  nm) is around 90°C, which is in agreement with previous studies. As the normalized  $d_{contact(aSiH)}$  (i.e.  $d_{contact(aSiH)}/d_{s-NP}$ ) reflects the deformation of the liquid In on *a*-Si:H with respect to its spherical shape in solid phase, this linear relationship (see Figure 3.19) indicates that liquid In NPs experience stronger reactive spreading on thicker *a*-Si:H layers.

### 3.4 SUBSRATE TEMPERATURE DEPENDENCE OF *a*-SI:H PROPERTIES

With the purpose of integrating in-plane SiNWs in flexible electronics [133]-[135], growth temperature should be limited as much as possible [136][137] (e.g. below 250°C [138]). In this section, the minimum temperature for activating the SiNWs growth is firstly investigated. Furthermore, efforts are made to lower this growth temperature by modifying the structural properties of *a*-Si:H thin films, in particular by reducing their deposition temperature.

#### 3.4.1 ACTIVATION TEMPERATURE OF *a*-SI:H/IN REACTION

Indium thin films with a nominal thickness of ~50 nm were thermally evaporated on *c*-Si wafers with native oxide. Then the samples were treated by a standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma exposure and a ~20 nm *a*-Si:H coating (deposited at a norminal temperature of 180°C7) and annealing at 350°C and 300°C, respectively. Figure 3.22 shows the SEM results: (1) annealing at 300°C cannot activate SiNW growth; (2) growth of SiNWs can be activated by 350°C annealing, however the growth of SiNWs seems to be less continuous<sup>8</sup>, the light points circled in images (b) and (c) are expected as tiny Si crystals, therefore we suggest that the liquid In NP experiences a stick-and-slip behaviour. One possible explanation is that temperature affects the nucleation rate J [107]:

$$J = K_0 \exp(-\Delta G_{heter}^* / \kappa T)$$
(3-36)

where  $K_0$  is the kinetic coefficient,  $\Delta G_{beter}^*$  is the heterogeneous nucleation energy barrier,  $\varkappa$  is the Boltzmann constant, and T is the absolute temperature. Therefore, J decreases monotonically as T decreases. Furthermore, the kinetic coefficient  $K_0$  can be determined by:

$$K_0 = N_0 \nu_0 \tag{3-37}$$

where  $N_0$  is the solubility of the solute expressed as the number of atoms (or molecules) per unit volume, and  $v_0$  is the frequency at which the critical nuclei becomes supercritical and transform into crystals. According to In-Si binary phase diagram [139] (see Figure 3.23), the solubility of Si atoms in liquid In decreases with temperature, resulting in a decrease of the kinetic coefficient  $K_0$ . This also contributes to the delay of nucleation process.

Therefore, the *c*-Si nucleation rate is lowered at 350°C with respect to higher temperature, which means the Si phase transition from amorphous to crystalline is retarded, and subsequently the establishment of surface energy gradient is delayed. Therefore the liquid In is stuck on the substrate for a moment, after completing the Si phase transition underneath it, liquid In can move on towards the *a*-Si:H region with higher surface energy.

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  Note that the calibrated substrate temperature is below the melting point of In (157°C), see Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The standard annealing temperature is 450°C, and the grown SiNWs can be referred to the cover picture of this thesis.
That could be a reason why in the SEM images (a), (b) and (c) there are almost identical circular prints in regular interval along the trajectory of SiNWs.



Figure 3.22 Temperature dependent *a*-Si:H/In interaction: (a-c) SEM images of reaction of In with *a*-Si:H (deposited at 180°C) at 350°C, with SiNWs grown; (d-f) SEM images of reaction of In with *a*-Si:H (deposited at 180°C) at 300°C, without SiNWs grown.



Figure 3.23 In-Si binary phase diagram [139].

# 3.4.2 EFFECT OF *a*-SI:H STRUCTURE ON SINW GROWTH

As discussed above, low temperature (e.g.  $300^{\circ}C \sim 350^{\circ}C$ ) does not favour the SiNW growth, behind which it is the weakening of *a*-Si:H/In interaction. Solid phase crystallization (SPC) [140]-[142] theory relies on the fact that *a*-Si:H has higher Gibbs energy than *c*-Si, however the phase transition from amorphous to crystalline cannot take place spontaneously without a Gibbs energy barrier jump [143], assisted by thermal annealing [144] for instance. Figure 3.24 illustrates the Gibbs energy configuration of crystalline and amorphous states, showing the Gibbs energy change  $\Delta G_{ac}$  in phase transition and the Gibbs energy barriers  $\Delta G_{1,2}$  of the forward and reverse jump of atoms due to the crystallization dynamics.



Figure 3.24 Gibbs energy configuration of crystalline and amorphous states [143].

Hence, in order to decrease the critical growth temperature of in-plane SiNWs, lowering the forward jumping barrier  $\Delta G_1$  by increasing the Gibbs energy of *a*-Si:H  $\Delta G_a$ seems a logic way to proceed.  $G_a$  is associated with the structural relaxation of the *a*-Si:H network [145]. The *a*-Si:H structure can be modified by tuning the deposition parameters [146]. In practice, the deposition temperature is one of the main parameters determining the structural properties of *a*-Si:H thin films. As the substrate temperature is increased in the range of 100°C~250°C, the density of states (DOS) [147], hydrogen concentration  $G_{\rm H}$ [148] and optical band gap  $E_g$  [149] are reduced. Besides, the gas flow rate, pressure and ion bombardment (i.e. RF power) also influence the structure of a-Si:H [150][153].

Raman scattering [154] sensitively reflects the vibrational DOS of amorphous semiconductors [155][156], by which the structural disorder [157] like bond distortion and stretching strain can be probed [158][159]. The energy barrier for structural relaxation can be determined [160]. The average bond-angle distortion  $\Delta\Theta$  can be extracted from Raman spectrum [161]:

$$\Gamma/2 = 3.2 \cdot \Delta\Theta + 7.4 \tag{3-38}$$

where  $\Gamma/2$  is the full width at half maximum (FWHM) of the transverse optical (TO) peak, which means that the broadening degree of the peak reflects the disorder in the amorphous Si network [162]. Furthermore, modelling of the bond distortion energy distribution [163] provides an approximation of the strain energy U in *a*-Si as a function of bond-angle distortion:

$$U = \sum 6 \cdot \left[\frac{1}{2}k_{\theta}(d_{Si-Si} \cdot \Delta \Theta)^2\right]$$
(3-39)

where  $k_{\Theta}$  is the bond bending force constant and  $d_{Si:Si}$  the Si-Si atomic distance. Therefore, the decrease of  $\Delta\Theta$  reflects the structural relaxation, which results in the Gibbs energy reduction. Besides, the TO peak shift towards the higher wavenumbers also indicates the structural relaxation [164].

Based on the above review, a simple strategy for lowering the in-plane SiNWs growth temperature is proposed: to intentionally enhance the disorder degree in the amorphous network by lowering the deposition temperature. Figure 3.25 shows the plotting of TO peak position and FWHM of *a*-Si:H thin films prepared at different conditions. From nominal 180°C to 120°C, TO peak shifts to lower wavenumbers and FWHM increases, which indicates that extra disorder is introduced in the *a*-Si:H and raises its Gibbs energy. Moreover, post-annealing at 350°C does not remarkably get *a*-Si:H (120°C) structure relaxed, compared with the Raman spectrum before annealing. This means that the Gibbs energy decrease of *a*-Si:H can be ignored during the annealing step for in-plane SiNWs. Furthermore, as shown in Table 3.2, the fitting results of the imaginary part  $\varepsilon_2$  of pseudo dielectric function in Tauc-Lorentz dispersion model [165][166] reinforces this strategy as both the optical band gap  $E_g$ , and the broadening of the  $\varepsilon_2$  peak (*C*) (related to the increase of the disorder) increase when going from high to low temperature deposition, reflecting the increase the Gibbs energy in the *a*-Si:H film.



Figure 3.25 FWHM as a function of the TO peak position for Raman Spectra of *a*-Si:H deposited at different substrate temperatures.

Table 3.2 Fitting results of the imaginary part  $\varepsilon_2$  of the pseudo-dielectric function in Tauc-Lorentz dispersion model for *a*-Si:H deposited at 120°C and 180°C, where  $E_g$  is the optical band gap,  $E_0$  is the peak central energy of  $\varepsilon_2$ , and C is the broadening term of the peak.

T <sub>deposition</sub> (°C)	E <sub>g</sub> (eV)	E <sub>0</sub> (eV)	С
180	$1.72 \pm 0.01$	$3.54 \pm 0.12$	$2.06 \pm 0.04$
120	$1.79 \pm 0.12$	$3.62 \pm 0.02$	$2.18 \pm 0.04$

Figure 3.26 shows the SiNWs growth at nominal 350°C with *a*-Si:H deposited at 120°C and 180°C. Consistent with the results in 3.4.1, the trail of stick-and-slip is very common for SiNWs grown on *a*-Si:H deposited at 180°C (see a, b), however SiNWs look pretty continuous on *a*-Si:H deposited at 120°C (see c, d). Hence, this successful preliminary test demonstrates that our strategy for lowering the growth temperature is logic and easy to apply. Further experiments should be continued, not only limited on the *a*-Si:H deposition temperature, but also involving other considerations such as gas pressure and ion bombardment to enhance the Gibbs energy of *a*-Si:H films.



Figure 3.26 Effect of the *a*-Si:H deposition temperature on the SiNWs growth at 350°C: (a, b) SEM images of SiNWs grown on *a*-Si:H deposited at 180°C; (c, d) SEM images of SiNWs grown on *a*-Si:H deposited at 120°C.

# 3.4.3 CONCLUSION

The above results show that as the substrate temperature decreases, the growth of SiNWs (or, in another view, liquid In reactive spreading on *a*-Si:H) tends to be in a stickand-slip manner, and finally gets completely suppressed below a critical value ( $<350^{\circ}$ C). This is because low temperature does not favour the In-Si intermixing, nor the Si nucleation and crystal growth. Solid phase crystallization theory tells that in order to succeed the phase transition from amorphous to crystalline state, a Gibbs energy barrier should be overcome. With the purpose of lowering this barrier, we have to raise the Gibbs energy of *a*-Si:H, which can be tuned by the preparation conditions and probed by characterization tools like Raman scattering and spectroscopic ellipsometry. Therefore, a simple strategy of decreasing the *a*-Si:H deposition temperature has been proposed to intentionally introduce extra disorder in the amorphous network. In this way, we succeed the growth at nominal 350°C. This method can be explained in another way: it spends less energy ( $T_{deposition}$ ) to build up amorphous network, it spends less energy ( $T_{growth}$ ) to break and reorganise it.

# 3.5 METAL CATALYST CANDIDATES FOR IN-PLANE SINWS GROWTH

In order to verify the uniqueness of In as the metal catalyst for mediating the growth of IPSLS SiNWs, tin (Sn) and gold (Au) are selected for testing their interaction with *a*-Si:H, which also brings insight to deepen our understanding of the growth mechanism. Besides, *a*-Ge:H/In interaction is also investigated, with the purpose of producing GeNWs by the growth techniques we have developed.

# 3.5.1 SN/a-SI:H INTERACTION

Sn thin films with a nominal thickness of ~5 nm were thermally evaporated on *c*-Si substrates with native oxide. After that, the Sn thin films were treated by our standard H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction (100 sccm, 400 mTorr of H<sub>2</sub>, 5W, 300°C, 5 mins) and ~10 nm *a*-Si:H was deposited at nominal 180°C. Then this bilayer structure was annealed at a nominal 600°C<sup>9</sup> for activating the reaction. Note that the eutectic temperature of Sn-Si alloy is 232°C (see Table 3.3).

As shown in Figure 3.27, the redistribution of Sn NPs is quite similar to that we have obtained for indium (see 3.2.1.1), which is revealed by etching the residual *a*-Si:H and *c*-Si materials by  $H_2$  plasma after all the steps.

However, the morphology of SiNWs differs from the ones catalysed by In. Indeed, as shown in Figure 3.28, the diameters of SiNWs decrease along the axial direction, and no Sn NPs are observed at the tips of SiNWs. Thus, it seems that liquid Sn NPs did not move on *a*-Si:H as smoothly as the ones of In NPs. On one hand, the structure of *a*-Si:H was relaxed due to high temperature annealing at 420°C, thereby the reactive spreading behaviour of liquid Sn on it was suppressed. On the other hand, the reactive spreading effect in the initial stages of SiNWs growth seems stronger than that of In, as shown in Figure 3.28.e. This is probably because liquid Sn can dissolve more Si atoms than In, whose atomic fraction is five orders of magnitude higher at the eutectic point, as listed in Table 3.3. It is known that interfacial chemical bonding can be built up between the solute and the solid substrates and thus affects the wetting behaviour [167]-[172]. This could explain the difference in the reactive spreading between liquid Sn and In at the initial stage of SiNWs growth, that liquid Si-Sn alloy with higher Si atomic fraction wets the substrate more significantly than liquid Si-In alloy.

Another especial phenomenon is the disappearance of Sn NPs at the end points of SiNWs, which indicates that the growth was stopped unintentionally due to the consumption of Sn catalyst during the growing process. The reason still remains unclear: (1) the evaporation of Sn at high temperature (calibrated value is 420°C) could be one (see Figure 2.7); (2) the behaviour of metallic atoms incorporating into NWs during growth [173]-[179] could also contribute to the consumption of Sn, however the amount of Sn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The calibrated temperature is  $\sim$ 420°C, see Appendix A.

atoms diffused into SiNWs is quite limited in the range of  $10^{19} \sim 10^{20}$  atoms per cm<sup>3</sup> as measured by APT (atomic probe tomography) [180]; (3) surface migration of metal on NWs surfaces was also proposed to explain the evolution of metal catalyst (Au and Sn) during VLS growth [181][182], however, from our point of view, this surface wetting behaviour is expected due to the reactive spreading of liquid metal on the *a*-Si:H deposited on the sidewall during the VLS growth, but as no *a*-Si:H deposition takes place during the IPSLS growth (see 3.6), this argument does not hold.



Figure 3.27 Redistribution of Sn NPs: nominal 5nm Sn thin film (a) treated by normal H<sub>2</sub> plasma reduction, 10 nm *a*-Si:H coating and annealing at 600°C, then treated by H<sub>2</sub> plasma for removing the remnant *a*-Si:H and *c*-Si (b, c, d).



Figure 3.28 Morphology of SiNWs catalysed by Sn NPs.

# 3.5.2 AU/*a*-SI:H INTERACTION

Au thin films with a nominal thickness of ~5 nm were thermally evaporated on *c*-Si wafer coated with a barrier layer of ~100 nm sputtered SiO<sub>2</sub> layer, and treated with the same *a*-Si:H coating and bilayer annealing process as in the case of Sn. Figure 3.29 shows SEM images of: (1) the as-evaporated Au (a, b) displaying an island-like morphology; (2) the annealed bilayer (c, d) in which tiny Si crystals can be observed, but no SiNWs growth; (3) after removing residual *a*- and *c*- Si materials by H<sub>2</sub> plasma etching, the redistribution of Au islands was also revealed.

Here, a direct impression is that this Au-Si interaction is more like a MIC process (i.e. polycrystalline Si segregates the Au above and beneath it, see Figure 3.1.a) rather than the IPSLS growth. It has been also reported that Au-catalysed SiNWs via the VLS mode can be grown horizontally on the SiO<sub>2</sub> [183] or Si (111) surface [184], thus it is expected that the difference in the growth methods (VLS vs IPSLS) does determine the different morphologies of Au-Si interaction products, as will be also discussed later in 3.6.

Another assumption is that the Si atomic fraction in liquid Au-rich Au-Si alloy is much higher (see Table 3.3) than that of Si in In and Sn. Therefore, more Si atoms are needed for the Au-Si intermixing at the initial stage in order to accomplish supersaturation and the following *c*-Si nucleation for establishing chemical gradient. In the experiment, perhaps the sizes of Au NPs are so large that *a*-Si:H surrounding them has been depleted and left them isolated on the substrates, with no critical chemical gradient built up, nor the continuous supply of Si atoms.



Figure 3.29 Interaction of a-Si:H/Au bilayer annealed at 600°C.

# 3.5.3 IN/a-GE:H INTERACTION

Indium thin films with nominal thicknesses of ~5 and ~50 on SiO<sub>2</sub> nm were treated by the same H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment, 10 nm *a*-Ge:H coating and annealing at 350°C for the GeNWs growth. Note that this experiment was carried out in another PECVD system ARCAM, the setting temperature is considered as the real value, which is high enough for activating the growth of In-catalysed GeNWs. GeNWs can be rarely found from the sample of ~ 5 nm *a*-Ge:H/In bilayer structure, with morphology similar with the one observed for SiNWs grown from *a*-Si:H/Sn interaction (see Figure 3.28); and no GeNWs are found on ~ 50 nm *a*-Ge:H/In bilayer.

It is known that hydrogen effusion out of *a*-Ge:H starts at 200°C, compared with 300°C for *a*-Si:H [185]; also *a*-Ge crystallizes at lower temperatures (e.g. 250°C [185], 300-400°C [3]) than *a*-Si (600°C) [8]. Ellipsometry characterization tells that *a*-Ge:H did not crystallize after 1 hour, 350°C annealing, as shown in Figure 3.31. Anyhow, its structure might be relaxed, so less-reactive with liquid In for the GeNWs growth. The few-grown GeNWs probably took place during temperature raising period, since it takes time for substrate temperature arising from 150°C to 350°C. Therefore, lowering the annealing temperature is expected as a possible solution for the IPSLS GeNWs growth.



Figure 3.30 Interaction of *a*-Ge:H/In thin films treated with the same process carried out on *a*-Si:H/In bilayer structure.



Figure 3.31 Fitting result of the pseudo-dielectric function in Tauc-Lorentz dispersion model for *a*-Ge:H deposited at 150°C on *c*-Si wafer and annealed at 350°C for 1h.

Binary alloy	T <sub>eutectic</sub> (°C)	Composition $X_{Si, Ge}$ , atomic fraction % at $T_{eutectic}$	Reference
Si-Ga	30°C	$6 \times 10^{-10}$	[186]
Si-In	157°C	$4 \times 10^{-10}$	[137]
Si-Sn	232°C	$5 \times 10^{-5}$	[187]
Si-Au	363°C	$1.8 \times 10$	[188]
Ge-Ga	30°C	$6 \times 10^{-5}$	[189]
Ge-In	157°C	$7 \times 10^{-4}$	[190]
Ge-Sn	232°C	$2.6 \times 10^{-1}$	[191]
Ge-Au	361°C	$2.8 \times 10$	[192]

Table 3.3 Summary of metal catalyst-Si (or Ge) binary alloy phase diagrams

# 3.5.4 CONCLUSION

The above results show that indium is still the only metal that efficiently catalyses the growth of IPSLS SiNWs. Au/*a*-Si:H interaction leads to a MIC process of bilayer structure, which cannot produce a 1-D material. Sn/*a*-Si:H interaction can produce SiNWs, but with low yield and uncontrollable morphology. Moreover, the SiNWs growth mediated by Sn seems quite unstable. Reviewing the experiments with Au and Sn as metal catalyst, it seems to us the main mistake is the growth temperature was set at nominal 600°C (calibrated value=420°C), which probably activated the structure relaxation of *a*-Si:H. On the one hand, relaxed *a*-Si:H has lower Gibbs energy and therefore its Gibbs energy barrier for crystallization arises. This indicates that the metal catalysing effect at a certain temperature can be weakened. On the other hand, from the point of view of Si-In intermixing, it tends to be difficult to weaken and break the bonds in relaxed *a*-Si:H network, which can result in the failure of reactive spreading behaviour of liquid metals. These postulates are also applicable for explaining the failure of In/*a*-Ge:H interaction.

Figure 3.32 summarizes the composition  $X_{Si}$  (Ge) of selected metal-Si (Ge) binary alloys at their eutectic points. The hydrogen effusion and crystallization temperatures are also indicated, respectively. Assuming that hydrogen effusion can induce the structural relaxation, it appears from this graph that there are not so many choices of metal catalyst for *a*-Ge:H (Ga and In), compared with *a*-Si:H (Ga, In, Sn, Au). However, the eutectic points of Au-Si and In-Ge are quite close to their respective H effusion temperature, further tests should be carried out.

Based on the above results, the uniqueness of indium for IPSLS growth mode appears to be its low melting point (same as Si-In eutectic point), which does not bring out significant modification of *a*-Si:H structural properties when forming liquid In-Si alloy. According to these results, Ga is expected to be another favourable catalyst for Si and Ge NWs growth. However this requires to deposit *a*-Si:H below Ga melting point (30°C). Furthermore, we suggest that this uniqueness is tightly correlated with the process of IPSLS growth mode, say, growing SiNWs (GeNWs) after Si (Ge) precursor deposition, which is discussed in the next section.



Figure 3.32 Summary of the composition  $X_{Si(Ge)}$  of metal-Si (Ge) binary alloy at the eutectic and H effusion and solid-phase crystallization temperatures, respectively.

# 3.6 IPSLS VS. VLS GROWTH MODES

The IPSLS growth mode has been investigated and explained from the point of view of reactive spreading of liquid In on *a*-Si:H, which is supported by:

- 1) the metal-Si intermixing theory in the field of metal-amorphous Si interaction (i.e. MIC);
- 2) the theory of spontaneous motion of liquid drop on a solid surface with chemical potential gradient (i.e. surface energy gradient);
- 3) the heterogeneous nucleation theory when focusing the *c*-Si precipitation from liquid Si-In alloy.

In order to deepen our understanding of the IPSLS growth mode, we compare it with vapour-liquid-solid (VLS) growth mode [193]-[196]. Table 3.4 summaries the IPSLS and VLS growth modes.

Growth mode	IPSLS	VLS	
Driving force	Supersaturation of M-S alloy		
Phase of catalyst (M)	Liquid		
Catalyst candidates (M)	Only In (till now)	Many	
Secondary of any second of (S)	Solid phase	Vapour phase	
Supply of precursor (S)	Before growth	During growth	
Precursor candidates (S)	Only Si (till now)	IV, III-V, metal oxides, etc.	
Growth direction	Lateral	Vertical	
Growth temperature	Low (above 300°C)	High (aove 400°C)	
Growth rate <sup>10</sup>	High (40 nm/s) [110]	Low (< 10 nm/s) [202]	

Table 3.4 Summary of IPSLS vs VLS growth modes [197]-[201]. Note that M and S represent metal and semiconductor, respectively.

Similarities exist in these two growth modes (in blue colour): (1) metal catalysts for mediating the growth are in liquid phase; (2) supersaturation in the M-S liquid alloys activates the semiconductor nucleation and crystal growth. Thereby, the physical and chemical events occurring at the M-S interfaces are similar. So the difference between the two growth modes derives from the supply manner of semiconductor precursors (in red colour).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For giving a general idea, we only use data of SiNWs grown in PECVD system, published from LPICM.

Figure 3.33 presents a comparison between VLS and IPSLS mode. Take SiNWs growth in a PECVD system for instance, as the nanowire growth results from the interaction between catalyst droplets and a-Si:H deposition (see Figure 3.33.a), we consider that different a-Si:H deposition conditions result in VLS or IPSLS growth mode. Misra et al. suggested that there exists a wetting layer of metal catalyst (Sn in their study) during the VLS growth of SiNWs [182]. As illustrated in Figure 3.33.b, the a-Si:H deposition has three basic routes: (1) directly on the metal droplet, (2) on the sidewall of SiNWs, (3) on the substrate. We suggest that the wetting behaviour is activated and maintained by the a-Si:H deposited on the sidewall of SiNWs. Furthermore, we assume that the tapering shape of SiNWs is caused by metal wetting layer induced crystallization of a-Si:H. Simply speaking, the morphology of a VLS grown NW results from a competition between axial and radial growth. Moreover, Schwartz et al. proposed that the stability of metal droplet/NW interface determines the NW growth behaviour via VLS method [203]. As shown in Figure 3.33.c, (1) stable droplet/NW interface leads a steady straight NW growth, while (2) kinking or (3) pinning effects are due to the fact that the catalyst droplets wet on higher surface energy edge. Yu et al. reported that long and straight VLS-grown vertical SiNWs are favoured by high substrate temperature and diluted silane in H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere [202]. In contrast, Rathi et al. achieved VLS-grown lateral epitaxial SiNWs by undiluted silane at low substrate temperature [184]. This is in agreement with our assumption that a-Si:H deposition conditions determine the NWs growth behaviour. Lateral SiNWs growth via VLS mode needs high surface energy at its initial pedestal edge (i.e. condition (3) in Figure 3.33.c), so the a-Si:H deposition on the substrate (i.e. route (3) in Figure 3.33.b) should be emphasized rather than other two deposition routes. So we suggest that IPSLS growth mode is a particular variant of VLS mode, where a-Si:H is deposited on the substrate before NW growth so that its high surface energy pins the catalyst droplets and realizes the lateral NW growth, as illustrated in Figure 3.33.d.



Figure 3.33 IPSLS mode vs VLS mode. (a) SiNWs growth in a PECVD system: interaction between indium catalyst and *a*-Si:H deposition, different *a*-Si:H deposition conditions result in VLS or IPSLS growth modes. (b) VLS grown vertical SiNW, during which silicon radicals are deposited directly on the indium droplet (1), on the NW sidewall (2), or on the substrate. (3) A wetting layer on the NW sidewall is reported [182], the *a*-Si:H deposited on NW sidewall is suggested to activate and maintain this wetting behaviour. (c) Simulation results of different NW growth behaviours via VLS method, indicating that (1) stable droplet/NW interface leads a steady straight NW growth, while (2) kinking or (3) pinning effects are due to the fact that the catalyst droplets wet on higher surface energy edge [203]. (d) IPSLS SiNW growth, where the *a*-Si:H is deposited before NW growth (i.e. during *a*-Si:H deposition indium catalyst is solid so that Si-In reaction is suppressed), which enables to pin the indium droplet on the substrate.

# 3.7 SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

In this Chapter, the growth mechanism of in-plane solid-liquid-solid SiNWs has been explained from the viewpoint of spontaneous motion of liquid In NPs on *a*-Si:H. Liquid In reactively spreads on *a*-Si:H, transforms Si from amorphous to crystalline phase, thereby builds up a surface energy gradient from *a*-Si:H surface to low energy substrate surface. Driven by the unbalanced Young's force, the liquid In move forwards to the *a*-Si:H region. The SiNW growth contributes to maintain the surface energy gradient; reversely, it is also the products from the liquid In movement on *a*-Si:H.

SEM observations indicate that the movement of a liquid In NP on *a*-Si:H leaves a trail which can be divided into two parts with a constant ratio: the SiNW located in the center and at its two sides there is a wider trench with some residual *a*-Si:H. A possible reason is that the central region depleted of *a*-Si:H favours the precipitation of *c*-Si. Further geometric investigation and statistical analysis reveals that the liquid In reactive spreading behaviour can be enhanced by relatively thicker *a*-Si:H. The relationship between SiNWs diameter, *a*-Si:H thickness and In NP size has been quantitatively described.

As it is the *a*-Si:H layer that modifies the substrate surface and enables the liquid In movement, the structural properties of *a*-Si:H have been studied, in order to lower the growth temperature. From the atomic viewpoint, the growth of SiNWs is a series of processes: Si bond breaking in *a*-Si:H, In-Si intermixing and alloying and Si nucleation and crystal growth. Based on it, a simple strategy of lowering the *a*-Si:H deposition temperature is proposed to intentionally introduce extra disorder in the amorphous network so that the Si bonds are weakened and the Gibbs energy barrier of crystallization is lowered. The *a*-Si:H structural modification is demonstrated by Raman and spectroscopic ellipsometry measurement. By depositing *a*-Si:H at 120°C we could achieve SiNW growth at a nominal temperature of 350°C, compared with growth temperature of 450°C for *a*-Si:H deposited at 180°C.

To further understand the IPSLS growth mode, other metal catalysts (i.e. Sn and Au) and alternative solid precursor (*a*-Ge:H) are applied to grow NWs. However, none of them produced SiNWs. A possible reason for their failure is that the eutectic points of binary alloys (i.e. Si-Sn, Si-Au, and Ge-In) are quite near the respective hydrogen effusion temperature of *a*-Si:H or *a*-Ge:H, which is assumed as the boundary for NWs growth. Above this temperature, the amorphous network can get relaxed or even start to crystallize so that the interaction between liquid In and *a*-Si:H is impeded and so is the SiNWs growth. Indium is till now the most successful catalyst candidate as the eutectic temperature of In-Si alloy is far lower than the temperature for hydrogen effusion from *a*-Si:H. Based on this criteria (Figure 3.32), Ga and In are predicted as favorable candidates for GeNWs growth.

### 3.8 References

- F. Oki, Y. Ogawa, Y. Fujiki. "Effect of Deposited Metals on the Crystallization Temperature of Amorphous Germanium Film." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 8(8), 1056 (1969).
- [2]. J. R. Bosnell and U. C. Voisey. "The influence of contact materials on the conduction crystallization temperature and electrical properties of amorphous germanium, silicon and boron films." Thin Solid Films 6(3), 161-166 (1970).
- [3]. S. R. Herd, P. Chaudhari, M. H. Brodsky. "Metal contact induced crystallization in films of amorphous silicon and germanium." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 7(4), 309-327 (1972).
- [4]. G. Ottaviani, D. Sigurd, V. Marrello, J. O. McCaldin, J. W. Mayer. "Crystal Growth of Silicon and Germanium in Metal Films." Science 180(4089), 948-949 (1973).
- [5]. T. J. Konno and R. Sinclair. "Metal-contact-induced crystallization of semiconductors." Materials Science and Engineering: A V179-180, Part 1(0), 426-432 (1994).
- [6]. L. Pereira, H. Aguas, R. M. S. Martins, P. Vilarinho, E. Fortunato, R. Martins. "Polycrystalline silicon obtained by metal induced crystallization using different metals." Thin Solid Films V451-452(0): 334-339 (2004).
- [7]. G. L. Olson and J. A. Roth. "Kinetics of solid phase crystallization in amorphous silicon." Materials Science Reports 3(1), 1-77 (1988).
- [8]. K. Zellama, P. Germain, S. Squelard, J. C. Bourgoin, P. A. Thomas. "Crystallization in amorphous silicon." Journal of Applied Physics 50(11), 6995-7000 (1979).
- [9]. R. B. Iverson and R. Reif. "Recrystallization of amorphized polycrystalline silicon films on SiO2: Temperature dependence of the crystallization parameters." Journal of Applied Physics 62(5), 1675-1681 (1987).
- [10]. Y. Masaki, P. G. LeComber, A. G. Fitzgerald. "Solid phase crystallization of thin films of Si prepared by plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition." Journal of Applied Physics 74(1), 129-134 (1993).
- [11]. T. Matsuyama, N. Terada, T. Baba, T. Sawada, S. Tsuge, K. Wakisaka, S. Tsuda. "High-quality polycrystalline silicon thin film prepared by a solid phase crystallization method." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 198-200, Part 2(0), 940-944 (1996).
- [12]. C. Spinella, S. Lombardo, F. Priolo. "Crystal grain nucleation in amorphous silicon." Journal of Applied Physics 84(10), 5383-5414 (1998).
- [13]. J. M. Poate and J. W. Mayer. "Laser annealing of semicondutors." Academic Press (1982).
- [14]. T. Sameshima and S. Usui. "XeCl Excimer Laser Annealing Used to Fabricate Poly-Si Tfts." MRS Proceedings 71(Symposium F – Materials Issues in Silicon Integrated Circuit Processing (1986)).
- [15]. T. Sameshima, M. Hara, S. Usui. "XeCl Excimer laser annealing used in the fabrication of poly-Si TFT's." Electron Device Letters, IEEE 7(5), 276-278 (1986).
- [16]. K. Sera, F. Okumura, H. Uchida, S. Itoh, S. Kaneko, K. Hotta. "High-performance TFTs fabricated by XeCl excimer laser annealing of hydrogenated amorphous-silicon film." Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on 36(12), 2868-2872 (1989).
- [17]. J. S. Im, H. J. Kim, M. O. Thompson. "Phase transformation mechanisms involved in excimer laser crystallization of amorphous silicon films." Applied Physics Letters 63(14), 1969-1971 (1993).
- [18]. P. M. Smith, P. G. Carey, T. W. Sigmon. "Excimer laser crystallization and doping of silicon films on plastic substrates." Applied Physics Letters 70(3), 342-344 (1997).
- [19]. M. Miyasaka and J. Stoemenos. "Excimer laser annealing of amorphous and solid-phasecrystallized silicon films." Journal of Applied Physics 86(10), 5556-5565 (1999).

- [20]. J. Nakata and K. Kajiyama. "Novel low-temperature recrystallization of amorphous silicon by high - energy ion beam." Applied Physics Letters 40(8), 686-688 (1982).
- [21]. J. S. Williams, R. G. Elliman, W. L. Brown, T. E. Seidel. "Dominant Influence of Beam-Induced Interface Rearrangement on Solid-Phase Epitaxial Crystallization of Amorphous Silicon." Physical Review Letters 55(14), 1482-1485 (1985).
- [22]. R. G. Elliman, J. S. Williams, W. L. Brown, A. Leiberich, D. M. Maher, R. V. Knoell. "Ionbeam-induced crystallization and amorphization of silicon." Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 19–20, Part 2(0), 435-442 (1987).
- [23]. F. Priolo and E. Rimini. "Ion-beam-induced epitaxial crystallization and amorphization in silicon." Materials Science Reports 5(7–8), 321-379 (1990).
- [24]. L. A. Marqués, M.-J. Caturla, T. D. de la Rubia, G. H. Gilmer. "Ion beam induced recrystallization of amorphous silicon: A molecular dynamics study." Journal of Applied Physics 80(11), 6160-6169 (1996).
- [25]. L. Pelaz, L. A. Marqués, J. Barbolla. "Ion-beam-induced amorphization and recrystallization in silicon." Journal of Applied Physics 96(11), 5947-5976 (2004).
- [26]. J. Jang, J. Y. Oh, S. K. Kim, Y. J. Choi, S. Y. Yoon, C. O. Kim. "Electric-field-enhanced crystallization of amorphous silicon." Nature 395(6701), 481-483 (1998).
- [27]. W. Knaepen, C. Detavernier, R. L. Van Meirhaeghe, J. J. Sweet, C. Lavoie. "In-situ X-ray Diffraction study of Metal Induced Crystallization of amorphous silicon." Thin Solid Films 516(15), 4946-4952 (2008).
- [28]. S. P. Murarka. "Refractory silicides for integrated circuits." Journal of Vacuum Science & Comp. Technology 17(4), 775-792 (1980).
- [29]. S. P. Murarka (B. T. Laboratories). "Silicdes for VLSI applications." Academic Press (1983)
- [30]. G. Ottaviani. "Review of binary alloy formation by thin film interactions." Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology 16(5), 1112-1119 (1979).
- [31]. S. Gaudet, C. Detavernier, A. J. Kellock, P. Desjardins, C. Lavoie. "Thin film reaction of transition metals with germanium." Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology A 24(3), 474-485 (2006).
- [32]. R. M. Walser and R. W. Bené. "First phase nucleation in silicon-transition-metal planar interfaces." Applied Physics Letters 28(10), 624-625 (1976).
- [33]. R. C. Cammarata, J. L. Batstone. "Silicide precipitation and silicon crystallization in nickel implanted amorphous silicon thin films." Journal of Materials Research 5(10), 2133-2138 (1990).
- [34]. Y. Kawazu, H. Kudo, S. Onari, T. Arai. "Initial Stage of the Interfacial Reaction between Nickel and Hydrogenated Amorphous Silicon." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 29(4R), 729 (1990).
- [35]. S. Y. Yoon, K. H. Kim, C. O. Kim, J. Y. Oh, J. Jang. "Low temperature metal induced crystallization of amorphous silicon using a Ni solution." Journal of Applied Physics 82(11), 5865-5867 (1997).
- [36]. M. Seibt, S. Buschbaum, U. Gnauert, W. Schröter, D. Oelgeschläger. "Nanoscale Observation of a Grain Boundary Related Growth Mode in Thin Film Reactions." Physical Review Letters 80(4): 774-777 (1998).
- [37]. L. K. Lam, S.-K. Chen, D. G. Ast. "Kinetics of nickel-induced lateral crystallization of amorphous silicon thin-film transistors by rapid thermal and furnace anneals." Applied Physics Letters 74(13), 1866-1868 (1999).
- [38]. S. Y. Yoon, S. J. Park, K. H. Kim, Jin Jang. "Metal-induced crystallization of amorphous silicon." Thin Solid Films 383(1-2), 34-38 (2001).

- [39]. M. Miyasaka, K. Makihira, T. Asano, E. Polychroniadis, J. Stoemenos. "In situ observation of nickel metal-induced lateral crystallization of amorphous silicon thin films." Applied Physics Letters 80(6), 944-946 (2002).
- [40]. K. U. M. Kumar and M. G. Krishna. "Chromium-Induced Nanocrystallization of a-Si Thin Films into the Wurtzite Structure." Journal of Nanomaterials 2008, No. 57 (2008).
- [41]. M. A. Mohiddon and M. G. Krishna. "Nanocrystalline wurtzite Si-nickel silicide composite thin films with large band gap and high resistivity." Journal of materials Science 46(8), 2672-2677 (2011).
- [42]. K. N. Tu. "Selective growth of metal-rich silicide of near-noble metals." Applied Physics Letters 27(4), 221-224 (1975).
- [43]. M. S. Ashtikar and G. L. Sharma. "Structural Investigation of Gold Induced Crystallization in Hydrogenated Amorphous Silicon Thin Films." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 34(10R), 5520 (1995).
- [44]. L. Hultman, A. Robertsson, H. T. G. Hentzell, I. Engstrôm, P. A. Psaras. "Crystallization of amorphous silicon during thin-film gold reaction." Journal of Applied Physics 62(9), 3647-3655 (1987).
- [45]. M. S. Haque, H. A. Naseem, W. D. Brown. "Interaction of aluminum with hydrogenated amorphous silicon at low temperatures." Journal of Applied Physics 75(8), 3928-3935 (1994).
- [46]. M. S. Ashtikar and G. L. Sharma. "Silicide mediated low temperature crystallization of hydrogenated amorphous silicon in contact with aluminum." Journal of Applied Physics 78(2), 913-918 (1995).
- [47]. J. H. Kim and J.-Y. Lee. "Al-Induced Crystallization of an Amorphous Si Thin Film in a Polycrystalline Al/Native SiO<sub>2</sub> /Amorphous Si Structure." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 35(4R), 2052 (1996).
- [48]. O. Nast, T. Puzzer, L. M. Koschier, A. B. Sproul, S. R. Wenham. "Aluminum-induced crystallization of amorphous silicon on glass substrates above and below the eutectic temperature." Applied Physics Letters 73(22), 3214-3216 (1998).
- [49]. O. Nast, S. Brehme, D. H. Neuhaus, S. R. Wenham. "Polycrystalline silicon thin films on glass by aluminum-induced crystallization." Electron Devices, IEEE Transactions on 46(10), 2062-2068 (1999).
- [50]. O. Nast and A. J. Hartmann. "Influence of interface and Al structure on layer exchange during aluminum-induced crystallization of amorphous silicon." Journal of Applied Physics 88(2), 716-724 (2000).
- [51]. O. Nast and S. R. Wenham. "Elucidation of the layer exchange mechanism in the formation of polycrystalline silicon by aluminum-induced crystallization." Journal of Applied Physics 88(1), 124-132 (2000).
- [52]. Y. Sugimoto, N. Takata, T. Hirota, K. Ikeda, F. Yoshida, H. Nakashima, H. Nakashima. "Low-Temperature Fabrication of Polycrystalline Si Thin Film Using Al-Induced Crystallization without Native Al Oxide at Amorphous Si/Al Interface." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 44(7R), 4770 (2005).
- [53]. G. Radnoczi, A. Robertsson, H. T. G. Hentzell, S. F. Gong, M.-A. Hasan. "Al induced crystallization of a-Si." Journal of Applied Physics 69(9), 6394-6399 (1991).
- [54]. P. I. Widenborg and A. G. Aberle. "Surface morphology of poly-Si films made by aluminium-induced crystallisation on glass substrates." Journal of Crystal Growth 242(3-4), 270-282 (2002).
- [55]. Z. T. Zhong, D. W. Wang, X. B. Liao, S. M. Mou, C. F. Li, Y. Fan. "Interfacial formation process and reactions between Au and hydrogenated amorphous Si studied by XPS and AES." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 134(1-2), 141-146 (1991).

- [56]. M. Jeon, C. Jeong, K. Kamisako. "Tin induced crystallisation of hydrogenated amorphous silicon thin films." Materials Science and Technology 26(7), 875-878 (2010).
- [57]. V. Neimash, V. Poroshin, P. Shepeliavyi, V. Yukymchuk, V. Melnyk, A. Kuzmich, V. Makara, A. O. Goushcha. "Tin induced a-Si crystallization in thin films of Si-Sn alloys." Journal of Applied Physics 114, 213104 (2013)
- [58]. A. Hiraki, M.-A. Nicolet, J. W. Mayer. "LOW-TEMPERATURE MIGRATION OF SILICON IN THIN LAYERS OF GOLD AND PLATINUM." Applied Physics Letters 18(5), 178-181 (1971).
- [59]. A. Hiraki and E. Lugujjo. "Low-Temperature Migration of Silicon in Metal Films on Silicon Substrates Studied by Backscattering Techniques." Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology 9(1), 155-158 (1972).
- [60]. A. Hiraki, E. Lugujjo, J. W. Mayer. "Formation of silicon oxide over gold layers on silicon substrates." Journal of Applied Physics 43(9), 3643-3649 (1972).
- [61]. A. Hiraki, K. Shuto, S. Kim, W. Kammura, M. Iwami. "Room-temperature interfacial reaction in Au-semiconductor systems." Applied Physics Letters 31(9), 611-612 (1977).
- [62]. A. Hiraki. "A Model on the Mechanism of Room Temperature Interfacial Intermixing Reaction in Various Metal-Semiconductor Couples: What Triggers the Reaction?" Journal of The Electrochemical Society 127(12), 2662-2665 (1980).
- [63]. T. Narusawa, W. M. Gibson, A. Hiraki. "Initial stage of room-temperature metal-silicide formation studied by high-energy He<sup>+</sup>-ion scattering." Physical Review B 24(8), 4835-4838 (1981).
- [64]. K. Okuno, T. Ito, M. Iwami, A. Hiraki. "Low energy electron loss spectroscopic study of Pd-Si(111) system." Solid State Communications 44(2), 209-212 (1982).
- [65]. A. Hiraki. "Low temperature reactions at Si/metal interfaces: What is going on at the interfaces?" Surface Science Reports 3(7), 357-412 (1983).
- [66]. A. Hiraki. "Low Temperature Reactions at Si-Metal Contacts:From SiO2 Growth due to Si-Au Reaction to the Mechanism of Silicide Formation." Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 22(Part 1, No. 4), 13 (1983).
- [67]. A. Hiraki. "Initial formation process of metal/silicon interfaces." Surface Science 168(1986): 74-99 (1986).
- [68]. N. Popović, T. Nenadović, I. Bogdanov, M. Milić, R. Petrović. "Low temperature diffusion effects on microstructural changes in thick gold films on silicon." Thin Solid Films 193/194, Part 1(0), 453-462 (1990).
- [69]. A. Hiraki. "Recent developments on metal-silicon interfaces." Applied Surface Science V56-58, Part 1(0), 370-381 (1992).
- [70]. L. Pauling. "The nature of the chemical bond. IV. The energy of single bonds and the relative electronegativity of the atoms." Journal of the American Chemical Society 54(9): 3570-3582 (1932).
- [71]. A. L. Allred. "Electronegativity values from thermochemical data." Journal of Inorganic and Nuclear Chemistry 17, 215-221 (1961).
- [72]. J. Y. Wang, D. He, Y. H. Zhao, E. J. Mittemeijer. "Wetting and crystallization at grain boundaries: Origin of aluminum-induced crystallization of amorphous silicon." Applied Physics Letters 88, 061910 (2006).
- [73]. Z. M. Wang, J. Y. Wang, L. P. H. Jeurgens, E. J. Mittemeijer. "Tailoring the Ultrathin Al-Induced Crystallization Temperature of Amorphous Si by Application of Interface Thermodynamics." Physical Review Letters 100(12), 125503 (2008).
- [74]. Z. M. Wang, J. Y. Wang, L. P. H. Jeurgens, E. J. Mittemeijer. "Thermodynamics and mechanism of metal-induced crystallization in immiscible alloy systems: Experiments and calculations on Al/a-Ge and Al/a-Si bilayers." Physical Review B 77(4), 045424 (2008).

- [75]. Z. M. Wang, L. Gu, F. Phillipp, J. Y. Wang, L. P. H. Jeurgens, E. J. Mittemeijer. "Metal-Catalyzed Growth of Semiconductor Nanostructures Without Solubility and Diffusivity Constraints." Advanced Materials 23(7), 854-859 (2011).
- [76]. Z. M. Wang, L. Gu, L. P. H. Jeurgens, E. J. Mittemeijer. "Real-Time Visualization of Convective Transportation of Solid Materials at Nanoscale." Nano Letters 12(12), 6126-6132 (2012).
- [77]. F. Brochard. "Motions of droplets on solid surfaces induced by chemical or thermal gradients." Langmuir 5(2), 432-438 (1989).
- [78]. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Contact\_angle
- [79]. M. K. Chaudhury and G. M. Whitesides. "How to Make Water Run Uphill." Science 256(5063), 1539-1541 (1992).
- [80]. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Laplace\_pressure
- [81]. H. Bousse, Capillarité et Phénomènes Superficielles (Delagrave Paris, 1924)
- [82]. N. O. Young, J. S. Goldstein, M. J. Block. "The motion of bubbles in a vertical temperature gradient." Journal of Fluid Mechanics 6, 350-356 (1959).
- [83]. K. D. Barton and R. S. Subramanian. "The migration of liquid drops in a vertical temperature gradient." Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 133(1), 211-222 (1989).
- [84]. C. G. M. Marangoni, Ann. Phys. Chem. (Poggendorf) 143, 337 (1871)
- [85]. A.W. Adamson, Physical Chemistry of Surfaces (Wiley, New York, ed. 3, 1976)
- [86]. T. R. Anthony and H. E. Cline. "Thermomigration of Gold-Rich Droplets in Silicon." Journal of Applied Physics 43(5), 2473-2476 (1972).
- [87]. P. G. de Gennes. "Wetting: statics and dynamics." Reviews of Modern Physics 57(3), 827-863 (1985).
- [88]. N. Moumen, R. S. Subramanian, J. B. McLaughlin. "Experiments on the Motion of Drops on a Horizontal Solid Surface Due to a Wettability Gradient." Langmuir 22(6), 2682-2690 (2006).
- [89]. E. F. Hare and W. A. Zisman. "Autophobic Liquids and the Properties of their Adsorbed Films." The Journal of Physical Chemistry 59(4), 335-340 (1955).
- [90]. C. D. Bain and G. M. Whitesides. "A study by contact angle of the acid-base behavior of monolayers containing .omega.-mercaptocarboxylic acids adsorbed on gold: an example of reactive spreading." Langmuir 5(6), 1370-1378 (1989).
- [91]. H. A. Biebuyck and G. M. Whitesides. "Autophobic Pinning of Drops of Alkanethiols on Gold." Langmuir 10(12), 4581-4587 (1994).
- [92]. F.D. Dos Santos and T. Ondarçuhu. "Free-Running Droplets." Physical Review Letters 75(16), 2972-2975 (1995).
- [93]. S.-W. Lee and P. E. Laibinis. "Directed Movement of Liquids on Patterned Surfaces Using Noncovalent Molecular Adsorption." Journal of the American Chemical Society 122(22), 5395-5396 (2000).
- [94]. S.-W. Lee, D. Y. Kwok, P. E. Laibinis. "Chemical influences on adsorption-mediated selfpropelled drop movement." Physical Review E 65(5), 051602 (2002).
- [95]. C. D. Bain, G. D. Burnett-Hall, R. R. Montgomerie. "Rapid motion of liquid drops." Nature 372(6505), 414-415 (1994).
- [96]. Y. Xia, and G. M. Whitesides. "Use of controlled reactive spreading of liquid alkanethiol on the surface of gold to modify the size of features produced by microcontact Printing." Journal of the American Chemical Society 117(11), 3274-3275 (1995).
- [97]. Y. Sumino, N. Magome, T. Hamada, K. Yoshikawa. "Self-Running Droplet: Emergence of Regular Motion from Nonequilibrium Noise." Physical Review Letters 94(6), 068301 (2005).
- [98]. H. Haidara, L. Vonna, J. Schultz. "Surfactant induced Marangoni motion of a droplet into an external liquid medium." The Journal of Chemical Physics 107(2), 630-637 (1997).

- [99]. B. S. Gallardo, V. K. Gupta, F. D. Eagerton, L. I. Jong, V. S. Craig, R. R. Shah, N. L. Abbott. "Electrochemical Principles for Active Control of Liquids on Submillimeter Scales." Science 283(5398): 57-60 (1999).
- [100]. W. Święch, E. Bauer, M. Mundschau. "A low-energy electron microscopy study of the system Si(111)-Au." Surface Science 253, 283-296 (1991).
- [101]. B. Ressel, K. C. Prince, S. Heun, Y. Homma. "Wetting of Si surfaces by Au-Si liquid alloys." Journal of Applied Physics 93(7), 3886-3892 (2003).
- [102]. A. K. Schmid, N. C. Bartelt, R. Q. Hwang. "Alloying at Surfaces by the Migration of Reactive Two-Dimensional Islands." Science 290(5496), 1561-1564 (2000).
- [103]. D. Kashchiev and G. M. van Rosmalen. "Review: Nucleation in solutions revisited." Crystal Research and Technology 38(7-8), 555-574 (2003).
- [104]. Gibbs, J. W. On the equilibrium of heterogeneous substances. Trans. Connect. Acad. Sci. 3, 108–248 (1876).
- [105]. Gibbs, J. W. On the equilibrium of heterogeneous substances. Trans. Connect. Acad. Sci. 16, 343–524 (1878).
- [106]. P. G. Vekilov. "Nucleation." Crystal Growth & Design 10(12), 5007-5019 (2010).
- [107]. P. G., Vekilov. "The two-step mechanism of nucleation of crystals in solution." Nanoscale 2(11), 12 (2010).
- [108]. R. Boistelle and J. P. Astier. "Crystallization mechanisms in solution." Journal of Crystal Growth 90(1-3), 17 (1988).
- [109]. P. G Debenedetti. "Metastable Liquids" Princeton University Press, (1996) Princeton.
- [110]. L. Yu, P.-J. Alet, G. Picardi, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "An In-Plane Solid-Liquid-Solid Growth Mode for Self-Avoiding Lateral Silicon Nanowires." Physical Review Letters 102(12), 125501 (2009).
- [111]. L. Yu and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Initial nucleation and growth of in-plane solid-liquid-solid silicon nanowires catalyzed by indium." Physical Review B 80(8), 085313 (2009).
- [112]. L. Yu and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Growth mechanism and dynamics of in-plane solid-liquidsolid silicon nanowires." Physical Review B 81(8), 085323 (2010).
- [113]. L. Yu and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Morphology control and growth dynamics of in-plane solid–liquid–solid silicon nanowires." Physica E: Low-dimensional Systems and Nanostructures 44(6), 1045-1049 (2012).
- [114]. G. Kumar and K. N. Prabhu. "Review of non-reactive and reactive wetting of liquids on surfaces." Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 133(2), 61-89 (2007).
- [115]. H. K. Yu and J.-L. Lee. "Growth mechanism of metal-oxide nanowires synthesized by electron beam evaporation: A self-catalytic vapor-liquid-solid process." Sci. Rep. 4, 6589 (2014).
- [116]. J. O. McCaldin and T. C. McGill. "The Metal-Semiconductor Interface." Annual Review of Materials Science 10(1), 65-83 (1980).
- [117]. P. Roura and J. Farjas. "Structural relaxation kinetics for first- and second-order processes: Application to pure amorphous silicon." Acta Materialia **57**(7), 2098-2107 (2009).
- [118]. F. Kail, J. Farjas, P. Roura, C. Secouard, O. Nos, J. Bertomeu, F. Alzina, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Relaxation and derelaxation of pure and hydrogenated amorphous silicon during thermal annealing experiments." Applied Physics Letters 97(3), 031918 (2010).
- [119]. R. S. Crandall. "Defect relaxation in amorphous silicon: Stretched exponentials, the Meyer-Neldel rule, and the Staebler-Wronski effect." Physical Review B 43(5), 4057-4070 (1991).
- [120]. E. P. Donovan, F. Spaepen, D. Turnbull, J. M. Poate, D. C. Jacobson. "Calorimetric studies of crystallization and relaxation of amorphous Si and Ge prepared by ion implantation." Journal of Applied Physics 57(6), 1795-1804 (1985).
- [121]. R. A. Street. "Hydrogen chemical potential and structure of a-Si:H." Physical Review B 43(3), 2454-2457 (1991).

- [122]. H. Fuji, H. Nakae, K. Okada. "Interfacial reaction wetting in the boron nitride/molten aluminum system." Acta metal. Mater. 41, 2963 (1993).
- [123]. X. B. Zhou and J. T. M. De Hosson. "Reactive wetting of liquid metals on ceramic substrates." Acta Materialia 44(2), 421-426 (1996).
- [124]. S. Hara, S. Izumi, T. Kumagai, S. Sakai. "Surface energy, stress and structure of well-relaxed amorphous silicon: A combination approach of ab initio and classical molecular dynamics." Surface Science 585(1-2), 17-24 (2005).
- [125]. Classical Molecular Dynamics approach is denoted as CMD, and Density Functional Theory is denoted as DFT.
- [126]. R. J. Jaccodine. "Surface Energy of Germanium and Silicon." Journal of The Electrochemical Society 110(6), 524-527 (1963).
- [127]. W.-Y. Chou, C.-W. Kuo, H.-L. Cheng, Y.-R. Chen, F.-C. Tang, F.-Y. Yang, D.-Y. Shu, C.-C. Liao. "Effect of surface free energy in gate dielectric in pentacene thin-film transistors." Applied Physics Letters 89(11), 112126 (2006).
- [128]. P. Miskiewicz, S. Kotarba, J. Jung, T. Marszalek, M. Mas-Torrent, E. Gomar-Nadal, D. B. Amabilino, C. Rovira, J. Veciana, W. Maniukiewicz, J. Ulanski. "Influence of SiO<sub>2</sub> surface energy on the performance of organic field effect transistors based on highly oriented, zone-cast layers of a tetrathiafulvalene derivative." Journal of Applied Physics **104**(5), 054509 (2008).
- [129]. L. Shijian, T. Harris, C. P. Wong. Study on surface tension and adhesion for flip chip packaging. Advanced Packaging Materials: Processes, Properties and Interfaces, 2001. Proceedings. International Symposium on Advanced Packaging Materials (2001).
- [130]. M. A. McClelland and J. S. Sze. "Surface tension and density measurements for indium and uranium using a sessile-drop apparatus with glow discharge cleaning." Surface Science 330(3), 313-322 (1995).
- [131]. J. S. Kim, R. H. Friend, F. Cacialli. "Surface energy and polarity of treated indium-tin-oxide anodes for polymer light-emitting diodes studied by contact-angle measurements." Journal of Applied Physics 86(5), 2774-2778 (1999).
- [132]. L. Yu, M. Xu, J. Xu, Z. Xue, Z. Fan, G. Picardi, F. Fortuna, J. Wang, Y. Shi, K. Chen, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "In-Plane Epitaxial Growth of Silicon Nanowires and Junction Formation on Si(100) Substrates." Nano Letters 14(11), 6469-6474 (2014).
- [133]. K. Bradley, J.-C. P. Gabriel, G. Grüner. "Flexible Nanotube Electronics." Nano Letters 3(10), 1353-1355 (2003).
- [134]. A. J. Baca, J. H. Ahn, Y. Sun, M. A. Meitl, E. Menard, H. S. Kim, W. M. Choi, D. H. Kim, Y. Huang, J. A. Rogers. "Semiconductor Wires and Ribbons for High-Performance Flexible Electronics." Angewandte Chemie International Edition 47(30), 5524-5542 (2008).
- [135]. W. S. Wong, A. Salleo, I.-C. Cheng, S. Wagner. Overview of Flexible Electronics Technology. Flexible Electronics, Springer US. 11: 1-28 (2009).
- [136]. R. J. Hamers. "Flexible electronic futures." Nature 412(6846), 489-490 (2001).
- [137]. K. Nomura, H. Ohta, A. Takagi, T. Kamiya, M. Hirano, H. Hosono. "Room-temperature fabrication of transparent flexible thin-film transistors using amorphous oxide semiconductors." Nature 432(7016), 488-492 (2004).
- [138]. B. D. Gates. "Flexible Electronics." Science 323(5921), 1566-1567 (2009).
- [139]. R. W. Olesinski, N. Kanani, G. J. Abbaschian. "The In-Si (Indium-Silicon) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 6(2), 128-130 (1985).
- [140]. G. L. Olson and J. A. Roth. "Kinetics of solid phase crystallization in amorphous silicon." Materials Science Reports 3(1), 1-77(1988).

- [141]. J. Farjasa, J. Serra-Mirallesa, P. Roura, E. Bertrana and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Anomalous crystallization of hydrogenated amorphous silicon during fast heating ramps." Journal of Materials Research 20-02, 277-281(2005):.
- [142]. J. Farjas, P. Roura and P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Grain Size Control by Means of Solid Phase Crystallization of Amorphous Silicon". MRS Proceedings Volume 989 (2007).
- [143]. Y. Masaki, P. G. LeComber, A. G. Fitzgerald. "Solid phase crystallization of thin films of Si prepared by plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition." Journal of Applied Physics 74(1), 129-134 (1993).
- [144]. K. Zellama, P. Germain, S. Squelard, J. C. Bourgoin, P. A. Thomas. "Crystallization in amorphous silicon." Journal of Applied Physics 50(11), 6995-7000 (1979).
- [145]. W. C. Sinke, S. Roorda, F. W. Saris. "Variable strain energy in amorphous silicon." Journal of Materials Research 3(06), 1201-1207 (1988).
- [146]. G. Bruno, P. Capezzuto, A. Madan. "Plasma deposition of amorphous silicon-based materials". Academic Press, 118-125 and 247-271 (1995) London.
- [147]. C. Tsang and R. A. Street. "Recombination in plasma-deposited amorphous Si:H. Luminescence decay." Physical Review B **19**(6), 3027-3040 (1979).
- [148]. E. Bertran, J. L. Andújar, A. Canillas, C. Roth, J. Serra, G. Sardin. "Effects of deposition temperature on properties of r.f. glow discharge amorphous silicon thin films." Thin Solid Films 205(2), 140-145 (1991).
- [149]. J. Perrin, B. Bourdon, J. Fontenille, E. Ligeon. "Optical properties and hydrogen concentration in amorphous silicon." Thin Solid Films 62(3), 327-336 (1979).
- [150]. J. Perrin, P. Roca i Cabarrocas, B. Allain, J.-M. Friedt. "a-Si:H Deposition from SiH<sub>4</sub> and Si<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub> rf-Discharges: Pressure and Temperature Dependence of Film Growth in Relation to α-γ Discharge Transition." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 27(11R), 2041 (1988).
- [151]. J. L. Andújar, E. Bertran, A. Canillas, C. Roch, J.-L. Morenza. "Influence of pressure and radio frequency power on deposition rate and structural properties of hydrogenated amorphous silicon thin films prepared by plasma deposition." Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A 9(4), 2216-2221 (1991).
- [152]. A. M. Antoine, B. Drévillon, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "In-situ investigation of the growth of rf glow-discharge deposited amorphous germanium and silicon films." Journal of Applied Physics 61(7): 2501-2508 (1987).
- [153]. S. Nishikawa, H. Kakinuma, T. Watanabe, K. Nihei. "Influence of Deposition Conditions on Properties of Hydrogenated Amorphous Silicon Prepared by RF Glow Discharge." Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 24(6R), 639 (1985).
- [154]. U. P. Agarwal, R. H. Atalla. "Raman Spectroscopy." Surface analysis, chapter 8, 152-181 (1995) CRC Press.
- [155]. D. Bermejo and M. Cardona. "Raman scattering in pure and hydrogenated amorphous germanium and silicon." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 32(1-3), 405-419 (1979).
- [156]. Z. Iqbal and S. Veprek. "Raman scattering from hydrogenated microcrystalline and amorphous silicon." Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics 15(2), 377 (1982).
- [157]. A. Morimoto, S. Ooroza, M. Kumeda, T. Shimizu. "Raman studies on local structural disorder in silicon-based amorphous semiconductor films." Solid State Communications 47(10), 773-777 (1983).
- [158]. J. E. Smith Jr., M. H. Brodsky, B. L. Crowder, M. I. Nathan. "Raman scattering in amorphous Si, Ge and III-V semiconductors." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 8, 179-184 (1972).
- [159]. R. Alben, D. Weaire, J. E. Smith Jr. M. H. Brodsky. "Vibrational properties of amorphous Si and Ge." Phys. Rev. B 11(6), 2271-2296 (1975).
- [160]. R. Tsu, J. G. Hernandez. "Determination of energy barrier for structural relaxation in a-Si and a-Ge by Raman scattering." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids **66**(1), 109-114 (1984).

- [161]. D. Beeman, R. Tsu, M. F. Thorpe. "Structural information from the Raman spectrum of amorphous silicon." Phys. Rev. B 32(2), 874-878 (1985).
- [162]. W. Sinke, T. Warabisako, M. Miyao, T. Tokuyama. "Transient structural relaxation of amorphous silicon." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 99(2-3), 308-323 (1988).
- [163]. T. Saito, T. Karasawa, I. Ohdomari. "Distortion energy distributions in the random network model of amorphous silicon." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids **50**(2), 271-276 (1982).
- [164]. R. Tsu, J. Gonzalez-Hernandez, F. H. Pollak. "Determination of the energy barrier for structural relaxation in amorphous Si and Ge by Raman scattering." Solid State Communications 54(5), 447-450 (1985).
- [165]. G. E. Jellison and F. A. Modine. "Parameterization of the optical functions of amorphous materials in the interband region." Applied Physics Letters **69**(3), 371-373 (1996).
- [166]. HORIBA "Dispersion formula\_Tauc Lorentz Dispersion."
- [167]. R. Sangiorgi, M. L. Muolo, D. Chatain, N. Eustathopoulos. "Wettability and Work of Adhesion of Nonreactive Liquid Metals on Silica." Journal of the American Ceramic Society 71(9), 742-748 (1988).
- [168]. D. Chatain, L. Coudurier, N. Eustathopoulos. "Wetting and interfacial bonding in ionocovalent oxide-liquid metal systems." Rev. Phys. Appl. (Paris) 23(6), 1055-1064 (1988).
- [169]. K. Nogi, K. Oishi, K. Ogino. "Wetability of solid oxides by liquid pure metals." Materials Transactions, JIM 30(2), 9 (1989).
- [170]. B. Drevet, S. Kalogeropoulou, N. Eustathopoulos. "Wettability and interfacial bonding in Au-Si/SiC system." Acta Metallurgica et Materialia 41(11), 3119-3126 (1993).
- [171]. J. G. Li. "Wetting and interfacial bonding in liquid metal/solid ceramic systems." Composite Interfaces 1(1), 37-53 (1993).
- [172]. Y. V. Naidich, V. Zhuravlev, N. Krasovskaya. "The wettability of silicon carbide by Au-Si alloys." Materials Science and Engineering: A 245(2), 293-299 (1998).
- [173]. D. E. Perea, J. E. Allen, S. J. May, B. W. Wessels, D. N. Seidman, L. J. Lauhon. "Three-Dimensional Nanoscale Composition Mapping of Semiconductor Nanowires." Nano Letters 6(2), 181-185 (2006).
- [174]. D. E. Perea, E. R. Hemesath, E. J. Schwalbach, J. L. Lensch-Falk, P. W. Voorhees, L. J. Lauhon. "Direct measurement of dopant distribution in an individual vapour-liquid-solid nanowire." Nat Nano 4(5), 315-319 (2009).
- [175]. K. G. Stamplecoskie, L. Ju, S. S. Farvid, P. V. Radovanovic. "General Control of Transition-Metal-Doped GaN Nanowire Growth: Toward Understanding the Mechanism of Dopant Incorporation." Nano Letters 8(9), 2674-2681 (2008).
- [176]. P. V. Radovanovic. "Nanowires: Keeping track of dopants." Nat Nano 4(5), 282-283 (2009).
- [177]. E. Koren, N. Berkovitch, Y. Rosenwaks. "Measurement of Active Dopant Distribution and Diffusion in Individual Silicon Nanowires." Nano Letters 10(4), 1163-1167 (2010).
- [178]. E. Koren, J. K. Hyun, U. Givan, E. R. Hemesath, L. J. Lauhon, Y. Rosenwaks. "Obtaining Uniform Dopant Distributions in VLS-Grown Si Nanowires." Nano Letters 11(1), 183-187 (2011).
- [179]. O. Moutanabbir, D. Isheim, H. Blumtritt, S. Senz, E. Pippel, D. Seidman. "Colossal injection of catalyst atoms into silicon nanowires." Nature 496(7443), 78-82 (2013).
- [180]. W. Chen, L. Yu, S. Misra, Z. Fan, P. Pareige, G. Patriarche, S. Bouchoule, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Incorporation and redistribution of impurities into silicon nanowires during metal-particle-assisted growth." Nat Commun 5, 4134 (2014).
- [181]. J. B. Hannon, S. Kodambaka, F. M. Ross, R. M. Tromp. "The influence of the surface migration of gold on the growth of silicon nanowires." Nature 440(7080), 69-71 (2006).

- [182]. S. Misra, L. Yu, W. Chen, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Wetting Layer: The Key Player in Plasma-Assisted Silicon Nanowire Growth Mediated by Tin." The Journal of Physical Chemistry C 117(34), 17786-17790 (2013).
- [183]. Y. Shan, A. K. Kalkan, C.-Y. Peng, S. J. Fonash. "From Si Source Gas Directly to Positioned, Electrically Contacted Si Nanowires: The Self-Assembling Grow-in-Place Approach." Nano Letters 4(11), 2085-2089 (2004).
- [184]. S. J. Rathi, J. Raith, D. J. Smith, J. Drucker. "Guided VLS Growth of Epitaxial Lateral Si Nanowires." Nano Letters 13(8), 3878-3883 (2013).
- [185]. D. Bermejo and M. Cardona. "Infrared absorption in hydrogenated amorphous and crystallized germanium." Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 32(1), 421-430 (1979).
- [186]. R. W. Olesinski, N. Kanani, G. J. Abbaschian. "The Ga-Si (Gallium-Silicon) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 6(4), 362-364 (1985).
- [187]. R. W. Olesinski and G. J. Abbaschian. "The Si-Sn (Silicon-Tin) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 5(3), 273-276 (1984).
- [188]. R. Elliott and F. Shunk. "The Au-Si (Gold-Silicon) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 2(3), 359-362 (1981).
- [189]. R. W. Olesinski and G. J. Abbaschian. "The Ga-Ge (Gallium-Germanium) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 6(3), 258-262 (1985).
- [190]. R. W. Olesinski, N. Kanani, G. J. Abbaschian. "The Ge-In (Germanium-Indium) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 6(6), 536-539 (1985).
- [191]. R. W. Olesinski and G. J. Abbaschian. "The Ge-Sn (Germanium-Tin) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 5(3), 265-271 (1984).
- [192]. H. Okamoto and T. B. Massalski. "The Au-Ge (Gold-Germanium) system." Bulletin of Alloy Phase Diagrams 5(6), 601-610 (1984).
- [193]. S. S. Brenner. "Growth and Properties of "Whiskers": Further research is needed to show why crystal filaments are many times as strong as large crystals." Science 128(3324), 569-575 (1958).
- [194]. J. M. Blakely and K. A. Jackson. "Growth of Crystal Whiskers." The Journal of Chemical Physics 37(2), 428-430 (1962).
- [195]. R. S. Wagner and W. C. Ellis. "VAPOR-LIQUID-SOLID MECHANISM OF SINGLE CRYSTAL GROWTH." Applied Physics Letters 4(5), 89-90 (1964).
- [196]. R. S. Wagner and W. C. Ellis. "The vapor-Liquid-Solid Mechanism of Crystal Growth and Its Application to Si." Transcations of The Metallurgical Society of AIME 233: 12 (1965).
- [197]. S. T. Lee, N. Wang, C. S. Lee. "Semiconductor nanowires: synthesis, structure and properties." Materials Science and Engineering: A 286(1), 16-23 (2000).
- [198]. Y. Xia, P. Yang, Y. Sun, Y. Wu, B. Mayers, B. Gates, Y. Yin, F. Kim, H. Yan. "One-Dimensional Nanostructures: Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications." Advanced Materials 15(5), 353-389 (2003).
- [199]. N. Wang, Y. Cai, R. Q. Zhang. "Growth of nanowires." Materials Science and Engineering: R: Reports 60(1-6), 1-51 (2008).
- [200]. V. Schmidt, J. V. Wittemann, S. Senz, U. Gösele. "Silicon Nanowires: A Review on Aspects of their Growth and their Electrical Properties." Advanced Materials 21(25-26), 2681-2702 (2009).
- [201]. N. P. Dasgupta, J. Sun, C. Liu, S. Brittman, S. C. Andrews, J. Lim, H. Gao, R. Yan, P. Yang. "25th Anniversary Article: Semiconductor Nanowires – Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications." Advanced Materials 26(14), 2137-2184 (2014).
- [202]. L. Yu, P.-J. Alet, G. Picardi, I. Maurin, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Synthesis, morphology and compositional evolution of silicon nanowires directly grown on SnO<sub>2</sub> substrates." Nanotechnology 19(48), 485605 (2008).

[203]. K. W. Schwarz and J. Tersoff. "Elementary processes in nanowire growth." Nano Lett. 11, 316-320 (2010).

# 4 SELF-ORGANISATION OF IN-PLANE SILICON NANOWIRES

# CONTENTS

4.1	Larg	e-scale ordered one-dimensional semiconductors	161
	4.1.1	Growth-and-place method	
	4.1.2	Growth-in-place method	
	4.1.3	Summary	
4.2	Self-	organization of In-plane SiNWs	
	4.2.1	Step-guided growth of in-plane SiNWs	
	4.2.1	.1 Modification of substrate surface chemistry	
	4.2.1	.2 Patterning of the substrate	
	4.2.1	.3 The stability of step-guided growth in the IPSLS system	
	4.2.2	Positioning Indium nanoparticles on sidewalls of buried ITO matrix	
	4.2.3	Conclusion	
4.3	Fab	ication of guiding-step/buried ITO layer structure	
	4.3.1	Fabrication process	
	4.3.2	Key points in the fabrication process	
	4.3.2	2.1 Buried In layer: evaporated In or sputtered ITO	
	4.3.2	2.2 Stripes fabrication: lift-off vs. plasma etching	
	4.3.2	2.3 Etching mask for buried ITO fabrication	195
	4.3.3	Conclusion	197
4.4	Sum	mary and perspectives	
4.5	Refe	rences	

For practical use of semiconductor NWs in electronic applications such as sensors, piezotronics, photonics, photovoltaics, etc. [1], it is of prime importance to organize the large-scale 1-D semiconductors in a controllable way [2]. In this Chapter, a step-guided growth method is proposed for the large-scale organization of IPSLS SiNWs, based on the mechanisms of In NPs formation and IPSLS growth mode of SiNWs discussed in Chapters 2 and 3. First of all, previous endeavours on ordering the semiconductor NWs are summarized. Then a step-guided growth method is proposed to guide the liquid In movement on *a*-Si:H, based on solid surface energy engineering by nano-patterning the substrates. The large-scale self-organization of in-plane SiNWs is enabled by buried ITO/guiding-step matrix, thanks to the reproducible technique of In NPs formation on ITO sidewall. The fabrication process is introduced and several key points are discussed.

# 4.1 LARGE-SCALE ORDERED ONE-DIMENSIONAL SEMICONDUCTORS

A diversity of strategies for organizing large-scale one-dimensional semiconductor nanostructures (i.e. nanowires and carbon nanotubes) has been reported. As IPSLS SiNWs are grown via a bottom-up method, a brief review is firstly introduced on the methods of precisely localizing and aligning the NWs on the substrates. This can be achieved by positioning the 1-D semiconductors after this growth (named growth-and-place method) or during this growth (named growth-in-place method).

#### 4.1.1 GROWTH-AND-PLACE METHOD

The growth-and-place method derives from the increasing motivation of assembling and integrating vertical VLS-grown NWs or CNTs in nano-scale electronics [3]-[7], especially in flexible electronics [8]-[11] due to its low-cost, low-temperature processing advantage [12].

The contact-printing technique is based on the transfer of semiconductor NWs or CNTs from their mother-substrates to foreign ones (e.g. flexible substrates) with predesigned positions by nano-patterning [13]-[15] or even employing substrate surface functionalization for improving the alignment yield[16]. A similar technique is to press the vertical-grown 1-D semiconductors directly on their mother-substrates [17].

Electrical forces can also be used to realise the precise localization and alignment [18], assisted by surface chemical [19] and biological [20] functionalization, or thanks to the contribution of hydrodynamic forces, named dielectrophoresis assembly [21][22]. Fluid flow has also been reported to reorganise 1-D nanostructures [23][24].

In contrast to the above techniques, the suspension-based transfer technique is another way, which does not rely on external forces. Solutions with dispersed 1-D semiconductors (i.e. suspension) are spread on foreign substrates with pre-patterned and functionalized surfaces, and their self-assembly is facilitated by the surface chemical [25]-[27] or biological [28] interactions. Another interesting example is to incorporate 1-D semiconductors into blown bubble films and transfer them onto foreign substrates with alignment [29].

Figure 4.1 provides some examples of the growth-and-place method for organizing 1-D semiconductor nanostructures: (a) [14] and (b) [13] illustrate contact-printing techniques that transfer NWs or CNTs from their mother-substrates onto foreign (or transfer) substrates with pre-designed positions by nano-patterning; (c) [26] and (e) [7] illustrate the 1-D nanomaterials' suspension-based transfer techniques on foreign substrates with functionalized pattern for precise localization and alignment, and (d) [29] illustrates the method of nanomaterial-incorporated blown bubble films; (f) [18] illustrates the electrical field-assisted assembling method.

## 4.1.2 GROWTH-IN-PLACE METHOD

Besides the methodology of growth-and-place, the organization of 1-D semiconductor nanostructures can also be achieved during the growth step, named growthin-place method. Here, we focus on works of the horizontally (or in-plane) guided growth of semiconductor NWs or CNTs, most of which relies on the epitaxial effect, no matter the growth mode is (e.g. VLS mode [30][31], IPSLS mode [32] and solution-based growth mode [33]). Nano-facets (i.e. atomic nano-steps) on the substrate surface reinforce the epitaxial guiding effect and thereby enhance the yield of the laterally guided growth [34], which is named graphoepitaxy [35]. This is till now the most successful method for various semiconductor NWs and CNTs grown on different flat or faceted planes of sapphire [36]-[40], quartz [41]-[43], SiC [44] and spinel (i.e. MgAl<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) [45] substrates, and even integrated into circuits [46]. Besides the epitaxial guided growth, it is also reported that nanochannels can direct the VLS-grown SiNWs, by means of imposing the growth direction of SiNWs growing out of the template nanochannels [47]-[49]. Figure 4.2 provides examples of growth-in-place method: (a) [30] and (b) [32] show the epitaxial guided growth, (c) [35], (d) [38] and (e) [46] show the graphoepitaxial guided growth; (f) [49] shows the nanochanneltemplate-guided growth.



Figure 4.1 Examples of Growth-and-place techniques for organizing 1-D semiconductor nanostructures: (a) [14] and (b) [13]: contact-printing transfer method; (c) [26], (d) [29] and (e) [7]: solution-based transfer method; (f) [18] electrical field-assisted assembly.



Figure 4.2 Examples of Growth-in-Place techniques: (a) [30] and (b) [32]: epitaxial guided growth; (c) [35], (d) [38] and (e) [46]: graphoepitaxial guided growth; (f) [49]: nanochannel-template-guided growth.

# 4.1.3 SUMMARY

As presented above, two types of strategies for organizing the bottom-up grown 1-D semiconductor nanostructures have been reviewed.

For the growth-and-place method, the grown nanostructures are transferred on foreign substrates with pre-patterned and/or functionalized areas for the localization and alignment. This can be achieved by external forces like contact-printing or electrical field, and also by solution-based transfer approaches with no need of external forces.

For the growth-in-place method, most of the strategies are based on lateral growth of graphoepitaxial NWs or CNTs. Besides the growth direction, the crystallographic orientations of NWs can also be controlled thanks to the epitaxial effect. It has been reported that a nano-faceted substrate favours the lateral VLS growth of SiNWs with increased miscut angles [34] (i.e. the angles of intersecting nano-facets, see Figure 4.2.c), thanks to the spreading behaviour of liquid Au-Si alloy on VLS-grown NWs [50]-[52] and trijunction stability in VLS system [53][54]. This lateral growth phenomenon has been theoretically studied by modelling and simulation [55][56], which indicates that the high edge energy (i.e. facet surface energy of the VLS-grown pedestal) prevents dewetting of the liquid catalyst drops and pins them on the substrate surface at the onset of the growth. Figure 4.3 shows the simulation results of different VLS growth behaviours by introducing excess surface energy perturbations [55].

However, as introduced in 4.1.2, the lateral epitaxial NWs can also be aligned with the crystallographic orientations on Si (100) surface free of nano-facets. Compared with randomly grown lateral NWs on substrate like SiO<sub>2</sub>, the main contribution of epitaxial growth is that it is possible to deposit Si atoms from the supersaturated liquid Au-Ge [31] (or In-Si [32]) alloy onto the substrate surface in an ordered manner, so that the direction of the established surface energy gradient (see 3.2.3) is transferred from the crystallographic orientation, and the growth direction of NWs is determined, as illustrated in Figure 4.4. Thus, it is predicted that the failure of the guided growth is due to the failure of epitaxial growth.


Figure 4.3 Simulation results of different NW growth behaviours by a model for a 12-fold crystal, the straight red lines represent the computed wire profiles at equal time intervals with the black dots indicating the facet edge positions. (a) Calculated straight wire, with a transition of an initial tapering pedestal shape to a steady-state shape; (b) kinked NW at the halfway of the steady-state by introducing a sidewall energy perturbation (increased by 10%) on the right side; (c) lateral growth by introducing an sufficiently high edge energy at the onset of growth, resulting in pining the catalyst droplets on the surface [55].



Crystallographic orientaion, Surface energy gradient direction, Growth direction

Figure 4.4 Illustration of self-assembled in-plane epitaxial SiNWs via IPSLS growth mode on Si (100) substrate.

## 4.2 SELF-ORGANIZATION OF IN-PLANE SINWS

In general, self-organization of IPSLS SiNWs involves two steps: (1) guiding the growth of SiNWs, and (2) positioning the In NPs at the place where we want the SiNWs start to grow. In this section, we discuss these two aspects in sequence.

## 4.2.1 STEP-GUIDED GROWTH OF IN-PLANE SINWS

A step-guided growth method for IPSLS SiNWs has been proposed in previous reports [57][58], which paves the way for organizing the IPSLS SiNWs in large scale. Figure 4.5 shows a typical step-guided IPSLS SiNW.



Figure 4.5 SEM images of a typical IPSLS SiNW via the step guided growth.

In order to understand and further improve the reproducibility of the step-guided growth, a theoretical assessment was carried on. In chapter 3, we concluded that the growth of IPSLS SiNWs can be viewed as the by-product of liquid In moving on *a*-Si:H based on reactive spreading on a substrate with surface energy gradient (or surface wettability gradient, see 3.2.3). Therefore, controlling the direction of SiNWs growth calls for the confinement of liquid In motion. According to the theories of liquid wetting on solid surfaces, both the heterogeneity of solid surfaces and the solid surface roughness can affect the liquid wetting or spreading behaviour [59]. Based on this, two possible strategies of surface wettability engineering are suggested, looking forward to control the liquid In movement on *a*-Si:H, which is discussed below.

#### 4.2.1.1 MODIFICATION OF SUBSTRATE SURFACE CHEMISTRY

In order to control the motion of water droplets on solid surface, Dos Santos proposed a method that confines the aqueous droplets on a heterogeneous substrate surface with different surface energy [60]. The directed movement of the same droplet at three different times with an interval of 0.1 s is shown in Figure 4.6.a. One can see that the droplet runs on the hydrophilic surface track (light part), delimited by hydrophobic regions

(shaded parts). The driving force of the droplet motion is the substrate surface energy gradient, as introduced in 3.1.2.



Figure 4.6 Controlling the droplet motion on heterogeneous substrates: (a) top view photographs of droplet running on the hydrophilic surface track, delimited by hydrophobic regions (shaded regions) [60]; (b) a similar guiding strategy of liquid In on heterogeneous surface (*a*-Si:H as indium-philic surface and SiO<sub>2</sub> as indium-phobic surface).

The idea of modifying the substrate surface chemistry is supposed to be universal for all kinds of spontaneous liquid motion on a solid surface. Figure 4.6.b illustrates a similar strategy for guiding the movement of liquid In on *a*-Si:H. However, defining the *a*-Si:H patterns is not easy: on the one hand, as the synthesis of IPSLS SiNWs is a one-pump down process (see 1.1), nano-patterning *a*-Si:H stripes, as shown in Figure 4.6.b, probably causes oxidation of *a*-Si:H as well as In NPs in some degree<sup>11, 12</sup>; on the other hand, the critical feature size by optical-lithography is ~1 $\mu$ m, which is one order of magnitude larger than the size of In NPs used for in-plane SiNWs growth (from tens to hundreds nm), so even though the *a*-Si:H stripes could be patterned with no oxidation, the small liquid In would randomly move on the broad *a*-Si:H stripes, resulting in the failure of the guiding movement.

In sum, controlling the droplet motion on chemically heterogeneous substrates is a straightforward way, and theoretically universal for most of liquid-solid pair. However, in the case of liquid In moving on *a*-Si:H, it has technical limitations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The oxidation of *a*-Si:H is discussed in 1.2.5, as shown inTable 1.1 Fitting results of *a*-Si:H deposited on c-Si with native oxide after exposure to ambient air.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The oxidation of indium is discussed in 2.3.2, and shown in shown in Figure 2.5 and Figure 2.15.

#### 4.2.1.2 PATTERNING OF THE SUBSTRATE

Since SiNWs can grow along a guiding step, as shown in Figure 4.5, it is worth of investigating and assessing the reproducibility of this step-guiding effect.

As introduced in 4.1.3 and illustrated in Figure 4.3, simulations indicate that, in the VLS epitaxial growth of NWs, the wetting or dewetting behaviour of catalyst droplets on the NWs can be modulated by changing the surface energy of the sidewalls of NWs in the steady-state or at the onset of the growth, resulting in the kinking or surficial crawling phenomena, respectively.

Also, it has been studied extensively that, besides solid surface chemistry, the substrate morphology also affects the wettability [59]. In particular, the surface roughness provides additional liquid-solid interfacial area, and thus augments the surface energy [61]-[63], as illustrated in Figure 4.7.a [64][65]. Therefore the relationship between liquid-solid interfacial surface energy  $y_{sl}$  and interfacial area  $A_{sl}$  can be expressed as:

$$\gamma_{sl} \propto A_{sl}.\tag{4-1}$$

Considering that the volume of liquid In does not vary on SiO<sub>2</sub> substrates with different morphologies, the liquid-solid contact radius on a flat surface  $R_{sl(\pi)}$  and on a concave corner in angle of  $\theta$ ,  $R_{sl(\theta)}$  (as shown in Figure 4.7.b) has the relationship:

$$1/2 \times 4/3 \,\pi R_{sl(\pi)}^3 = \theta/2\pi \times 4/3 \,\pi R_{sl(\theta)}^3, \tag{4-2}$$

note that the flat surface can be considered as a concave with angle of  $\pi$ , and due to the chemical homogeneity of the solid surface [66], the curvature of the liquid In NP on the concave SiO<sub>2</sub> is a constant, and the contact angle is also around  $\pi/2$  (see 3.2.1.1 in page 107). So the volume of the liquid In for a spherical cap spreading on a concave is in proportion of  $\theta/2\pi$  to the spherical In NP with the same radius. By transforming (4-2), the liquid-solid contact radius as a function of  $\theta$  is determined by:

$$R_{sl(\theta)} = \sqrt[3]{\pi/\theta} R_{sl(\pi)}, \tag{4-3}$$

note that  $R_{sl(\pi)}$  is determined by the liquid-solid wetting system, for liquid In spreading on SiO<sub>2</sub>, it equals  $1.26R_{s-NP}$ , where  $R_{s-NP}$  represents the liquid In in solid phase (see Figure 3.19). Thus the liquid-solid contact area in function of  $\theta$  can be expressed by:

$$A_{sl(\theta)} = \pi R_{sl(\theta)}^2 = (\pi/\theta)^{2/3} \pi R_{sl(\pi)}^2,$$
(4-4)

showing that  $A_{sl(\theta)}$  increases monotonically with the decrease of concave angle  $\theta$ , and so does the substrate surface energy. This indicates that the spreading effect of a liquid is more significant at a concave corner with a small angle. From a practical point of view, the angle will be limited by the fabrication techniques, 90° step being the most convenient one. Concave angles of less than 90° are not considered in this thesis.

Moreover, if the chemistry of step corner is modified by coating a layer of *a*-Si:H, the spreading effect of In will be further augmented, thanks to the In-*a*-Si:H chemical reaction. Figure 4.7.c and d illustrate this reactive spreading of liquid In at the *a*-Si:H coated step corner. Besides its benefit to the spreading effect, the step corner also provides a preferential site for c-Si nucleation and precipitation. This Si phase transition at the step corner, driven by the same surface energy gradient mechanism mentioned in Chapter 3. The schematic representation is shown in Figure 4.7.e.

In sum, patterning the substrate surface is another efficient way for surface energy engineering, and easier to implement in comparison with the method of substrate chemistry modification. The discussion above also clarifies the mechanism of the step-guided growth of IPSLS SiNWs.



Figure 4.7 Surface energy engineering via patterning the substrate surface: (a) a rough surface provides additional interfacial area for the spreading liquid, resulting in the increase of surface energy; (b) liquid In non-reactively spreads on the concave corner with an angle  $\theta$  is an extreme case of increasing the liquid-solid contact area, supposed that the SiO<sub>2</sub> surface is ideally smooth. The calculations indicate that the liquid-solid contact area increases monotonically with the decrease of angle  $\theta$ , liquid In on a perpendicular step corner (90°) has the largest contact area, resulting in the most significant surface energy enhancement. Note that limited by the fabrication techniques, angles

smaller than 90° are not considered. (c, d) for a 90° step with the largest available surface energy, after coating with an *a*-Si:H layer, the reactive spreading effect of liquid In on the step corner is furthermore augmented, and the step corner is also probably the preferential site for *c*-Si nucleation and precipitation. (e) schematic representation of guided growth of a SiNW along the step corner: high surface energy at the guiding step corner pins the liquid In NP, facilitates the Si heterogeneous nucleation and crystal growth, and enables the surface energy gradient to build up right along the step corner (from *c*-Si to *a*-Si).

#### 4.2.1.3 THE STABILITY OF STEP-GUIDED GROWTH IN THE IPSLS SYSTEM

Xu *et al.* [67] recently proposed an operating principle of step-guided growth of IPSLS SiNWs. An analytical model was established based on the calculation of the total surface Gibbs energy in the solid-liquid-solid system, which was also supported by experimental statistical analysis. They consider that for a successful step-guided growth of in-plane SiNWs, the sizes of liquid In NPs (which determines the diameter of SiNWs, see 3.3.2) should be compatible with the height of the guiding step edges. The NPs out of the size range failed to be pinned along the step corner.



Figure 4.8 Operating principle of step-guided growth: (a) plotting of total Gibbs energy calculation under different liquid-solid system configurations based on an analytical model (i.e. liquid In on flat surface, concave corner, convex corner and striding over); (b) experimental statistics of the guiding effect under different configurations in liquid-solid system [67].

However, as shown in Figure 4.5, the growth of SiNWs with diameter of  $\sim 40$  nm can be guided along the  $\sim 250$  nm high step with less than 10 nm *a*-Si:H coating layer, which is out of the range in Figure 4.8.b. This implies that the guided growth is still effective for *high step-small In NP* system. Thus, it is worth reconsidering the stability of this step-guided growth strategy.

As elaborated in 4.2.1.2 and illustrated in Figure 4.7, the pinning effect of liquid In at the guiding-step corner is caused by the introduction of a new solid surface (i.e. the guiding-step edge) in the SLS system, and thereby increasing the liquid-solid contact area

 $A_{sl}$  and the interfacial energy  $\gamma_{sl}$ . Hence, for all the liquid In wetting behaviours on high step edges, the liquid-solid contact area Ast is uniquely determined by the size of liquid In NP, the height of the guiding-step can only affect the situations when liquid In NPs are large enough to spread on the top surface of the step. Figure 4.9 illustrates the evolution of the liquid In spreading and wetting behaviour on different SLS configurations: the guiding step in infinite height (a) keeps being lowered (b and c) and finally degenerates to a flat solid surface (d), during which the liquid In starts to spread and wet on the top surface of guiding step. The red lines represent the liquid-solid contact lines. Even though the contact area is difficult to be determined mathematically till now, it is expected that the configuration (a) has the largest contact area and thereby provides the greatest liquid-solid energy. Thus, a step higher than the size of liquid In NP is the most stable configuration for the guided growth. Thereby, the dominant factor that affects the stability of step guided growth turns to be the thickness of a-Si:H. Figure 4.7.d illustrates that, besides its pinning effect to liquid In, the step corner also facilitates the heterogeneous nucleation and crystal growth of Si, therefore a surface energy gradient can be established along it (from c-Si to a-Si:H). If the a-Si:H coating at the corner is not conformal, liquid indium tends to spread on relatively thicker a-Si:H on planar substrate rather than on sidewall of guiding step (as shown in Figure 3.19), as shown in Figure 4.9.f. Figure 4.10 shows a failure example of step-guided growth: an In NPs of ~50 nm moves along a ~150 nm guiding step with a non-conformal a-Si:H coating layer<sup>13</sup> of  $\sim 20$  nm, resulting in the failure of step-guided growth. Thus, it is postulated that conformal a-Si:H of a moderate thickness plays a key role for stabilizing this step-guided growth strategy, as shown in Figure 4.9.e.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The unconformality of *a*-Si:H deposited in the PECVD system (Plasfil) is confirmed by SEM, see Figure 3.8.e.



Figure 4.9 Evolution of the liquid indium spreading and wetting behaviour on different SLS configurations: (a) liquid wets the corner of step in infinite height; (b) liquid In starts to wet the top surface of the step with decreased height; (c) the step tends to be like surface roughness as it keeps being lowered; (d) the step degenerates to a flat surface; (e) thin and non-conformal *a*-Si:H coating layer at the step corner is fully depleted by liquid In, succeeding the guided growth along the corner; (f) thick and uncomformal *a*-Si:H coating layer at the step corner is partially depleted by liquid In, moreover a surface energy gradient is built up between the *a*-Si:H on planar substrate and the relatively thinner one on the sidewall of guiding step, resulting in the failure of guided growth.



Figure 4.10 SEM image of a  $\sim$  50 nm In NP moving along a  $\sim$ 150 nm guiding step with an nonconformal *a*-Si:H coating layer of  $\sim$ 20 nm, resulting in the failure of guided growth of in-plane silicon nanowires.

# 4.2.2 Positioning Indium Nanoparticles on Sidewalls of Buried ITO Matrix

After elaborating the strategy for directing the growth of SiNWs, another challenge is proposed and discussed: the way of precisely localizing the step-guided SiNWs. As reviewed in 4.1.2, previous works rely on electron-beam lithography to pattern and position the metal catalysts at places, where the NWs start to grow. Here, we propose an *ITO/guiding step* matrix for positioning the In NPs, as shown in Figure 4.11. A novel method is developed for reproducibly forming In NPs on buried ITO sidewall, see inset image (a); afterwards the growth of SiNWs can be guided along the step corner, see inset image (b).



Figure 4.11 Strategy of positioning the In NP by fabricating ITO/guiding steps matrix. (a) In NPs are formed on the ITO sidewall via a H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment and afterwards (b) the growth of SiNWs can be guided along the step corner.

Figure 4.12 shows examples of an In NP formed on buried ITO sidewall (see SEM images a and b), and of a step-guided IPSLS SiNW (see SEM image e), with its starting point at ITO sidewall (see image d) and its ending point at the guiding step corner (see image c).



Figure 4.12 Example of an In NP formed on ITO sidewall (a, b) and the step-guided growth of an IPSLS SiNW (c, d, e).

The choice of ITO rather than an evaporated In thin film for the sidewall In NPs formation will be detailed in 4.3.2.1. Simply speaking, it is more practical to fabricate sharp and continuous buried ITO sidewall by conventional dry etching technologies. However, In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried ITO layer encounters similar difficulties with the condition on planar ITO surface (i.e. size and density control, see 2.4.5).

In contrast with a planar ITO surface which is completely exposed to  $H_2$  plasma, it needs sufficient reactive H species (i.e. radicals and ions) to approach the sidewall of buried ITO layer with the guiding step (as a barrier against  $H_2$  plasma) coating on it. Figure 4.13 illustrates the various  $H_2$  plasma processes on planar ITO surface and sidewall of buried ITO layer with a plasma barrier coating on it. To achieve the sufficient  $H_2$  plasma reduction of the ITO sidewall, two main pathways are proposed, as detailed in the figure: (1) hydrogen radicals directly diffuse onto the ITO sidewall; (2) hydrogen ions impinging on the surface are reflected as fast neutrals onto the ITO sidewall due to strong ion bombardment.



Figure 4.13 Illustration of different  $H_2$  plasma processes on planar ITO surface (left) and sidewall of buried ITO layer with a  $H_2$  plasma barrier (SiO<sub>2</sub>) coating on it. Three pathways make possible the ITO reduction, as detailed in the figure.

It is known that (1) low RF power with high gas pressure promotes the isotropy of plasma; in contrast, (2) high RF power with high gas pressure enhances the plasma density; (3) high RF power facilitates hydrogen ion bombardment while it weakens the isotropy of plasma; and (4) high substrate temperature favours high surface mobility of H radicals. Table 4.1 lists the effects of parameters on the H<sub>2</sub> plasma and the reduction of ITO. Take RF power for example, high RF power enhances the density plasma (denoted as " $\uparrow$ "), while weakens the plasma isotropy (denoted as " $\downarrow$ "). "—" means for the moment there is no significant relationship in the range of our knowledge.

PLASMA	DENSITY	ISOTROPY	H-O REACTION
<b>R</b> F POWER	$\uparrow$	$\rightarrow$	1
GAS PRESSURE	$\uparrow$	$\uparrow$	$\uparrow$
TEMPERATURE	1	-	↑
DURATION	_	_	1

Table 4.1 Effects of parameters on the H2 plasma and its reduction to ITO

In order to optimize the  $H_2$  plasma treatment for the reproducible sidewall In NPs formation, different parameter configurations (i.e.  $H_2$  pressure, RF power, exposure duration, and substrate temperature) were tested, as shown in Figure 4.14, Figure 4.15 and Figure 4.16, and detailed in the legends. However, only tiny NPs can be formed; these

efforts seem to bring about few improvement of forming In NPs with typical size for the SiNWs growth.



Figure 4.14 In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried ITO layer beneath guiding step, with different (RF power, exposure duration) groups.  $H_2$  flow rate is in 100 sccm, 400 mTorr, and substrate temperature is 350°C.



Figure 4.15 In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried ITO layer beneath guiding step at different substrate temperatures, with 100 sccm, 400 mTorr, 20 Watt H<sub>2</sub> plasma.



Figure 4.16 In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried ITO layer beneath guiding step, with different (RF power, exposure duration,  $H_2$  pressure) groups.  $H_2$  gas is in 100 sccm, and substrate temperature is 350°C.

As modulating  $H_2$  plasma parameters does not help forming In NPs on the ITO sidewall, the efforts should be focused on the ITO sidewall surface chemistry.

In 3.2.1.1, *a*-Si:H is demonstrated to modify the substrate chemistry and In NPs reactively spread and coalesce into larger ones. Figure 4.17 shows the SEM images of small In NPs formed on the sidewall of buried ITO layer exposed to 100 sccm, 400 mTorr  $H_2$  plasma with a RF power of 20 Watts and at substrate temperature at 300°C for 5 mins (see image a), and their evolution after 20 nm *a*-Si:H coating at 150°C and annealing at 450°C for 10 mins (see image b). No significant coalescence of small In NPs is observed by coating *a*-Si:H thin film on the sidewall. The enlargement of the In NPs is probably due to the *a*-Si:H coating. A possible explanation is that the *a*-Si:H shell coating on the small In NPs is so thick that it impedes the spreading and following coalescing behaviours. Moreover, the density of small In NPs (see image a) is relatively small in comparison with discontinuous evaporated In thin film (i.e. In islands), so it is expected that even if the spreading of small In NPs is achieved by adjusting the thickness of *a*-Si:H, the coalescence is still difficult to take place.



Figure 4.17 Tests to redistribute In NPs formed on the sidewall of buried ITO layer by H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment (100 sccm, 400 mTorr of H<sub>2</sub>, 20 Watts, at 300 °C for 5 mins) (a) by coating 20 nm *a*-Si:H and annealing at 450°C for 10 mins (b).

In 2.4.1.3, a nucleating-growing-coalescing mechanism was proposed to describe the In NPs formation on planar ITO surface. Apparently, for the case of ITO sidewall, In atoms are released and nucleate into small drops, however it seems that these small In drops do not coalesce. A possible reason is that they cannot grow larger in order to connect each other, which might be limited by the small area of the sidewall surface. However, a successful case has been shown in Figure 4.12.a and b. It reflects that the geometry of the sidewall surface is not the limiting factor.

TEM observations reveal a phase transition of RT-sputtered ITO from amorphous to polycrystalline states by post-deposition annealing (see Figure 2.24 in page 80). Moreover, it is found that the density of In NPs formed on ITO deposited at 350°C (supposed to be polycrystalline) is low and the sizes are larger, in comparison with the ones formed on RT-sputtered ITO (see Figure 2.25 in page 82). It is expected that this phase transition can help to form larger In NPs on ITO sidewall. Therefore, we anneal the buried ITO layer at 400°C for 30 mins before H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment. Figure 4.19 and Figure 4.20 compare the In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried ITO layer with and without post-annealing. The thickness of buried ITO layer is 100 and 200 nm, respectively. The post-annealing is demonstrated to make the In NPs formation efficient and reproducible.

The grain boundary wetting theory (see 2.3.4.3) is considered to explain this phenomenon. The polycrystalline ITO thin films have columnar structure after thermal annealing, the joints of the *i*-ITO columns (i.e. grain boundaries) act as sinks to collect the liquid In, due to their high surface energy.



Figure 4.18 Schematic representation of In NPs formation on the sidewall of polycrystalline ITO: (a) and (b) show the cross-sectional TEM images of as-deposited ITO at RT and after annealing at 162 °C for 1 hour, respectively [68]; (c) illustration of high surface energy *pc*-ITO grain boundaries acting as sinks for collecting liquid In, the schematic of *pc*-ITO is from Cleva W. Ow-yang *et al.* [69].



Figure 4.19 Comparison of In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried RT-deposited ITO layer with (a, b, c) and without post-annealing (d, e, f). The thickness of buried ITO layer is 100 nm.



Figure 4.20 Comparison of In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried RT-deposited ITO layer with (a, b, c) and without post-annealing (d, e, f). The thickness of buried ITO layer is 200 nm.

# 4.2.3 CONCLUSION

In this section, a growth-in-place strategy for precise alignment and localization for in-plane SiNWs has been elaborated.

Guiding-steps are introduced on the substrate in the solid-liquid-solid system, so that liquid In NPs can be pinned at the step corner with high surface energy. Moreover, the step corners facilitate Si heterogeneous nucleation and crystal growth from liquid In-Si alloy, as they lower the Gibbs energy barrier of nucleation. Therefore, a surface energy gradient is built-up, directing from *c*-Si to *a*-Si:H, which enables the guided growth of in-plane SiNWs along the step corners. Furthermore, the dominating factors for stabilizing the guiding effect are discussed. The guiding steps should be high enough to avoid the liquid In NPs spreading on the top surface of guiding steps, so that liquid In NPs can be pinned to the step corners in a stable manner. The *a*-Si:H coating layer should be as thin as possible, so that the region at the step corner can be fully depleted by In-Si intermixing and alloying, where *c*-Si precipitation is able to take place.

A technique of forming In NPs on the sidewall of buried ITO layers beneath the guiding steps is developed, which makes possible the positioning of In NPs and of the following grown in-plane SiNWs. Post-annealing of the substrate before  $H_2$  plasma treatment is the key factor for the reproducible and reliable sidewall In NPs formation; as on the cross-sectional polycrystalline ITO in columnar structure (obtained by post-deposition annealing), the grain boundaries with high surface energy are considered to be the basin for collecting liquid In, based on the grain boundary wetting behaviour.

# 4.3 FABRICATION OF GUIDING-STEP/BURIED ITO LAYER STRUCTURE

In this section, the fabrication process of guiding-step/buried ITO layer structure is introduced. Moreover, several key points for optimizing the reliability of fabrication are elaborated.

## 4.3.1 FABRICATION PROCESS

The fabrication process utilizes optical-lithography and plasma etching techniques, which are detailed in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3, respectively.

TECHNIQUE	N°	Step		
SAMPLE CLEANING	1	Wet samples (i.e. <i>c</i> -Si wafers) in acetone with ultra- sonication for 3 mins.		
	2	Wet samples in isopropanol with ultra-sonication for 3 mins.		
	3	Dry the sample by nitrogen gun.		
DEHYDRATION	1	Bake the sample on hot plate at 190°C for 2 mins.		
Photo-mask cleaning	1	Wet photo-masks in acetone with ultra-sonication for 3 mins.		
	2	Wet photo-masks in isopropanol with ultra-sonication for 3 mins.		
	3	Dry the sample by spin cleaner.		
	4	Wet photo-masks in chromic sulphuric acid for 5 mins.		
	5	Rinse photo-masks in deionized water.		
	6	Repeat Step 2°.		
	7	Repeat Step 3°.		
OPTICAL- LITHOGRAPHY (NEGATIVE TONE FOR LIFT-OFF)	1	Sample cleaning and dehydration.		
	2	Deposit Primer by spin-coater, 2000 rpm, 2000 rpm/s, 15 s.		
	3	Deposit photo-resist <i>AZ5214E</i> by spin-coater, 4000 rpm, 2000 rpm/s, 30 s.		
	4	Bake at 125°C for 1 min.		
	5	Do the exposure in litho-machine (SÜSS MJB-4) under ultra-violet UV300 (wavelength 320 nm, $\sim$ 10 mW/cm <sup>2</sup> ) for 5 s. The aligned photo-mask is in vacuum contact (-0.8 Pa) with the sample.		

#### Table 4.2 Optical-lithography procedures

TECHNIQUE	N°	Step	
	6	Bake at 125°C for 1 min.	
	7	Do the flood exposure for 30 s, without photo-mask.	
	8	Do the development in developer AZ-826MIF for 20 s.	
	9	Rinse samples in deionized water for 1~2 mins.	
	10	Dry samples by nitrogen gun.	
	11	Deposit thin films for lift-off	
	12	Do the SAMPLE CLEANING procedure.	
	1	Sample cleaning and dehydration.	
	2	Deposit <i>Primer</i> by spin-coater, 2000 r/min, 200 r/min <sup>2</sup> , 15 s.	
	3	Deposit photo-resist AZ5214E by spin-coater, 4000 r/min, 200 r/min <sup>2</sup> , 30 s.	
	4	Bake at 125°C for 1 min.	
OPTICAL- LITHOGRAPHY (POSITIVE TONE FOR PLASMA ETCHING)	5	Do the exposure in litho-machine (SÜSS MJB-4) under ultra-violet UV300 (wavelength 320 nm, ~10 mW/cm <sup>2</sup> ) for 15 s. The aligned photo-mask is in vacuum contact (- 0.8 Pa) with the sample.	
	6	Do the development in developer $AZ$ -826MIF for 50~60 s.	
	7	Rinse samples in deionized water for 1~2 mins.	
	8	Dry samples by nitrogen gun.	
	9	Plasma etching.	
	10	Do the SAMPLE CLEANING procedure.	

Plasma etching	PROGRA M	RECIPE	
CCP-RIE	SiN-2	SI-BASED MATERIALS ETCHING: 5 mTorr, 15 Watt, 8 sccm SF <sub>6</sub> /20 sccm CHF <sub>3</sub> plasma	
	Delaq30	CARBON-BASED MATERIALS ETCHING: 100 mTorr, 30 Watt, 10 sccm O <sub>2</sub> plasma	
	OXYAL U	SURFACE ORGANIC ETCHING 10 sccm, 30 mTorr, 10 Watts O <sub>2</sub> plasma etching for 1 min.	
		IN OR ITO ETCHING: CH <sub>4</sub> /H <sub>2</sub> plasma	
RIBE	ITO	Ion Beam Source (IBS): 20 sccm Ar, 9 sccm CH <sub>4</sub> , 2.5 sccm O <sub>2</sub> , for the etching.	
		Back Side Cooling (BSC): 6 sccm He, for cooling the sample holder.	
		Plasma Beam Neutralizer (PBN): 9 sccm Ar, for neutralize the positively charged sample surface due to the ion beam sputtering.	
		Incidence angle of ion beam: 20°; rotation speed: 6 r/min.	
		Micro-wave power: 350 Watt; ion beam voltage: 350V; ion beam current: 280 mA; acceleration voltage: 500 V.	

Table 4.3 Plasma etching conditions in CCP-RIE and RIBE

The fabrication process of the guiding-step/buried ITO layer structure involves thin film sputtering deposition, optical lithography (positive tone) and plasma etching (CCP-RIE and RIBE); the flow chart is schematically represented in Figure 4.21.



Figure 4.21 Flow chart of guiding-step/buried ITO fabrication process

#### 4.3.2 KEY POINTS IN THE FABRICATION PROCESS

The flow chart illustrated in Figure 4.21 is till now the optimized one for the reproducible and reliable fabrication. In order to detail the strategy on the guiding-step/buried- ITO fabrication, several key points are discussed.

#### 4.3.2.1 BURIED IN LAYER: EVAPORATED IN OR SPUTTERED ITO

In order to develop a reproducible technique for the sidewall In NPs formation, the first task is to select the right material for buried In layer. Evaporated In and ITO thin films are the two candidates. The In NPs formation on these two types of In thin films has been studied in previous chapters.

The morphology of evaporated In thin films consists of 3D islands. The function of  $H_2$  plasma treatment at 300°C is to reduce their surface indium oxide (see 2.3.2) and to obtain fresh In NPs which can lead the growth of SiNWs after a-Si:H coating and annealing, via a reactive-spreading-and-coalescing behaviour of liquid In on a-Si:H (see 3.2.1). Figure 4.22 shows the SEM images of buried evaporated In layer beneath guiding steps by different dry etching techniques, i.e. CH<sub>4</sub> RIE for evaporated In sidewall as seen in (a, b);  $CH_4/H_2/O_2/Ar$  RIBE for evaporated In sidewall as seen in (c, d); and the result of RIBE etched In sidewall after 20 nm a-Si:H coating and annealing at annealing at 450°C, as seen in (e, f). This indicates that evaporated In is less practical. The detrimental drawback is its discontinuous morphology. On the one hand, it is difficult to control the etching stop for discontinuous thin film, since CH<sub>4</sub> plasma etching (CCP-RIE) is an isotropic etching process, over-etching leaves some holes on the sidewall of buried In layer, as shown in (a) and (b). On the other hand, even though  $CH_4/H_2/O_2/Ar$  RIBE process is much more directional, the fabricated sidewall consists of discrete In islands, as shown in (c) and (d). Therefore, the guiding step coating on the discrete 3D In islands impedes their following spreading-and-coalescing on a-Si:H. Besides, H<sub>2</sub> plasma can only reduce the exposed surface oxide of buried evaporated In, which does not facilitate the sufficient In-a-Si:H contact for the reactive spreading-and-coalescing mode, hence the final In NPs leading the growth are rarely formed, as shown in (e) and (f). Figure 4.24 schematically represents the drawback of buried evaporated In layer.

In contrast, on a continuous ITO surface, In atoms are released in-situ by  $H_2$  plasma reduction of oxygen and In NPs are formed via a nucleating-growing-and-coalescing behaviour (see 2.4.1.3). Figure 4.23 shows the sidewall of buried ITO layer fabricated by CH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>/O<sub>2</sub>/Ar RIBE, whose sharp and smooth surface demonstrates itself as the favourable choice for the sidewall In NPs formation.



Figure 4.22 Buried evaporated indium layer beneath guiding step



Figure 4.23 Buried ITO layer beneath the guiding step



Figure 4.24 Schematic representation of an evaporated In layer beneath guiding step: (a) crosssectional view, guiding step as barrier against the spreading-and-coalescing behaviour of liquid In on *a*-Si:H (not shown); (b) side view, H radicals and the following *a*-Si:H can only arrive at the a partial region of surface indium oxide exposed outside, as illustrated at the left and right side, respectively.

#### 4.3.2.2 STRIPES FABRICATION: LIFT-OFF VS. PLASMA ETCHING

As illustrated in the flow chart (see Figure 4.21), stripes of ITO and guiding steps are fabricated by optical-lithography (positive tone) and plasma etching, corresponding to step  $0\rightarrow 1$  and  $2\rightarrow 3$ , respectively. As introduced in Chapter 1, surface damage cannot be completely avoided during plasma etching process; moreover it can bring about resputtering to guiding step edges. Lift-off (normally for patterning metal thin films) can

circumvent these problems, however SiO<sub>2</sub> sputtering is less anisotropic than thermal evaporation, SiO<sub>2</sub> can be sputtered on the sidewall of photo-resist and left on the substrate after lift-off. Bilayer photo-resist structures were tested to solve this problem. With bilayer structures<sup>14</sup> (LOR5A/AZ5214E), the sidewall sputtering cannot be efficiently avoided, as shown in Figure 4.25. With thick bilayer structure (LOR5A/SU8-2002), the sidewall sputtering is avoided, however the guiding step edge after lift-off is not sharp anymore, as shown in Figure 4.26. The same problem was encountered when patterning an ITO thin film, as shown in Figure 4.27.



Figure 4.25 Bilayer lift-off (LOR5A/AZ5214E) for fabricating a guiding-step: (a): SiO<sub>2</sub> film is sputtered on sidewall of bilayer photo-resist (AZ5214E is  $\sim$ 1µm thick), the inset image is the schematic representation after sputter deposition; (b) and (c): after lift-off SiO<sub>2</sub> walls are left, the inset image in (c) is the schematic representation after lift-off.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Schematic representation can be referred to Figure 1.25 Bilayer photo-resists for lift-off process.



Figure 4.26 Bilayer lift-off (LOR5A/SU8-2002) for fabricating a guiding-step: (a) sidewall SiO<sub>2</sub> sputtering is avoided as SU8-2002 is thicker (~2  $\mu$ m); (b) and (c) however the guiding step edge is not sharp any more.



Figure 4.27 Lift-off (monolayer photo-resist AZ5214E) for patterning ITO.

Therefore, we use CCP-RIE technique to fabricate the guiding steps, whose vertical sidewall is achieved by SF<sub>6</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub> plasma etching. Figure 4.28 shows SEM images

of guiding steps fabricated by  $SF_6$  (see image a) and  $SF_6/CHF_3$  (see image b) RIE etching. Pure  $SF_6$  RIE etching brings roughness to the surfaces and results in less sharp vertical sidewall, in comparison with the  $SF_6/CHF_3$  etching thanks to the fluorocarbon films formation during the etching process (see Figure 1.29).



Figure 4.28 Different CCP-RIE processes for fabricating guiding steps. This is a practical illustration of the schematics shown in Figure 1.29.

### 4.3.2.3 ETCHING MASK FOR BURIED ITO FABRICATION

As illustrated in Figure 4.21, the flow chart for buried ITO sidewall fabrication (step  $3\rightarrow 4$ ), photo-resist is removed before step 4, thus the guiding-step functions as an etching mask. Figure 4.29 shows the results of RIBE process with photo-resist as etching mask. The ITO etching is not sufficient, and fails to yield a sharp sidewall of buried ITO layer. A shadow effect is not supposed to be the main cause to this problem: on the one hand, it mostly takes place for high aspect ratio nano-structure etching; on the other hand, the incidence angle is 20° in RIBE etching, for which shadowing is less likely to occur. The reason remains unclear. A possible explanation is that the photo-resist is damaged during the guiding step fabrication by SF<sub>6</sub>/CHF<sub>3</sub> CCP-RIE etching (step  $2\rightarrow 3$ ). Anyhow, sharp ITO sidewall (see Figure 4.23) can be reproducibly fabricated with a guiding step as etching mask (or as sacrificing layer), as illustrated in Figure 4.30.



Figure 4.29 Buried ITO layer fabrication by RIBE with photo-resist as etching mask, corresponding to step  $3 \rightarrow 4$  in Figure 4.21 of fabrication flow chart.



Figure 4.30 Schematic representation of a sacrificial layer of guiding step as RIBE etching mask for buried ITO fabrication.

### 4.3.3 CONCLUSION

The process of fabricating a guiding step/buried ITO layer has been presented in this section. This involves sputter deposition of thin films, optical-lithography (positive tone) and plasma etching (CCP-RIE and RIBE). Furthermore, key points in the fabrication process have been clarified, including strategies on selecting buried In layer candidates, guiding step fabrication methods, and RIBE etching masks for buried ITO fabrication.

## 4.4 SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

In this chapter, the growth-and-place and growth-in-place approaches for organising 1-D semiconductor nanostructures have been briefly reviewed. In particular, graphoepitaxy is applied to most of the growth-in-place cases, where nano-facets (or atomic steps) with high surface energy pin the liquid metal catalysts and guide the growth of NWs or CNTs.

We propose a step-guided growth method for the alignment of in-plane SiNWs, where a guiding step is introduced in the in-plane solid-liquid-solid system by substrate surface patterning, so that the step corners have higher interfacial area in contact with liquid In NPs in comparison with flat substrate surface, thereby providing a higher solid-liquid interfacial energy for pinning liquid In. Moreover, guiding step corners are also the preferential sites for Si heterogeneous nucleation and crystal growth from supersaturated liquid Si-In alloy, hence the surface energy gradient is built up along them, which maintains the guided growth. The key factor for stabilizing the step-guided growth is considered to be the thickness of a-Si:H coating layer, since c-Si precipitation at guiding step corners requires the depletion of a-Si:H there by In-a-Si:H intermixing. In order to localize the aligned inplane SiNWs, a technique of In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried ITO layer beneath the guiding step has been proposed and developed. Thermal annealing by  $H_2$  plasma treatment is the key factor for the reproducible and reliable In NPs formation. The grain boundary wetting theory is utilized to explain this phenomenon, where RT-deposited ITO layer is transformed from amorphous to polycrystalline by thermal annealing. The grain boundaries on the sidewall of columnar pc-ITO collect liquid In as sinks due to the high grain boundary energy compared with uniform grains.

The fabrication process has been detailed; it involves thin film sputtering deposition, optical-lithography and plasma etching (CCP-RIE and RIBE). The key points of the fabrication process have been discussed, which elaborate the strategies on selecting buried In layer candidates (evaporated indium or sputterd ITO), guiding step fabrication methods, and RIBE etching masks for buried ITO fabrication.

Figure 4.31 shows a long guided in-plane SiNW (see image a), however with a surface rough probably transferred from substrate and guiding step corner (see images b

and c). Further efforts will be focused on suppressing the surface roughness by chemical process and testifying the possibility of growing long guided in-plane SiNW array on insulator in high density and small diameter (< 20 nm), which is expected to be an alternative technique for Fully-Depleted Silicon-On-Insulator (FD-SOI) (see Introduction: Planar vs. Non-planar architectures), as illustrated in Figure 4.32.



Figure 4.31 A long guided in-plane SiNW (a) with surface rough transferred from substrate and guiding step corner (b, c).



Starting point from buried ITO sidewall

Figure 4.32 Schematic representation of guided SiNW array on insulator.

#### 4.5 **References**

- N.P. Dasgupta, J. Sun, C. Liu, S. Brittman, S. C. Andrews, J. Lim, H. Gao, R. Yan, P. Yang. "25th Anniversary Article: Semiconductor Nanowires-Synthesis, Characterization, and Applications." Advanced Materials 26(14), 2137-2184 (2014).
- [2]. M. Kwiat, S. Cohen, A. Pevzner, F. Patolsky. "Large-scale ordered 1D-nanomaterials arrays: Assembly or not?" Nano Today 8(6), 677-694 (2013).
- [3]. Y. Huang, X. Duan, Y. Cui, L. J. Lauhon, K.-H. Kim, C. M. Lieber. "Logic Gates and Computation from Assembled Nanowire Building Blocks." Science 294(5545), 1313-1317 (2001).
- [4]. Y. Cui and C. M. Lieber. "Functional Nanoscale Electronic Devices Assembled Using Silicon Nanowire Building Blocks." Science 291(5505), 851-853 (2001).
- [5]. H. Yan, H. S. Choe, S. Nam, Y. Hu, S. Das, J. F. Klemic, J. C. Ellenbogen, C. M. Lieber. "Programmable nanowire circuits for nanoprocessors." Nature 470(7333), 240-244 (2011).
- [6]. X. Duan, C. Niu, V. Sahi, J. Chen, J. W. Parce, S. Empedocles, J. L. Goldman. "Highperformance thin-film transistors using semiconductor nanowires and nanoribbons." Nature 425(6955), (2003).
- [7]. S. G. Rao, L. Huang, W. Setyaman, S. Hong. "Nanotube electronics: Large-scale assembly of carbon nanotubes." Nature 425(6953), 36-37 (2003).
- [8]. A. J. Baca, J. H. Ahn, Y. Sun, M. A. Meitl, E. Menard, H. S. Kim, Y. Huang, J. A. Rogers. "Semiconductor Wires and Ribbons for High-Performance Flexible Electronics." Angewandte Chemie International Edition 47(30), 5524-5542 (2008).
- [9]. M. C. McAlpine, H. Ahmad, D. Wang, J. R. Heath. "Highly ordered nanowire arrays on plastic substrates for ultrasensitive flexible chemical sensors." Nat Mater 6(5), 379-384 (2007).
- [10]. S. Park, M. Vosquerichian, Z. Bao. "A review of fabrication and applications of carbon nanotube film-based flexible electronics." Nanoscale 5(5), 1727-1752 (2012).
- [11]. B. Tian, T. Cohen-Karni, Q. Qing, X. Duan, P. Xie, C. M. Lieber. "Three-Dimensional, Flexible Nanoscale Field-Effect Transistors as Localized Bioprobes." Science 329(5993), 830-834 (2010).
- [12]. M. C. McAlpine, R. S. Friedman, S. Jin, K.-H. Lin, W. U. Wang, C. M. Lieber. "High-Performance Nanowire Electronics and Photonics and Nanoscale Patterning on Flexible Plastic Substrates." Proceedings of the IEEE 93(7), 1357-1363 (2005).
- [13]. J. Yao, C. M. Lieber. "A nanoscale combing technique for the large-scale assembly of highly aligned nanowires." Nat Nano 8, 329-335 (2013).
- [14]. Javey, A., et al. (2007). "Layer-by-Layer Assembly of Nanowires for Three-Dimensional, Multifunctional Electronics." Nano Letters 7(3): 773-777.
- [15]. C. H. Lee, D. R. Kim, X. Zheng. "Fabricating nanowire devices on diverse substrates by simple transfer-printing methods." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107(22), 9950-9955 (2010).
- [16]. Z. Fan, J. C. Ho, Z. A. Jacobson, R. Yerushalmi, R. L. Alley, H. Razavi, A. Javey. "Wafer-Scale Assembly of Highly Ordered Semiconductor Nanowire Arrays by Contact Printing." Nano Letters 8(1), 20-25 (2008).
- [17]. S. Ge, K. Jiang, X. Lu, Y. Chen, R. Wang, S. Fan. "Orientation-Controlled Growth of Single-Crystal Silicon-Nanowire Arrays." Advanced Materials 17(1), 56-61 (2005).
- [18]. P. A. Smith, C. D. Nordquist, T. N. Jackson, T. S. Mayer, B. R. Martin, J. Mbindyo, T. E. Mallouk. "Electric-field assisted assembly and alignment of metallic nanowires." Applied Physics Letters 77(9), 1399-1401 (2000).

- [19]. S. Myung, M. Lee, G. T. Kim, J. S. Ha, S. Hong. "Large-Scale "Surface-Programmed Assembly" of Pristine Vanadium Oxide Nanowire-Based Devices." Advanced Materials 17(19), 2361-2364 (2005).
- [20]. T. J. Morrow, M. Li, J. Kim, T. S. Mayer, C. D. Keating. "Programmed Assembly of DNA-Coated Nanowire Devices." Science 323(5912), 352 (2009).
- [21]. L. Dong, J. Bush, V. Chirayos, R. Solanki, J. Jiao, Y. Ono, J. F. Conley, Jr., B. D. Ulrich. "Dielectrophoretically Controlled Fabrication of Single-Crystal Nickel Silicide Nanowire Interconnects." Nano Letters 5(10), 2112-2115 (2005).
- [22]. E. M. Freer, O. Grachev, X. Duan, S. Martin, D. P. Stumbo. "High-yield self-limiting singlenanowire assembly with dielectrophoresis." Nat Nano 5(7), 525 (2010).
- [23]. Y. Huang, X. Duan, Q. Wei, C. M. Lieber. "Directed Assembly of One-Dimensional Nanostructures into Functional Networks." Science 291(5504), 630-633 (2001).
- [24]. D. Wang, R. Tu, L. Zhang, H. Dai. "Deterministic One-to-One Synthesis of Germanium Nanowires and Individual Gold Nanoseed Patterning for Aligned Nanowire Arrays." Angewandte Chemie International Edition 44(19), 2925-2929 (2005).
- [25]. S. G. Rao, L. Huang, W. Setyaman, S. Hong. "Nanotube electronics: Large-scale assembly of carbon nanotubes." Nature 425(6953), 36-37 (2003).
- [26]. S. Jin, D. Whang, M. C. McApline, R. S. Friedman, Y. Wu, C. M. Lieber. "Scalable Interconnection and Integration of Nanowire Devices without Registration." Nano Letters 4(5), 915-919 (2004).
- [27]. D. Wang, Y.-L. Chang, Z. Liu, H. Dai. "Oxidation Resistant Germanium Nanowires: Bulk Synthesis, Long Chain Alkanethiol Functionalization, and Langmuir-Blodgett Assembly." Journal of the American Chemical Society 127(33), 11871-11875 (2005).
- [28]. K. Keren, R. S. Berman, E. Buchstab, U. Sivan, E. Braun. "DNA-Templated Carbon Nanotube Field-Effect Transistor." Science 302(5649), 1380-1382 (2003).
- [29]. G. Yu, A. Cao, C. M. Lieber. "Large-area blown bubble films of aligned nanowires and carbon nanotubes." Nat Nano 2(6), 372-377 (2007).
- [30]. S. A. Fortuna, J. Wen, I. S. Chun, X. Li. "Planar GaAs Nanowires on GaAs (100) Substrates: Self-Aligned, Nearly Twin-Defect Free, and Transfer-Printable." Nano Letters 8(12), 4421-4427 (2008).
- [31]. I. C. Marcus, I. Berbezier, A. Ronda, M. I. Alonso, M. Garrigat, A. R. Goni, E. Gomes, L. Favre, A. Delobbe, P. Sudraud. "In-Plane Epitaxial Growth of Self-Assembled Ge Nanowires on Si Substrates Patterned by a Focused Ion Beam." Crystal Growth & Design 11(7), 3190-3197 (2011).
- [32]. L. Yu, M. Xu, J. Xu, Z. Xue, Z. Fan, G. Picardi, F. Fortuna, J. Wang, J. Xu, Y. Shi, K. Chen, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "In-Plane Epitaxial Growth of Silicon Nanowires and Junction Formation on Si(100) Substrates." Nano Letters 14(11), 6469-6474 (2014).
- [33]. S. Xu, Y. Dong, Y. Wei, H. Fang, Y. Shen, A. K. Sood, D. L. Polla, Z. L. Wang. "Patterned Growth of Horizontal ZnO Nanowire Arrays." Journal of the American Chemical Society 131(19), 6670-6671 (2009).
- [34]. S. J. Rathi, D. J. Smith, J. Drucker. "Guided VLS Growth of Epitaxial Lateral Si Nanowires." Nano Letters 13(8), 3878-3883 (2013).
- [35]. A. Ismach, D. Kantorovich, E. Joselevich. "Carbon Nanotube Graphoepitaxy: Highly Oriented Growth by Faceted Nanosteps." Journal of the American Chemical Society 127(33), 11554-11555 (2005).
- [36]. B. Nikoobakht, C. A. Michaels, S. J. Stranick, M. D. Vaudin. "Horizontal growth and in situ assembly of oriented zinc oxide nanowires." Applied Physics Letters 85(15), 3244-3246 (2004).
- [37]. A. Ismach, L. Segev, E. Wachtel, E. Joselevich. "Atomic-Step-Templated Formation of Single Wall Carbon Nanotube Patterns." Angewandte Chemie 116(45), 6266-6269 (2004).
- [38]. D. Tsivion, M. Schvartzman, R. Popovitz-Biro, P. von Huth, E. Joselevich. "Guided Growth of Millimeter-Long Horizontal Nanowires with Controlled Orientations." Science 333(6045), 1003-1007 (2011).
- [39]. S. Han, X. Liu, C. Zhou. "Template-Free Directional Growth of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes on a- and r-Plane Sapphire." Journal of the American Chemical Society 127(15), 5294-5295 (2005).
- [40]. D. Tsivion, M. Schvartzman, R. Popovitz-Biro, E. Joselevich. "Guided Growth of Horizontal ZnO Nanowires with Controlled Orientations on Flat and Faceted Sapphire Surfaces." ACS Nano 6(7), 6433-6445 (2012).
- [41]. C. Kocabas, S. H. Hur, A. Gaur, M. A. Meitl, M. Shim, J. A. Rogers. "Guided Growth of Large-Scale, Horizontally Aligned Arrays of Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes and Their Use in Thin-Film Transistors." Small 1(11), 1110-1116 (2005).
- [42]. S. J. Kang, C. Kocabas, T. Ozel, M. Shim, N. Pimparkar, M. A. Alam, S. V. Rotkin, J. A. Rogers. "High-performance electronics using dense, perfectly aligned arrays of single-walled carbon nanotubes." Nat Nano 2(4), 230-236 (2007).
- [43]. D. Yuan, L. Ding, H. Chu, Y. Feng, T. P. McNicholas, J. Liu. "Horizontally Aligned Single-Walled Carbon Nanotube on Quartz from a Large Variety of Metal Catalysts." Nano Letters 8(8), 2576-2579 (2008).
- [44]. D. Tsivion and E. Joselevich. "Guided Growth of Epitaxially Coherent GaN Nanowires on SiC." Nano Letters 13(11), 5491-5496 (2013).
- [45]. D. Tsivion and E. Joselevich. "Guided Growth of Horizontal GaN Nanowires on Spinel with Orientation-Controlled Morphologies." The Journal of Physical Chemistry C 118(33), 19158-19164 (2014).
- [46]. M. Schvartzman, D. Tsivion, D. Mahalu, O. Raslin, E. Joselevich. "Self-integration of nanowires into circuits via guided growth." PNAS 110, 15195-15200 (2013).
- [47]. Y. Shan, A. K. Kalkan, C.-Y. Peng, S. J. Fonash. "From Si Source Gas Directly to Positioned, Electrically Contacted Si Nanowires: The Self-Assembling Grow-in-Place Approach." Nano Letters 4(11), 2085-2089 (2004).
- [48]. Y. Shan, S. Ashok, S. J. Fonash. "Unipolar accumulation-type transistor configuration implemented using Si nanowires." Applied Physics Letters 91(9), 093518 (2007).
- [49]. Y. Shan and S. J. Fonash. "Self-Assembling Silicon Nanowires for Device Applications Using the Nanochannel-Guided "Grow-in-Place" Approach." ACS Nano 2(3), 429-434 (2008).
- [50]. P. Madras, E. Dailey, J. Drucker. "Kinetically Induced Kinking of Vapor-Liquid-Solid Grown Epitaxial Si Nanowires." Nano Letters 9(11), 3826-3830 (2009).
- [51]. E. Dailey, P. Madras, J. Drucker. "Au on vapor-liquid-solid grown Si nanowires: Spreading of liquid AuSi from the catalytic seed." Journal of Applied Physics 108(6), 064320 (2010).
- [52]. P. Madras, E. Dailey, J. Drucker. "Spreading of Liquid Au-Si on Vapor-Liquid-Solid-Grown Si Nanowires." Nano Letters 10(5), 1759-1763 (2010).
- [53]. S. M. Roper, A. M. Anderson, S. H. Davis, P. W. Voorhees. "Radius selection and droplet unpinning in vapor-liquid-solid-grown nanowires." Journal of Applied Physics 107(11), 114320 (2010).
- [54]. T. Frolov, W. C. Carter, M. Asta. "Capillary Instability in Nanowire Geometries." Nano Letters 14(6), 3577-3581 (2014).
- [55]. K. W. Schwarz and J. Tersoff. "Elementary Processes in Nanowire Growth." Nano Letters 11(2), 316-320 (2011).
- [56]. K. W. Schwarz and J. Tersoff. "Multiplicity of Steady Modes of Nanowire Growth." Nano Letters 12(3), 1329-1332 (2012).

- [57]. Yu, L., et al. (2009). "Guided growth of in-plane silicon nanowires." Applied Physics Letters 95(11): 113106-113103.
- [58]. L. Yu, M. Oudwan, O. Moustapha, F. Fortuna, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Growth-in-place deployment of in-plane silicon nanowires." Applied Physics Letters 99(20), 203104-203103 (2011).
- [59]. G. Kumar and K. N. Prabhu. "Review of non-reactive and reactive wetting of liquids on surfaces." Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 133(2), 61-89 (2007).
- [60]. F. D. Dos Santos and T. Ondarçuhu. "Free-Running Droplets." Physical Review Letters 75(16), 2972-2975 (1995).
- [61]. R. Shuttleworth and G. L. J. Bailey. "The spreading of a liquid over a rough solid." Discussions of the Faraday Society **3**(0), 16-22 (1948).
- [62]. H. Nakae, R. Inui, Y. Hirata, H. Saito. "Effects of surface roughness on wettability." Acta Materialia 46(7), 2313-2318 (1998).
- [63]. G. Wolansky and A. Marmur. "Apparent contact angles on rough surfaces: the Wenzel equation revisited." Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects 156, 381-388 (1999).
- [64]. A. Marmur. "Thermodynamic aspects of contact angle hysteresis." Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 50, 121-141 (1994).
- [65]. A. Marmur. "Equilibrium contact angles: theory and measurement." Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 116(1-2), 55-61 (1996).
- [66]. F. Brochard. "Motions of droplets on solid surfaces induced by chemical or thermal gradients." Langmuir 5(2), 432-438 (1989).
- [67]. M. Xu, Z. Xue, L. Yu, S. Qian, Z. Fan, J. Wang, J. Xu, Y. Shi, K. Chen, P. Roca i Cabarrocas. "Operating principles of in-plane silicon nanowires at simple step-edges." Nanoscale 7(12), 5197-5202 (2015).
- [68]. D. C. Paine, T. Whitson, D. Janiac, R. Beresford, C. O. Yang, B. Lewis. "A study of low temperature crystallization of amorphous thin film indium-tin-oxide." Journal of Applied Physics 85(12), 8445-8450 (1999).
- [69]. C. W. Ow-Yang, D. Spinner, Y. Shigesato, D. C. Paine. "A time-resolved reflectivity study of the amorphous-to-crystalline transformation kinetics in dc-magnetron sputtered indium tin oxide." Journal of Applied Physics 83(1), 145-154 (1998).

## 205

## SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

This is the first PhD thesis on the study of the growth of in-plane silicon nanowires (SiNWs) as well as on the development of a method for their self-organisation in view of nano-electronic applications. The growth of in-plane SiNWs is based on plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition (PECVD) thin film techniques and results from the interaction between a liquid metal drop and a hydrogenated amorphous silicon (*a*-Si:H) thin film (i.e. a solid-liquid-solid growth mode).

We use indium as a catalyst for the bottom-up growth of in-plane SiNWs. Evaporated indium and sputtered ITO are the two types of thin films from which indium NPs are obtained, thanks to their exposure to a H<sub>2</sub> plasma on a heated substrate (e.g. 300°C) before a-Si:H coating at temperatures lower than the indium melting point. The effects of H<sub>2</sub> plasma conditions as well as the substrate temperature are investigated. The evaporation of indium leads to discontinuous islands which get oxidized during their transfer to the PECVD reactor. A H<sub>2</sub> plasma is used to reduce the oxide layer formed at the indium surface, assisted by substrate heating (typically above 250°C). This enables a sufficient a-Si:H/In contact, required for NW growth. During the hydrogen plasma treatment, the morphology of indium experiences a transformation from solid flat islands with surface oxide to liquid spherical caps and finally solidifies into spheres. This is in contrast with the effect of a simple annealing of the particles at substrate temperatures above the indium melting point or with the effect of a H<sub>2</sub> plasma treatment at substrate temperatures below its melting temperature (e.g. 150°C). Scanning electron microscopy is a conviennent method to verify whether the indium surface oxide is sufficiently reduced or not, even though the morphology of the particles itself does not affect the following SiNWs growth. Interestingly, substrate heating at high temperatures for long durations can cause indium loss. In addition, indium NPs can get redistributed on micro/poly-crystalline substrates (i.e.  $\mu c$ -Si:H and polycrystalline AZO) based on grain boundary wetting (GBW), which is not possible on substrates with relatively isotropic surface chemistry (i.e. amorphous SiO<sub>2</sub>). This GBW-based mechanism provides an opportunity to disperse the indium NPs for various applications; however the accurate control of the size and density of nanoparticles needs further efforts. In comparison with evaporated indium thin films, indium can be generated in-situ in the PECVD reactor by exposing an ITO thin film to a hydrogen plasma. A Growth-and-Coalescence mechanism is proposed to explain the In NPs formation, where the sputtered ITO surface is reduced by the hydrogen plasma and thus releases indium atoms which can nucleate to produce indium nanoparticles. The increase of the density of nanoparticles with hydrogen exposure time leads to the growth and coalescence of the indium nanoparticles with neighbouring ones. The size and density control is still a problem, however a technique based on the Growth-and-Coalescence mechanism is developed via inserting an ITO layer between evaporated indium thin films and the substrates (i.e. In/ITO bilayer). Compared with indium NPs redistribution by grain boundary wetting, this technique is believed to be more feasible and advantageous in size and density control, even though further optimisation is needed.

ITO thin films deposited at room temperature (RT) undergo a phase transition from amorphous to polycrystalline when heated at temperatures above 150 °C as confirmed by TEM investigation. The change from amorphous to polycrystalline structure makes the indium NPs formation on ITO surface to seem more complicated. We found that it plays a crucial role on the indium NPs formation on ITO sidewall, which enables the indium NPs positioning at large scale. However, long time substrate heating is not recommended, neither a high RF power plasma which can induce local heating. This systematic understanding of the evolution of the two types of indium thin films brings benefits to the development of indium NPs positioning for the self-organisation of in-plane SiNWs.

The growth mechanism of in-plane solid-liquid-solid SiNWs is explained from the viewpoint of spontaneous motion of liquid indium NPs on a-Si:H. Liquid indium reactively spreads on a-Si:H, induces the solid phase crystallization of a-Si:H, and thereby builds up a surface energy gradient from c-Si to a-Si:H. Driven by the unbalanced Young's force, the liquid In move forward to the a-Si:H region. The growth of SiNWs is a particular type of contribution to the surface energy gradient maintenance. Moreover, it is also a particular type of product resulting from the liquid indium movement on a-Si:H. SEM observations indicate that the movement of a liquid indium NP on a-Si:H leaves a trail which can be divided into two parts with a constant ratio: a SiNW located in the centre and a residual a-Si:H at its two sides. A possible reason is that the central region depleted from a-Si:H favours the precipitation of c-Si. Further geometric investigation and statistical analysis reveal that the liquid indium reactive spreading behaviour can be enhanced by a relatively thicker a-Si:H. The relationship between SiNWs diameter, a-Si:H thickness and indium NP size has been quantitatively described. As it is the a-Si:H layer that modifies the substrate surface and enables the liquid indium movement, the structural properties of a-Si:H have been studied, in order to lower the growth temperature. From the atomic viewpoint, the growth of SiNWs consists of a series of processes: Si bond breaking in a-Si:H, In-Si intermixing-and-alloying and Si nucleation and crystal growth. Based on this, a simple strategy of lowering the a-Si:H deposition temperature is proposed to intentionally introduce extra disorder in the amorphous network so that the Si bonds are weakened and the Gibbs energy barrier for crystallization is lowered. The a-Si:H structural modification is demonstrated by Raman spectroscopy and spectroscopic ellipsometry measurements. As a result, SiNW growth is succeeded at a nominal substrate temperature of 350°C for a-Si:H films deposited at 100 °C, which compares favourably with the growth temperature of 450°C required for a-Si:H deposited at 180°C. To further understand the IPSLS growth mode, other metal catalysts (i.e. Sn and Au) and an alternative solid precursor (a-Ge:H) are applied to grow NWs. However, none of these metals leads to SiNWs growth. A possible reason for their failure is that the eutectic points of binary alloys (i.e. Si-Sn, Si-Au, and Ge-In) are quite close to the respective hydrogen effusion temperature of a-Si:H or a-Ge:H, which is assumed as the boundary for NWs growth. Above this temperature, the amorphous network can get relaxed or even start to crystallize so that the interaction between liquid indium and a-Si:H is impeded and so is the SiNWs growth. Indium is till now the most successful catalyst metal as the eutectic temperature of In-Si alloy is far lower than the temperature for hydrogen effusion from *a*-Si:H. Based on this criteria, Ga and In are predicted to be favourable candidates for GeNWs growth.

For a practical use of in-plane SiNWs in electronic applications, it is of prime importance to organize them in a controllable way. We propose a step-guided growth method for the alignment of in-plane SiNWs, where a guiding step is introduced in the inplane solid-liquid-solid system by substrate surface patterning, so that the step corners have higher interfacial area in contact with liquid indium NPs in comparison with a flat substrate surface, thereby providing a higher solid-liquid interfacial energy for pinning liquid In. Moreover, guiding step corners are also the preferential sites for Si heterogeneous nucleation and crystal growth from supersaturated liquid Si-In alloy. Hence, a surface energy gradient is built up along them, which maintains the guided growth. The key factor for stabilizing the step-guided growth is considered to be the thickness of the a-Si:H coating layer, since c-Si precipitation at guiding step corners requires the depletion of a-Si:H and therefore a-Si:H/In intermixing. In order to localize the aligned in-plane SiNWs, a technique of In NPs formation on the sidewall of buried ITO layer beneath the guiding step has been proposed and developed. Thermal annealing by  $H_2$  plasma treatment is the key factor for the reproducible and reliable In NPs formation. The grain boundary wetting theory is utilized to explain this phenomenon, where RT-deposited ITO layers are transformed from amorphous to polycrystalline by thermal annealing. The grain boundaries on the sidewall of columnar pc-ITO collect liquid In as sinks due to the high grain boundary energy compared with grains. The fabrication process has been detailed; it involves thin film sputtering deposition, optical-lithography and plasma etching (CCP-RIE and RIBE). The key points of the fabrication process have been discussed, which allowed to elaborate the strategy based on selecting the material for buried In layer, guiding step fabrication methods, and RIBE etching masks for buried ITO fabrication.

As a summary, the research carried out during this PhD has promoted our understanding on: (1) indium nanoparticles formation from evaporated indium and sputtered ITO thin films; (2) the growth mechanism of in-plane silicon nanowires obtained from a solid-liquid-solid growth process. Based on the above understanding, we proposed a self-organisation technique (alignment and localization) for in-plane silicon nanowires, consisting of a step-guided growth method for the alignment and a method of forming indium nanoparticles on buried ITO sidewall for the localization.

In perspective, *in-situ* TEM observation and analysis would be a powerful tool to verify the in-plane silicon nanowires growth mechanism we proposed, as well as the indium nanoparticles formation on ITO surface. Lowering the growth temperature of silicon nanowires is always an expectation and challenge. Futher efforts should be focused on the effects of *a*-Si:H structural properties and preparation conditions on the silicon nanowires are also of great interest for electronic applications. We expect that these two types of semiconductor nanowires can be obtained via our growth process, by adjusting the process

parameters. Finally, this work sets the basis for the fabrication of SiNW field effect transistors on insulator, which also allows for gate engineering.

## APPENDIX A: PECVD SUBSTRATE TEMPERATURE CALIBRATION

We used resistance thermometers (Pt100) to calibrate the substrate temperature of PLASFIL. Figure A.1 shows the calibration result carried our on 2012/11/05. We used *c*-Si wafer and corning glass as substrates. During the heating process, the chamber pressure was 1 Torr with mixture gas of 100 sccm H<sub>2</sub> and 10 sccm SiH<sub>4</sub>. The upper electrode (RF) was set at nominal 400 °C. It shows that the temperature difference in these twe types of substrates can be omitted. Figure A.2 shows the calibration result carried our on 2015/09/07. We used corning glass as substrates. During the heating process, the chamber pressure was 1 Torr with 100 sccm H<sub>2</sub>. The upper electrode (RF) was set at nominal 200 °C. Figure A.3 and A.4 shows the substrate temperature stabilization time in PLASFIL, when heating the corning glass substrate in H<sub>2</sub> (1 Torr, 100 sccm) from nominal 200°C to 250°C and from nominal 250°C to 600°C, respectively. It takes around 15 mins for stabilize the substrate temperature.



Figure A.1 Substrate temperature calibration of PLASFIL (Corning glass and p-type (100) c-Si wafer as substrates). Date: 2012/11/05. By Zheng FAN, Linwei YU, Pavel BULKIN.



Figure A.2 Substrate temperature calibration of PLASFIL (Corning glass as substrate). Date: 2015/09/07. By Jian TANG, Dmitri DAINEKA, Cyril JADAUD, Pavel BULKIN.



Figure A.3 Substrate temperature stabilization time of PLASFIL (Corning glass as substrate, at nominal 250°C). Date: 2015/09/07. By Jian TANG, Dmitri DAINEKA, Pavel BULKIN, Cyril JADAUD, Pavel BULKIN.



Figure A.3 Substrate temperature stabilization time of PLASFIL (Corning glass as substrate, at nominal 600°C). Date: 2015/09/07. By Jian TANG, Dmitri DAINEKA, Cyril JADAUD, Pavel BULKIN.

**ABSTRACT** This is the first Ph.D. thesis on studying the growth of in-plane silicon nanowires (SiNWs) and developing a method for self-organising them for nano-electronics applications. The growth of in-plane SiNWs is based on plasma-enhanced chemical vapour deposition (PECVD) thin film techniques and results from the interaction between a metal droplet and a hydrogenated amorphous silicon (*a*-Si:H) thin film. This in-plane solid-liquid-solid (IPSLS) growth mode can be considered as a reactive-spreading and moving behaviour of indium droplet on *a*-Si:H activated by the establishment of a surface energy gradient due to the phase transition from *a*-Si:H at the advancing NP edge to *c*-Si at the NP receding edge. In order to integrate IPSLS SiNWs in nano-electronic devices it is of prime importance to organise them in a controllable way. We propose a growth-in-place strategy which enables the SiNWs to grow along pre-patterned guiding steps. Moreover, this technique is applied to form In NPs on the sidewall of buried ITO layers, which facilitates the localization of the step-guided SiNWs. This work sets the basis for the fabrication of SiNW field effect transistors on insulator, which also allows for gate engineering and the obtaining of Fully Depleted Silicon-On-Insulator (FD-SOI).

**KEY WORDS**: in-plane silicon nanowires, solid-liquid-solid growth mode, reactive spreading, step-guided growth, Indium nanoparticles formation, SiNW field effect transistors.

**RESUME** Celle-ci est la première thèse sur la fabrication et caractérisation de nanofils de silicium (SiNWs) horizontaux basé sur des techniques de dépôt chimique en phase vapeur assisté par plasma (PECVD). La croissance de nanofils de silicium dans le plan de l'échantillon découle de l'interaction entre une goutte métallique et une couche de silicium amorphe hydrogéné (a-Si:H). Dans ce procédé la nanoparticule d'indium liquide (NP) se déplace sur un substrat couvert d'une couche d'a-Si:H. Lors de son déplacement la NP dissout et absorbe la couche d'a-Si:H sur sa face avant et précipite un nanofil de silicium cristallin (c-Si) par sa face arrière. Ce mode de croissance de nanofils, que nous avons appelé in-plane solid-liquid-solid (IPSLS), peut être considéré comme un processus de mouillage réactif dans lequel le déplacement de l'indium liquide sur le a-Si:H est activé par l'établissement d'un gradient d'énergie superficielle entre le a-Si:H en face avant de la NP et le c-Si à l'arrière. Afin d'intégrer les nanofils dans dispositifs électroniques (transistors), il est primordial de les organiser d'une manière contrôlée. Nous proposons une méthode pour guider la croissance des nanofils basée sur la formation de marches sur le substrat par des techniques de nanofabrication. Qui plus est, nous avons développé une technique de formation de NPs d'In à la surface d'une paroi d'oxyde d'indium et étain (ITO) enterrée. Ceci permet la localisation du point de départ des nanofils. Cette stratégie de croissance de nanofils établit les bases pour la fabrication de transistors à base de nanofils de silicium sur l'isolant, ce qui ouvre la voie à la réalisation de transistors complétement déplétés sur isolant (FD-SOI).

**MOTS CLES**: nanofils de silicium horizontaux, le mode de croissance solide-liquide-solide, le guidage de croissance long marches, le mouillage réactif, la formation de nanoparticules de l'indium, les transistors à base de nanofils de silicium